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COMPANY OVERVIEW

HC International, Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
"Group”) is one of the leading domestic B2B e-commerce operators in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). With its professional
information services and advanced internet technologies, it has established a
reliable demand and supply platform for small to medium enterprises (“SMEs"),
and has been providing them with complete business solutions. Through
dedicated efforts and developments over the past 23 years, the Group has
expanded its business scope to cover more than 100 cities nationwide, with
branches in 12 cities and a service team of about 3,111 individuals as at 31
December 2015.

With its professional experience and skills acquired from various industries
over the past 23 years, the Group not only offers complete marketing
solutions for SMEs through Mai-Mai-Tong, an internet technology based
product, and relevant key search, it also offers customers with effective
B2B2.0 service experience through the transaction matching team, the
entrusted operation team, Xunpanbao products and mobile applications. The
Group's offline marketing activities such as “the joining hands campaign”,
which conduct on-site inspection of distributing centre of commodities for
premium buyers to provide seamless connection between the buyers and
sellers; an “offline matching campaign”, which match transactions on spot
between buyers with common demand and distributors or manufacturers. In
addition, the Group successfully hosted Feasts for Industry Brands for many
industry sectors through the Group’s strong media recourses and customer
base, which help SMEs to build up their brand names. Offline marketing
activities are merged with online internet products to provide comprehensive
services of multi-channels and online-to-offline interworking. The Group also
offers customers with internet financing products such as credit loans, trade
loans and guaranteed loan to smooth the cash flow cycle for buyers and
sellers, encourage closed-loop trading and complete transaction, through
the Joint Venture established with Digital China Holdings Limited (“Digital
China”), a substantial shareholder of the Company; the landing project of
online-to-offline business exhibition centre model — Shunde 020 business
exhibition centre completed on schedule and put into operation. Such a
complementary and multi-dimensional structure allows the Group to create
a unique development path amid the rapid expansion of the B2B industry in
China.

HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Corporate Portfolio
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Through the determined implementation of the professional and focused
strategy, the Group has been offering professional and all dimensional
marketing solutions to customers in those traditional industrial sectors
during the past several years. At the same time, the Group has been actively
expanding into the market segment of fast-moving consumer goods in the
field of high added-value service. Based upon the different natures in our
targeted markets, the Group has developed two unique business models for
relationship-based customers and transaction-based customers, separately.
Along with our direct sales, agency sales and telemarketing sales teams,
the Group provides the relationship-based customers with one-to-one, in-
depth and professional solutions, and transaction-based customers with
efficient, user-friendly and standardised solutions and business platforms.
Through these services, the Group satisfies its customers’ needs. The Group is
committed in providing professional and innovative services and products to
meet market and users’ needs, and facilitating the conclusion of transactions.
Customer experience and service quality are our constant focus. Within the
last several years, the Group’s businesses became more focused, product
portfolio became more precise, and business model and market demands
became more in line.

FERECHFER  AEEREHHITER  FEZR
f% - RERTEFPRHEEX - 22 EHERT
% o Ry - AEETEGRIAR SIS ERG EEZ RE
HEMMS - AREREAREMSHEEZEZR - 3
TREDERREERETPERFRTS 2 BHE
BEX - EeAEBzEHE  RIEHHERERHE
B BEFEAREPIRMH—E—  RAREEZFR
HE RRIVEPRESH - HARBEZFRT
REZXBTE o BBRREHREFRG  REAKETR
BEP2H®K - AEEAGEGAZTRMEI 2 RIS HE
mABETIEMAPHENR - REHLEKRRZS » HfI—
HEBRAREPRRERKEE - EREXFR A%
B2 EXBREMET - EmASENGEN  EHREAE

MDA TIHER -

BRAERDA - 2015FF]

5



- e ] - - b L] N ‘v .
il“r Il e XA LN 1 1 L5 =, “
L .8 I-I-!llr-h-e"ﬁl SFE B \ ""-.h b -
------- - S DEAAmFEEARNEASEES hsws | . w B e
= seconesaseNEEnsdgeanannn'veenep L3 s s ®
T 11 8 EEgEDEAcESEAERRARNESNS OReE R RS RaDEpaAEERES ferEAsaEaaEEEAEE
. s m -.--_*7. TEILLL TIL I 1TSS 1Y TI1R T 1113110
e st s pae T T Ty . vE e e t1ILfr EEEFEEUEANEI RGN
e Ll " . L] L A

- 'Fingﬁcial Highlights
IS HE

2015 2014 2013 2012
“B-RfE —T-MWF —T-=F —T-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Results from continuing and EHEKE KK ILEE
discontinued operations ¥R EE
Revenue HEWA 916,138 966,637 837,721 548,568 493,732
Gross profit ES| 820,625 894,204 769,518 479,884 394,378
EBITDA EBITDA 121,215 277,584 216,414 97,111 74,881
Profit attributable to equity RARIERFEEA
holders of the Company 3 52,552 187,633 153,326 66,724 41,205
Earnings per share (RMB) BREFNARET)
— Basic —EK 0.0696 0.2833 0.2634 0.1204 0.0795
- Diluted —#8 0.0679 0.2729 0.2489 0.1133 0.0754
Financial position B ARR
Net current assets RBEEFE 141,176 936,319 585,484 171,338 33,492
Total assets BEE 5,687,042 3,250,155 1,956,782 855,199 622,896
Total liabilities BAR 3,088,096 1,934,988 946,308 412,507 350,389
Total equity B 2,598,946 1,315,167 1,010,474 442,692 272,507

6

SHEWA

GROSS PROFIT
E 7|

EBITDA

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AR T N
966,637
916,138 894,204 277584
837,721 820,625
763518 216,414
548,568
493,732 479,884
394,378 121,215
97
74,881

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015




AFsEAEEREgBAE
EVSARREFE AN
ERERE NS

EEEBEBRWS

SEER FamEYE aTes awaes -
gasAERAREE EEEES -ne (]

: dsEFeaRRERRESN Fo Ik
(133 1355 ks ES_ - B

1

T TR R

y

————— T X

- . *“CLL S LS

Financial Highlights

MR E

EESFElaERRAFERRE Y

:;ﬁ-h;u

REVENUE ANALYSIS $4€ U A 2 #7

Trade Market

catalogues Anti- research

and Seminars  counterfeiting and analysis

Online  yellow page and other products Financing  (discontinued
services directories services  and services services operations) Total

Lkt

TH%A% g3k Bifa RAM(RLE
ERBIR REEE& HitlR% — ERREE SRRY BEXK) 2
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TT ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
733,309 18,251 109,364 55,168 916,138
2014 —Z-F 812,935 35,630 101,879 16,193 = = 966,637
2013 =% 693,903 42,924 100,894 = = = 837,721
2012 “E--F 411,462 54,866 82,240 = = = 548,568
2011 —E——F 289,581 82,289 66,486 = = 55,376 493,732

13% 15%
12% 6%

2011
493,732

@ Online services
BERRS

Seminars and other services
® = REHMRE

2012
548,568

2%

10% 2%

2014
966,637

@ Trade catalogues and yellow page
directories
TRXBEZARERBE

@ Anti-counterfeiting products and
services

Py mm K RS

2015
916,138

© Market research and analysis
TS LD

" Financing services
2 RARTS
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Management’s Statement
BEERE

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the financial year ended 31st December 2015, the Group generated a
total revenue of approximately RMB916,138,000 (2014: RMB966,637,000).
This represented a decrease of approximately 5.2% in revenue as compared
to that in 2014.

For the Group’s financial performance in different segments, a total revenue
of approximately RMB733,309,000 was achieved from the online services
segment in 2015, and represented a decrease of approximately 9.8%
from approximately RMB812,935,000 in 2014. Revenue from the Group's
trade catalogues and yellow page directories segment decreased from
approximately RMB35,630,000 in 2014 to approximately RMB18,251,000
in 2015 which represented a decrease of approximately 48.8%. Revenue
derived from seminars and other services segment was approximately
RMB109,364,000 in 2015, which represents an increase of approximately
7.3% from approximately RMB101,879,000 in 2014. Revenue from anti-
counterfeiting products and services segment increased from approximately
RMB16,193,000 in 2014 to approximately RMB55,168,000 in 2015 which
represent an increase of approximately 240.7%. Revenue from financing
services segment was approximately RMB46,000 .

The gross profit margin of the Group decreased by 2.9 percentage points
to approximately 89.6% in 2015 (2014: 92.5%). It was mainly due to the
decrease of profit derivating from the online services which have a higher
gross profit.

During the financial year ended 31st December 2015, the Group increased
its operating expenses from approximately RMB709,974,000 in 2014 to
approximately RMB797,100,000 which was mainly due to the increase of
sales staff salaries and commissions and marketing expenses.

The Group achieved a profit for the year of approximately RMB23,058,000 in
2015(2014: RMB183,261,000).

During the year of 2015, cash generated from operating activities was
approximately RMB209, 130,000, while it was approximately RMB497,630,000
in 2014.

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company does

not recommend payment of a dividend for the year ended 31st December
2015 (2014 Nil).

HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Manement’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2015, our B2B business had gone through a series of reforms. Whilst
the Chinese economy had encountered the structural adjustment of “New
Normal”, with traditional large-scale enterprises capitalizing on the brand
advantages or the booming development of new industries and enterprises
on one hand and the large-scale enterprises and traditional SMEs with low-
competitiveness products and overcapacity facing great difficulty in survival
and transition on the other hand. Consequently, the survival and development
of certain SMEs’ website users were affected by the macro-economy and their
ability to pay information advertising fees for B2B websites was weak.

Subsequent to the year of 2014, the Group continued to establish its own
B2B ecosystem, including the building of the B2B2.0 transaction platform,
providing the Internet financial products and services, promoting the added
value of B2B1.0 service and proceeding the construction of the online to
offline (*020") business exhibition centre and various micro-innovation
projects. In 2015, the Group underwent a series of reformation in the Internet
technology service, including the transformation from Infomercials and Biao-
Wang Search to the pay-for-performance B2B2.0, enabling sellers to count
the effective number of buyers by adding the supplementary service of “Mai-
Mai-Tong” (eg. Xunpanbao), establishing the professional team that could
exactly match the upstream and downstream transaction information so as
to match transactions eventually, and assisting sellers to operate the platform
shops. As for Internet finance, the Group facilitated the completion of online
and offline transactions by providing products such as Maoyidai, Xinyongdai
and Position Management through its joint ventures and providing financing
lease services through its wholly-owned subsidiaries. In addition, development
of applications of mobile terminals in B2B transactions, B2B warehousing and
logistics services provided by third parties through strategic cooperation, and
technical support of anti-counterfeiting and anti-channel conflict provided by
holding company are all significant components of the B2B ecosystem. Apart
from product information in relation to B2B e-commerce value, the value of
new generation of B2B2.0 business has been widely recognised by customers
in 2015, and it has seen a significant trend recently.
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The Group encountered a tough transformation from offline to online under
the internet boom, successfully spanning into the eighth year of operations
under the internet environment indicating a new milestone for us. Now,
we are facing another round of B2B e-Commerce reformation. We need
to take the initiative to undergo changes while upgrading our B2B1.0 into
a more vertical in-depth platform via merchandise-orientation. We are also
strategically planning for B2B2.0 which is transaction based, along with
internet finance and other B2B related services, to implement product
upgrades and innovations, and at the same time, to enhance the quality of
services so that we will eventually achieve considering fee-paying through
efforts. In order to achieve a sound balance of the ecosystem of the B2B
platform, we have been adhering to the motto of “servicing the buyers”
since 2013. We also have been providing high quality procurement service
for buyers to facilitate the balance between demand and supply and thus the
closing of deals.

We assisted the matching between buyers and sellers through online Biao-
Wang Search, Mai-Mai-Tong, Cai-Gou-Tong and value-added services such as
Xun-Pan-Bao and entrusted operation, which are based on the development
of Mai-Mai-Tong, and through professional matching transaction services
and online financial products to facilitate final deals. At the same time we
also promoted the communication and activities within the community of
industry via various offline forums, trade fairs, expositions, Feasts for Industry
Brands, Trade Catalogues and Yellow Page Directories, enhancing the
complementary effect of offline marketing in such a way that the marketing
efforts of e-commerce will be maximised, so as to increase the successful rate
of transactions. In 2015, the Group completed gross merchandise volume
("GMV") amount of approximately RMB5.6 billion.

As of 31st December 2015, the Group’s Stock Keeping Unit (SKU) had been
further increased by 102.1% to 485 million from 240 million as of the end of
2014.

In 2015, approximately 80.0% of the revenue of the Group is generated
from online services, and approximately 12.0% is from seminars and other
activities, only approximately 2.0% is from the early business of traditional
printed media while 6.0% is from anti-counterfeiting products and services.

(1) Products

Online Products

The Group provides its online services mainly through the platform of
“www.hc360.com”, “www.zol.com.cn” and its online application, on
which business information is collected and disseminated with an aim
to facilitate the location and matching of buyers and sellers. The online
platform is further divided by industries (such as household appliances,
electronics and chemical painting, etc.) to assist users by providing
information and updates of the relevant industries. The Group currently
derives revenues from its online services mainly through Mai-Mai-Tong,
Biao-Wang Member, entrusted operation and Xunpanbao performance-
based services.

1 0 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Mai-Mai-Tong

Mai-Mai-Tong is the principal B2B product of the Group. Users
subscribing for Mai-Mai-Tong have access to a range of services (free
or fee-charging), which varies based on the category of memberships
subscribed. Currently, Mai-Mai-Tong offers free subscription and fee-
paying membership (with subscription fee varying based on services
attached). After registering for Mai-Mai-Tong, users may establish their
online storefront on the Group’s online platform, on which they may
disseminate information subject to vetting of the Group for promotion
of its products and services. Users may join industry portals on the
platform, and may view messages disseminated by counterparties on
the platform. Supplementary services provided to Mai-Mai-Tong users
include precise search, Cai-Gou-Tong, user quick match, integrated
e-commerce services (such as industry news access, online trade
meeting, smart shop backend).

The Group also engages third party institutions to provide identity
certification to fee-paying enterprises members of Mai-Mai-Tong.
Services of Mai-Mai-Tong may be offered to users alone or together
with other value-added services (for example, Biao-Wang search) as a
package. In 2015, we carried out a series of reforms based on Mai-Mai-
Tong and added value-added services.

a)  Mobile End Services
We introduced Mai-Mai-Tong mobile services and online-shops
on Wechat platform for customers which are serving over 10,000
customers in aggregate.

b)  Transaction Matching Services
In July 2015, the Group established a transaction matching team to
provide trade-matching services for B2B industry buyers and sellers
based on Mai-Mai-Tong.

Currently, over 1,000 effective daily matching contracts are entered
into by the transaction matching team, of which some transactions
are paid by Huifubao online payment system. The matching
transactions are mainly from chemical engineering, engineering
machinery and household appliance industry.

¢)  Xunpanbao Services
Xunpanbao aims at matching high cost-effective products and
sellers with buyers, representing the value-added services of Mai-
Mai-Tong currently. It is proposed that sellers will be charged by
classes based on effective number of buyers in the future.
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d)  Entrusted Operation Services

Based on Mai-Mai-Tong, the Group launched entrusted operation
services in the end of 2015. With a view to assisting small
enterprises for starting their e-commerce operation business, such
services allow free shop keeping cost and provide services including
website decoration, product distribution, buyer reception and real
time maintenance for customers. The entrusted operation services
have been recognised by customers. Currently, more than 2,000
customers subscribe to such services monthly.

Search Products

Search products, operated under the brand “Biao-Wang”, are one of
the value-added services provided to fee-paying Mai-Mai-Tong users.
It provides keyword search result services through improving and
prioritizing users’ page links/products’ ranking and providing scrolling
display on the Group's platform upon searching specific keywords. The
Group currently derives revenue from its search products by charging
service fees annually per keyword. Such fixed fees are determined based
on the ranking and display position on the Group’s platform, and are
being charged on a pre-paid basis upon entering into service contracts
with users, without regard to number of hits.

Online Transaction Service

“HuiFuBao” is a payment tool developed by the Group to facilitate
online transactions. In light of the increasing demand of SMEs for
transaction safety, speed and convenience, online transaction has
become the future development of the B2B market. Based on its own
strategies and business characteristics, and at the aim of fully satisfying
customers’ requests, the Group has developed online transaction
service tailored to the B2B market, which facilitates high value payment
and addresses customers’ concern about the safety issue. HuiFuBao
is a product provided to Mai-Mai-Tong users with an aim to assisting
transactions between buyers and sellers of the online platform.
HuiFuBao operates through the operation and cooperation pursuant
to a payment services agreement (2 iR#%1#7%) and a transaction
funding escrow services cooperation agreement (X 5 & ¢ B & 1%
& YEt%). For the principal terms of such agreements, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25th September 2014.
Currently, the Group does not derive any revenue or charge buyers or
sellers for the use of HuiFuBao service. Focusing on the B2B transactions,
the Group has continued to extend its online transaction services and
develop respective transaction modules based on the needs of different
industries so as to continue with the transactions of each sector. In order
to build a B2B transaction-enabled platform, the Group will continue
to explore various approaches to enhance the stability of the B2B loop
operations, and to include various elements (such as 020 and internet
finance) in order to further smoothen the operation.
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Online Advertising

Online advertising services are also provided by the Group on the
online platform and subdivided industry webpages. The Group derives
advertisement income, which are determined based on, among others,
display position and size, frequency of display, without regard to number
of hits.

Financial Service Products

Trade Finance, Personal Credit and Guaranteed Loan, are micro-finance
products developed by our joint venture company, Chongging Digital
China HC Micro-Credit Co., Ltd (EEHMNEIHE 2L/ EERBR A F)).
Beside the joint-venture, we also cooperate with financial institutions
to provide microfinance products to SMEs, namely Mai Mai Loan. Since
December of 2015, we start to offer finance leasing services via HC
Finance Leasing Company Ltd.(ZHE g & EHFRR A 7]). Today, SMEs
are facing difficulties in securing bank loans with stringent requirements
of loan approval resulted from the contracted capital liquidity in China.
Mai Mai Loan, micro-loan products and finance leasing services offer
our customers opportunities to apply for bridging finance or micro-
loan or finance leasing. Internet financial products can to certain extent
help SMEs improve their cash flows. We believe above internet finance
products and services can facilitate the growth of B2B trading platform.

Offline Products

As for trade catalogues, “HC Trade Catalogues”, is an authoritative
purchasing guide in China. It covers a myriad of corporate information
and price fluctuations with extensive coverage and strong industrial
influence established over the years. It is one of the leading catalogues
in B2B industry. As for yellow page directories, as a business yearbook
for specific industries, the “Yellow Page Directories” feature a
systematic compilation of industry information, product technology
and industry news. This product acts as an important reference that
bridges manufacturers, suppliers, administrative organisations and users
in different industries. Nevertheless, with the embracing of internet
technologies and products, more and more users have migrated to
our new online substitutes. The continuing operation of these trade
catalogue and yellow page directory products will be carefully considered
by the Group in 2016.

Feasts for Industry Brands

The Group launched the promotion campaign for industry brands in
2008, which aims at rewarding people and enterprises which made
significant contribution to the industrial development, reform and
transformation, building up brand influence for leading enterprises in
the industry and thereby promoting industrial progress. In 2015, the
Group once again successfully organised such campaign, and with the
theme of “influence of China”, drove industry development.
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Anti-counterfeiting Products and Services

This segment provides digital identity management services and unique
identification labels and tools (such as anti-counterfeiting tags) to
customers that require source-tracing, logistics-tracking and consumer
brand building for “Original Brand”. The services and their database are
rendered via both PC and mobile apps. Such business is operated by our
subsidiary, Beijing Panpass Information Technology Company Limited.

B2B2C Products and Services

Since the acquisition of the domain name www.zol.com.cn (FRREEFI7E
#R) ("ZOL") by the Group in July 2015, the service scope of IT consumer
products has been expanded to large-scale customers in order to
open the information channels of high-worthy customers — retailers —
consumers.

Marketing Channels

Through three sales teams, namely the Industry Direct Sales, the
Agency Sales and the Telemarketing Sales teams, hc360.com provides
online and offline products and services of the Company to different
targeted market segments. Established since 2006, such sales model
helps enterprises to realise steady revenue growth with mature and
active attitude to respond to changes in marketing. As one of the major
sales forces of the Group, the Direct Sales Team focuses on selling
high-end online and offline products, targeting at value-based and
relationship-based customers. It also provides vertical and professional
products and services to customers of various industries so as to achieve
value enhancement. The Telemarketing Sales Team was formed in
August 2006 to meet the needs of high value-added services and
consumer product markets. The growth in its performance has been
derived from the strengthening of its managing system, resulting in
improvement in its working efficiency and market promotion ability.
Today, the Telemarketing Sales Team has become a critical sales
channel of the internet products of the Group. The Agency Sales team
has been extending the regional market reach for the Group to the
maximum degree and promoting brands. It has become an important
supplementary sales force of the Group.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s customers consist of a vast amount of SMEs in the PRC.
Most of the Group’s revenue is derived from online products and since
the relevant price of each online product is not significant and the online
products are sold to a large number of customers, each customer’s
contribution towards the Group’s revenue is relatively small. Therefore,
the Company’s reliance on any individual customer is low. In respect
of Mai-Mai-Tong, Biao-Wang products and services, sales agreements
are entered into between the Group and its customers. The terms of
the sale agreements are divided into one-year, two-year and/or three
year depending on different products. Upon the expiry of the sales
agreements, customers have an option to renew the sales agreements.

The Company’s major suppliers are as follows: (i) the verification supplier
provides verification services for Mai-Mai-Tong members. Our verification
supplier is a limited company with the relevant verification qualifications,
and is paid on a monthly basis according to the number of verifications
carried out in that particular month. We have cooperated with this
verification supplier for over 9 years and our supply contract with the
current verification supplier is renewed yearly; (i) the search product
suppliers provide search engine and promotion services for Biao-Wang
products, allowing our paid members to have a higher exposure of
their products by getting more search engine hits and promoting their
products and achieving transactions. We currently have search product
suppliers which are leading search engine providers like Baidu and 360
Search and the respectively service contracts with them are renewed on
a yearly basis; (iii) for our Group's offline products like trade catalogues
and yellow page directories, our Group also engages a printing supplier
that provides industry and commerce catalogue and yellow pages
printing services. The Group has been cooperating with the current
printing supplier for over 10 years and a long-term service agreement
has been entered; (iv) the anti-counterfeiting products and services of
the Group include printing enterprises for producing anti-counterfeit
labels.

Customer Service

With its business covering over 50 sectors, the Group has dedicated
service team serving both purchasers and clients. It facilitates transactions
by way of supply and demand matching, online negotiations, offline
trade meetings and group purchasing. The Group issues “Report on
Purchasers Practice Analysis” on a regular basis, in order to thoroughly
study the industry characteristics, member types and their spreads,
process of making buying decision, buying practice, buying cycle and
change of concerns, and also made predictions and justifications on
buying trend to assist purchasers to complete their transactions in a
more effective way.
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Member Care

The Group sets up and improves customer service ratings system on
the basis of the integration of various resources under hc360.com. To
meet the changing requirements of the customers, the Group aims
at investing more resources in research and development for network
products and the operation of online items to introduce product and
service systems tailored to the market needs. The Group launched
customised services in accordance with the status of the members in
order to improve the experience and degree of satisfaction of users as
well as building up a closely bound internet community.

PROSPECTS

Since being listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
("GEM") in 2003 and the transfer of listing to the Main Board in 2014, the
Company has transformed from a traditional media company to a B2B online
company and explored its most appropriate development path through
transitions. A vertical in-depth services model is clearly formed. We committed
ourselves to understanding about our customers’ needs, the market, the
products and services, and business operations. Through the interactions of
online and offline marketing, we help enterprises to establish internet sales
network and online transaction channel.

After years of developing efforts, our proprietary and sustainable development
strategy is gradually formed, which focuses on three major strategies of B2B
domestic trading, vertical industry segmentation, “transaction + internet
finance”, 020 business exhibition centre and other B2B related services”. In
2016, we will continue to improve specialty of portals for each subdivided
area and transaction matching services. At the same time, in order to satisfy
the needs of SMEs, HC360.com will be enhanced in B2B services as an
integrated platform for online transaction payment, internet finance, third
parties logistics, anti-counterfeiting and anti-channel conflict, of which
the provision of transaction matching services is still a major task this year.
Through entrusted operation, Xunpanbao and matching services which are
developed on the basis of Mai-Mai-Tong, high value-added and targeted B2B
solutions will be formulated for customers.
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Given the growing trend of the B2B eCommerce market, the Group intends
to leverage its domestic trade expertise, extensive industry experience
and new business experience under B2B2.0 to satisfy customer needs for
comprehensive eCommerce and trading services. The Group currently covers
over 50 industries and continues to increase its industry coverage, and
provides more professional vertical in-depth services for segregated areas with
enormous market and growth potential, i.e. vertical in — depth strategy. With
its own advantage, the Group has offered online trading experience, 020
online and offline interactions, third parties logistic services, anti-counterfeit
and anti-channel conflict services to form a crucial part of B2B ecosystem. As
part of the experience, HuiFuBao, an online transaction platform, was free
to all subscribers. In the year, we expect that certain trading amounts will be
transferred to online trading amounts through HuiFuBao due to synergetic
effects arising from internet finance and 020 business exhibition centre.
Currently, the Group has entered into agreements with over 20 third parties
for providing better warehousing and logistics services. Successful marketing
of online trading further expands the scale of internet finance services and
optimises the service costs, which in turn benefits the B2B trading services.
The Group also plans to develop B2B related business such as APPs and big
data application to meet the needs of B2B ecological business circle.

On 8th January 2016, the Group formally completed the acquisition of
80.38% equity interests in #MIAARASERIEBIR AT (Zhe Jiang Zhong Fu
Internet Technology Company Limited*) (“Zhong Fu”). The letter of intent for
the acquisition was entered into on 3rd July 2015. The operation of Zhong
Fu’s main portals includes www.efu.com.cn (FEIAREEAE), www.yifu.net (ZAR)
and www.51fashion.com.cn (F#8057), which primarily provide the garment
industry in the PRC with information of vertical industries ranging from textile
equipment, accessories and materials to finished products such as clothing,
footwear and headwear.

Since the Group and Digital China Holdings Limited jointly established
Chongging Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit Co., Ltd. (the “Micro-Credit
Company”) in September 2014, the Group sensibly utilised resources to assist
customers in completing single or a combination of finance solutions such
as trade loans, credit loans and position management. As of 31st December
2015, the loans granted by Micro-Credit Company to these third parties
customers amounted approximately RMB1.3 billion.
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On 12th July 2015, the Group subscribed to 2.49% shares of Inner Mongolia
Hohhot Jingu Rural Commercial Bank Limited Company (“Hohhot Jingu”).
The Group will explore the potential business opportunities of Hohhot Jingu
in this regard, and continue to provide micro-loan and finance lease services
to SME customers through the Micro Credit Company and Huicong Finance
Leasing Company Limited (ZEgEFHEE AR A7). In 2016, under the strategy
of trade and Internet finance, the Group’s financial products are expected to
act as “lubricant” so as to help customers complete B2B transactions with
HuiFuBao.

Under the strategy of 020 business exhibition center, the Group collaborated
with its business partners, through its subsidiary and associate company to
acquire lands with areas of 43,965 sg.m. and 48,103 sq.m. in Shunde District,
Guangdong Province and Yuyao City, Zhejiang Province in February 2013
and December 2014, respectively for construction of 020 business exhibition
centers. Among others Huicong Shunde Household Electrical Appliances
Center (ZH2)[BEKEEH,) (“Shunde Household Electrical Appliances Center”)
located in Guangdong Province has completed construction by the end of
2015, the gross floor area is approximately 190,380 sg.m., as of the date of
this report, the Group has presold the properties with total gross floor area of
approximately 71,000 sq.m., contracted amount to approximately RMB1,189
million, increased from approximately RMB520 million in 2014. An opening
ceremony was held in 18th March 2016 with GMV of RMB558 million within
three days after commencing operation.

Huicong Yuyao Household Electrical Appliances Center (BREARHRES) (apart
from household electrical appliance end-products, which are planned to trade
plastic and plastic moulds manufactured for household electrical appliances)
has commenced construction in March 2015 with a term for approximately
3 years. Currently, household electrical appliance production in Zhongshan
(Shunde) and Zhejiang Province (i.e. Yuyao) accounted for one-third in China
with production value of more than approximately RMB100 billion per district.

The Shunde Household Electrical Appliances Center is expected to drive the
trading volume of household electrical appliances in Shunde and Zhongshan
and we aim to assist the manufacturers to facilitate destocking and raise
the procurement efficiency of distributors by taking advantages of “store
in the front, factory at the back”. In 2016, the Group expects that Shunde
Household Electrical Appliances Center will make outstanding contribution
to the GMV, online transactions and the construction of B2B ecosystem, and
collaborate with Internet finance and the traditional business of B2B1.0 to
create enormous synergy.
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Manement’s Statement
BIR[E RS

Professionalism and dedication are always the core DNA of hc360.com. These
characteristics determine our focus on vertical integration and horizontal
alignments strategies. With our distinguished way of doing business, along
with our leading partners, we are able to provide one-stop solution for SMEs
via our platform, helping them to build a long standing business with track
records and heritage.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank the management and every member of the Group for their on-going
dedication and hardwork in the past year.

Guo Jiang
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Beijing, PRC
30th March 2016
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Biographic Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENENREEAEBKNT

DIRECTORS
As at 31st December 2015, the Board comprised:

Executive Directors

GUO Fansheng

Aged 60, is an executive Director and the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”). He is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”). Mr. Guo was appointed as an
executive Director on 21st March 2000.

Mr. Guo found the Group in October 1992 and is responsible for the overall
strategic development and policy of the Group. From 1990 to 1992, Mr.
Guo worked as a manager in a State-owned business information company
in Beijing, the PRC. From 1987 to 1990, Mr. Guo served as a director of the
Liaison Office and General Office of the Economic System Reform Institute
under the State Commission for Economic Restructuring, and as the deputy
director of the Western China Development Research Centre. Prior to working
at the State Commission for Economic Restructuring, Mr. Guo served from
1982 to 1987 as a senior official in the government of the Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region. Mr. Guo obtained a bachelor degree in industrial
economics from Renmin University of China, the PRC in 1982.

Mr. Guo is the uncle of Mr. Guo Jiang, an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company.

GUO Jiang

Aged 42, is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Guo is also a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration committee”). Mr. Guo was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 1st August 2006.

Mr. Guo joined the Group in 1996 as a sale manager and became the chief
executive officer of the Group in 2008. He is responsible for overseeing
the operations of the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Guo spent two years at the
Broadcasting Science Institute of the State Administration of Radio, Film
and Television as an assistant to director. Mr. Guo graduated from the
Harbin University of Commerce, the PRC, in 1994 with a bachelor degree in
computer science. He also attended the Business Administration Course for
Senior Management of Modern Enterprises conducted by Guanghua Business
School of Peking University, the PRC, in 2002.

Mr. Guo is a non-executive director of Cogobuy Group (stock code: 400) -
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Guo is also
a director of FINTTRERL (£8) BB ER AR (stock code: 000034), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Guo is the nephew of Mr. Guo Fansheng, an executive Director and the
Chairman and the spouse of Ms. Geng Yi, a vice-president of the Group.
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LEE Wee Ong

Also known as Alex Lee, aged 46, is an executive Director and the chief
financial officer of the Company. Mr. Lee was first appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 9th September 2011 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 1st July 2012.

Mr. Lee graduated from the Northern University of Malaysia with a bachelor
degree in accounting in 1993. Mr. Lee spent 6 years with Colonial First State
Investments Group and Hambros Australia as a fund manager and was
seconded to CMG CH China Funds Management. Mr. Lee had been the chief
financial officer of the Company, and subsequently the chief strategy officer
of the Company from 2000 to 2006. Mr. Lee is the founder of AlexCybot
(Beijing) Technology Company Limited (32 1 &8 (4t 5R) B AR A 7)), while
holding directorship in MultiVision (Beijing) Technology Company Limited
(IR (b ) RIELAR A ) and Beijing WaterCompass Digital GIS
Technology Company Limited (Jt 7k Z& A2 8 Hb 1B (= B RHE AR A 7).

Non-Executive Directors

LI Jianguang

Aged 50, is a non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit committee”). Mr. Li was appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from 1st August 2006.

Mr. Li is a senior partner of IDG Capital Partners. Mr. Li is also a member
of IDG Technology Venture Investments, LLC, which is the general partner
of IDG Technology Venture Investments, LP. Mr. Li is responsible for the
investment management of IDG’s China-related early funds and IDG — Accel
China Growth Fund. Prior to that, Mr. Li worked in Crosby Asset Management
Limited as an investment manager. Mr. Li graduated from Peking University
in 1987 with a bachelor degree in economics and attained a master degree
from Guelph University in Canada in 1994. Mr. Li is also a director of Tarena
International, Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ since April 2014.
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GUO Wei

Aged 52, is a non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Guo was first appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 8th March 2002, and was re-designated as a non-executive
Director on 10th June 2011.

Mr. Guo is currently the chairman and executive director of Digital China
Holdings Limited (“Digital China”) (stock code: 861), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Guo obtained a master’s degree from the
Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly known as
Graduate School of the University of Science and Technology of China)
in 1988. He joined the Legend group in 1988 and was once an executive
director and senior vice-president He is currently a Standing Committee
Member of the 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a member of the 4th Advisory Committee for State
Informatization and the chairman of 6th Council of China Non-Governmental
Science Technology Entrepreneurs Association.

Mr. Guo is currently the chairman of Digital China Information Service
Company Ltd. (M EI5{E 8RB RMD AR QA (Stock Code: 000555),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the chairman of
Shenzhen Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., Ltd. (FIIT R ERL (£E) I%H
FRAR]) (Stock Code:000034), an independent director of Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd. (L/@8HRERERITRMHBER QA (Stock
Code: 600000), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and an
independent non-executive director of China Southern Airlines Company
Limited (P EIF M Z=RADE R A 7)) a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Shanghai Stock Exchange and
the New York Stock Exchange.

Mr. Guo is interested in approximately 6.59% (including shares and underlying
shares derived from share options) of the entire issued share capital of Digital
China Holdings Limited, which is, in turns, indirectly interested in 166,029,107
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) (representing approximately 18.45% of
the issued share capital of the Company) held by Talent Gain Developments
Limited as at the date of this report.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

ZHANG Ke

Aged 62, is an independent non-executive Director. He is the chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, respectively, and
a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28th March 2003.

Mr. Zhang is a certified public accountant in the PRC and is currently the
chairman and chief partner of ShineWing Certified Public Accountants. He
graduated from Renmin University of China in 1982 with a bachelor degree in
economics majoring in industry economics. He has many years of experience
in the fields of economics, accounting and finance. Mr. Zhang is currently
a vice-president of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
member of Internal Control Standard Committee of the Ministry of Finance
and the chairman of supervisory board of Beijing Association of Forensic
Science.

Mr. Zhang is also an independent director of E-Commerce China Dangdang
Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, an independent
director of Guiyang Long master Information & Technology Co., Ltd (&%
BAIG{E B R TR 1D AR A7) (stock code: 300288), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and an independent non-executive director
of China Coal Energy Company Limited (ff B E e RIR D AR AR, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1898)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601898).
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XIANG Bing

Aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director. He is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Dr. Xiang
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 8th March 2002.

Dr. Xiang graduated from the University of Alberta with a doctorate degree
in accounting. He is currently the founding Dean and professor of Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business. Prior to these, Dr. Xiang taught in the
Guanghua School of Management of Beijing University and the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Dr. Xiang is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3818), Dan Form Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Code: 271), Enerchina Holdings Limited (stock code: 622),
Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 1168), Longfor Properties
Co. Ltd. (stock code: 960), and Peak Sport Products Co., Limited (stock code:
1968), all of which shares listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Xiang is also an
independent director of E-House (China) Holdings Limited, a company listed
on New York Stock Exchange.

ZHANG Tim Tianwei

Aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director. He is also a member
of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
1st November 2011.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Tsinghua University (52 A£2) at the Faculty of
Precision Instruments & Mechanology in July 1986. He obtained a Master
of Economics from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (Bt @&
Bt) and a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from The University of
Chicago. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in financial and business
management. He was the founder and managing director of Taconic Capital
Ltd. from September 2003 to September 2005. He acted as the vice-chairman
and general manager of Unicredit China Capital Limited from September
2005 to June 2007. He served as the managing director of J.P. Morgan
Securities (Asia Pacific) from July 2007 to October 2011 and acted as the
chairman of J.P. Morgan (China) Venture Capital Investment Co. Ltd. since its
foundation in 2010 to October 2011. He served as the managing director of
Taconic Capital Group from November 2011 to March 2012, and as the chief
operating officer of China Merchants Capital Management Limited from April
2012 to December 2014. He is the managing director of Mount Flag Capital
Ltd. since January 2015 and is also the chief executive officer of Mount Flag
LLC since August 2015. Mr. Zhang has been a non-executive director to China
ITS (Holdings) Co., Ltd (stock code: 1900) since May 2014, whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

As at 31st December 2015, the senior management of the Company
comprised the following members:

GENG Yi

Aged 42, is a vice-president of the Group, Ms. Geng joined the Group
in August 1995 as an editor and was appointed as the sales director of
the Group in January 2006. Ms. Geng graduated from the University of
International Business and Economics and gained a MBA degree. Ms. Geng Yi
is the spouse of Mr. Guo Jiang, an executive Director.

WU Chuming

Aged 34, the vice president of the Group and the general manager of a
subsidiary company. Mr. Wu joined the Group in October 2014 as the vice
president, he has accumulated over ten years of experience in B2B business
operation and online products sales. Before joined the group, Mr. Wu once
served as the chief executive director of YUSHANG E-Commerce company
limited. Before that, he worked as the product manager for www.1688.com
under the Alibaba group. In June 2016, Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor degree
with double major in economics and E-commerce from the University of
Zhejiang, China.
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GUO Gang

Aged 36, is a vice-president and the chief technology officer of the Group. Mr.
Guo joined the Group in December 2004 and has assumed various positions
including manager of Mai-Mai-Tong development department, research and
development director of Mai-Mai-Tong development department and research
and development director of core product research and development center.
Mr. Guo has accumulated over 11 years of experience in respect of software
research and development and team management in the areas of B2B and
telecommunication. Before joining the Group, he worked for “4b KR 3@ HH
BHEAR AR and "1b R EHSBHARBHELAR A F]", responsible for software
research and development and team management. Mr. Guo graduated
from the Inner Mongolia University in 2002, and obtained master degree in
engineering from the Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in
2011. From July 2013, he has started the postgraduate diploma programme in
Information Strategy and Business Transformation organised by the University
of Hong Kong.

LI Tao

Aged 37, is a vice-president and the chief marketing officer of the Group.
Mr. Li joined the Group in October 1998 and has assumed various positions
including IT operation director and information director, responsible for the
Informatization of hc360.com, building of call center platform, network
operation and optimization of basic information system. He was appointed
as the chief marketing officer of the Group in December 2012. Accumulated
over 10 years of experience in Internet technology and operation, he is
also the committee member of iTech Club, a renowned club for Internet
technology elites. Mr. Li graduated from the Renmin University of China
with a bachelor degree in management. He has obtained a master degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
November 2015.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R A DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31st December 2015, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to RMB790,701,000 (2014: RMB1,321,989,000), which decreased by
approximately RMB531,288,000.

The Group had total borrowings (including issued convertible bonds)
and finance lease obligation which amounted to approximately
RMB1,128,517,000 as at 31st December 2015 (2014: RMB695,774,000). As
at 31st December 2015 the gearing ratio of the Group was 12% (2014: Nil),
whereas the Group’s gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. The capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders
increased by approximately RMB1,306,653,000 as compared to last year.

The Group's net current assets amounted to approximately RMB141,176,000
as at 31st December 2015 (2014: RMB936,319,000). Its current ratio, which
is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities, was approximately
1.07 times as at 31st December 2015 as compared to approximately 2.59
times as at 31st December 2014. The Group's trade receivables turnover has
increased from approximately 8.14 days in 2014 to approximately 28.58 days
in 2015.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

A Business Review and a Financial Review of the Group are set out on page 8
to 19 of this report.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

During and at the end of the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
made use of contract-based arrangements or structures to indirectly own
and control part of its businesses (“Arrangements”). Save as the Contractual
Arrangements (to be defined below) and the Structured Contracts (to be
defined below), there are no other Arrangements (whether by way of an
acquisition or a greenfield project) subsisting during or at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2015.

In light of the relevant PRC laws and regulations restricting the participation
and operation of internet content services by foreign investors, the Group has
engaged Bei'ing Huicong Construction Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (db

IR REBEHAARAR]) ("HC Construction” or “Huicong Construction”)
to operate its online platform, and publish its business information on the
internet pursuant to certain contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements in respect
of its online services. Please also refer to the prospectus of the Company
dated 8th December 2003, the announcement of the Company dated 25th
September 2014 in relation to the transfer of listing from GEM to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Transfer of Listing Announcement”), and
the 2014 annual report of the Company and the 2015 interim report of the
Company for further details of the Contractual Arrangements.

REBESTRVBEER
R-ZE—AF+-A=+—8 ' AEENHEE LIETT
KEer B ARE790,701,000 L (ZF—F : AR
1,321,989,0007T) * T#AIAKE531,288,0007T °

RZF—RAF+-A=+—0 FAEENEEE(R
FEETABRRES) RBEHEEEHNAARE
1,128,517,0007t (=T — 4 : AR¥695,774,000
)  MZZT—RF+-_A=+—8 AEEMHE
REELERB1N2%(ZT—NF : &) MAEED
BRBBELEVRFEBHRBERGTE o KRR
HREBABGERARFEEREEFLEEMHARE
1,306,653,0007T °

RZZE—AF+-A=+—8  AEBZRBEEF
BHAAREE141,176,000L( =T —NF : AR
936,319,0007%) - R—ZE—FE+-_HF=+—8 -
ERStR(RRDEERRSEGEE)NE1.07
& M-ZT—mE+=-A=+—H81A42.59F - &
EE 2 FEWERRE RS R =T —MFL8. 14 KL
=T —RHFH)28.58K °

BN U ERE
SR T B S TS R A I 25 S8 19

CEES
BE-Z-RF+-A=1+—RLFE  ~&EEFA
BRI Z L RAEBREER RIEGHEI D XD
(T8 - BEMREERRL T RERBEEH
(BFER TS - BHEE M2 E (5 B U ST
BIBARAET)RNBE_T—AF+-A=1+—H
FEFEFR-_FB-—AF+-_A=+—HF& -

%BAWF'WJI/ﬁé&/ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%\w\lhﬁ%,,\ Sy
EBRATRYE  AEBERBIERZRERERES
BRAR([BRER]EEER TS &*E}T‘“*
BRRBETENRFE DR EBBERMHEEBER - &
SEZ B ERBEBEANLH - BRANLTZE—
FHE  BA2EARFARHR-TZ=F+-AN
AZHkER  ARFRRHPA-Z—NFAA-+R
BB BAIFREER AR LTz 2 ([#IR L
MR DARARR Z T —EFHIEAA R
—RERHWE -

sREERAT - 2015558 ) [



Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
B A

Further, on 3rd July 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of
share capital of Orange Triangle Inc. (“Orange Triangle”). It =& = AR A
fR /2| (Beijing Orange Triangle Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Orange Beijing”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of Orange Triangle entered into certain structured
contracts (the “Structured Contracts”) with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology
Co., Ltd. b= &1TE SRR AR A7) (“Beijing Zhixing Ruijing”) and/or its
shareholders on 3rd July 2015. Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, Orange
Beijing or Orange Triangle will provide certain technical consultation and
service, including but not limited to technical services support, intellectual
property licensing, and business and management consultation, whereas
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will pay (a) the annual service fees RMB5 million to
Orange Beijing; (b) the annual service fees which equal 12% of its annual
revenue to Orange Triangle; and (c) the service fee equivalent to its revenue
deducted by its expenses, net operation loss and reserve fund extracted to
Orange Beijing. Orange Beijing relies on the Structured Contracts to control
the finance and operation of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing so as to obtain the
economic benefits and the rights to variable returns from Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing. Please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17th
March 2015, 8th May 2015 and 3rd July 2015, respectively, and the circular
of the Company dated 4th June 2015 for further details.

For the reporting period, save as disclosed in this report, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements, the Structured Contracts and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted.

For the reporting period, none of the structured contracts under the
Contractual Arrangements nor the Structured Contracts had been unwound
as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the said structured
contracts had been removed.

The Regulations on the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (MR EBELEEERTE) (“FITE
Regulations”) currently stipulates that foreign investors are not allowed to
hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-
added telecommunications services, such as internet content provider
services. As the Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands,
all members of the Group controlled by the Company through majority
shareholdings or equity interests are regarded as such foreign invested
enterprise.

In light of such relevant PRC laws and regulations restricting the participation
and operation of internet content services by foreign investors, the Group
has, since January 2002, engaged Huicong Construction to operate its online
platform, and disseminate its business information on the internet pursuant
to certain contractual arrangements. To further strengthen the Group’s
protection under such contractual arrangements and its management and
control over Huicong Construction, the Group amended certain terms of the
then existing agreements and entered into new exclusive option agreement,
equity pledge agreement and powers of attorney with Huicong Construction
and/or its registered shareholders (namely, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo
Jiang) on 15th September 2014. As a result of the Contractual Arrangements,
Huicong Construction is considered to be a subsidiary of the Group and
financial statements of Huicong Construction are included in the Group’
consolidated financial statements from 15th September 2014.
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Further, the Group entered into the Structured Contracts to conduct the
restricted business in the PRC in order to comply with the abovementioned
PRC laws and regulations and to assert management control over the
operations of, and enjoy all of economic benefits of, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
on 3rd July 2015, pursuant to which the Group has the right to enjoy all the
economic benefits of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, to exercise management control
over the operations of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and to prevent any leakage of
the assets and values of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to the registered shareholders
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. As a result of the Structured Contracts, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing is consolidated into the accounts of the Group in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies from 3rd July 2015.

As at the date of this report, agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements include (i) the domain names and trademarks licence
agreement, (ii) the technology services agreement, (iii) the online information
distribution agreement, (iv) the online advertisement publication agreement, (v)
the exclusive option agreement, (vi) the equity pledge agreement and (vii) the
powers of attorney.

As at the date of this report, the Structured Contracts include (i) the exclusive
technical services agreement, (ii) the exclusive licensing agreement on
intellectual property, (iii) the exclusive right to share purchase agreement,
(iv) the voting rights proxy agreement, (v) the pledge agreement and (vi) the
business and management services agreement.

The Group depends on the Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction (who holds, among other things, the Telecommunications and
information services business operation licence (BT E21E BRI E S L E T
A] &) (“ICP Licence"), bearing a term through 12th March 2017) in respect
of its online services. For the year ended 31st December 2015, revenue
generated from related online services of the Group is RMB543,251,000 (2014:
812,935,000) represents approximately 59% (2014: approximately 84%) of
the total revenue of the Group.

The Group depends on the Structured Contracts with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
(who holds, among other things, the value-added telecommunications
business operating licence (3BT E KL EFFIE) (“"VAT Licence”),
being valid until 15th February 2020) in respect of its information service
business within the second type of value-added telecommunication services
(the “Value-added Telecommunications Businesses”). From 3rd July 2015
to 31st December 2015, revenue generated from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is
RMB 190,058,000 (2014: Nil), representing approximately 21% of the total
revenue of the Group.
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Information of Huicong Construction

Huicong Construction is a limited liability company established in the PRC.
As at the date of this report, the registered capital of Huicong Construction
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng (the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director) and 50% by Mr. Guo Jiang (the chief executive
officer of the Company and an executive Director). Mr. Guo Jiang currently
is the sole director and the legal representative of Huicong Construction,
and he is responsible for making financial and management decisions of
Huicong Construction, and overseeing their implementation, so as to ensure
that Huicong Construction operates in accordance with the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements. As each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo
Jiang holds 50% equity interests of Huicong Construction and they are
the controllers of Huicong Construction, Huicong Construction is thus a
connected person of the Company.

Set out below is the key financial information of Huicong Construction during
the year ended 31st December 2015:

Revenue
Total assets
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Year ended 31st December 2015
RMB’000
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340
2,518

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang, save for the operation
and provision of services for the Group as contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements, Huicong Construction has no other material
business operation during the year ended 31st December 2015 and up to the
date of this report.

Major terms of the agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements

Technology Services Agreement

Beijing Huicong International Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing HC International”)
first entered into a technology services agreement (the “Technology Services
Agreement”) with Huicong Construction on 2nd January 2002 for a term of
three years (and subsequently extended). The existing term of the Technology
Services Agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
15th September 2014) is three years commencing from 15th September 2014
to 14th September 2017, and may be renewed for additional term of three
years at the sole discretion of Beijing HC International (and such renewal
shall be subject to the Company having obtained all necessary approval and
consents in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations (including
applicable rules governing listing of shares on the Stock Exchange)).
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Pursuant to the Technology Services Agreement, Beijing HC International is
appointed by Huicong Construction as its exclusive agent to provide Huicong
Construction with technology support and services related to internet content
provider business of Huicong Construction, which includes:

(i)  server maintenance services;

(i) the development, renewal and upgrading of server application software
and its application in the internet content provider business;

(i) the development, renewal and upgrading of application software for
internet user;

(iv) the technology service of e-commerce;
(v)  the training of technical personnel; and

(vi) other reasonable requests from Huicong Construction for technical
services.

Under the Technology Services Agreement, Huicong Construction shall pay
Beijing HC International a fee at the rate of RMB20 per hour for the provision
of the aforesaid services. Beijing HC International shall assign five persons to
provide the aforesaid services and the annual fee shall be RMB211,200. The
annual fee thereafter may be adjusted, but it shall not exceed 10% of the
amount charged in the previous year.

Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement

Beijing HC International first entered into a domain names and trademarks
licence agreement (the “Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement”)
with Huicong Construction on 2nd January 2002 for a term of three years
(and subsequently extended). The existing term of the Domain Names
and Trademarks Licence Agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 15th September 2014) is three years commencing from
15th September 2014 to 14th September 2017 and may be renewed for
additional term of three years at the sole discretion of Beijing HC International
(and such renewal shall be subject to the Company having obtained all
necessary approval and consents in accordance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations (including applicable rules governing listing of Shares on the Stock
Exchange)).
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Pursuant to the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement, Beijing
HC International licences Huicong Construction to use certain domain names
and trademarks (including domain names and trademarks owned by Beijing
HC International and to be obtained by it from time to time) for the sole
purpose of operating the website and dissemination of information for the
benefit of Beijing HC International in the PRC. Any intellectual properties
developed by Huicong Construction during the term (including any renewed
term) of the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement would
belong to Beijing HC International. Parties further agreed that where any
intellectual properties are required by law to be registered in the name of
Huicong Construction, Huicong Construction shall, where permitted by
applicable laws and regulations, upon request of Beijing HC International
assign such intellectual property rights to Beijing HC International or a party
as designated by Beijing HC International, and shall return any consideration
received for such transfer. Huicong Construction has undertaken that they
shall warrant and guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and
it shall bear all damages and losses caused to Beijing HC International by any
flaw of such intellectual properties. Beijing HC International has the right to
recover all of its losses from Huicong Construction for liabilities to any third

party.

Under the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement, Huicong
Construction shall pay an annual fee of RMB240,000. The annual fee
thereafter may be adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 10% of the
amount charged in the previous year.

Online Information Distribution Agreement

Beijing HC International first entered into an online information distribution
agreement (the “Online Information Distribution Agreement”) with Huicong
Construction on 2nd January 2002 for a term of three years (and subsequently
extended). The existing term of the Online Information Distribution
Agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 15th
September 2014) is three years commencing from 15th September 2014 to
14th September 2017, and may be renewed for additional term of three years
at the sole discretion of Beijing HC International (and such renewal shall be
subject to the Company having obtained all necessary approval and consents
in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations (including applicable
rules governing listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange)).

Pursuant to the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Beijing HC
International appoints Huicong Construction to exclusively publish the
information collected, edited or produced by Beijing HC International on the
website operated by Huicong Construction.

Under the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Beijing HC International
shall pay an annual fee of RMB240,000. The annual fee thereafter may be
adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 20% of the amount charged in
the previous year.
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Online Advertisement Publication Agreement

HC Advertising first entered into an online advertisement publication
agreement (the “Online Advertisement Publication Agreement”) with
Huicong Construction on 2nd January 2002 for a term of three years (and
subsequently extended). The existing term of the Online Advertisement
Publication Agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
15th September 2014) is three years commencing from 15th September
2014 to 14th September 2017, and may be renewed for additional term of
three years at the sole discretion of HC Advertising (and such renewal shall be
subject to the Company having obtained all necessary approval and consents
in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations (including applicable
rules governing listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange)).

Pursuant to the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, HC Advertising
appoints Huicong Construction to publish exclusively advertisement designed,
produced by or entrusted to HC Advertising on the website operated by
Huicong Construction.

Under the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, HC Advertising
shall pay an annual fee of RMB100,000. The annual fee thereafter may be
adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 20% of the amount charged in
the previous year.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Beijing HC International entered into the exclusive option agreement (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement”) with Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo
Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang on 15th September 2014, pursuant to which
Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang jointly and severally granted to Beijing
HC International (and Huicong Construction having consented to such grant)
an irrevocable exclusive option for Beijing HC International (or such third party
as it may designate) to purchase, to the extent permitted by PRC laws, all or
part of their equity interests in Huicong Construction, at the consideration
of RMB1,400,000 or a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws
and regulations at the time of exercise of such option. Such exclusive option
is for an indefinite term commencing on 15th September 2014 until (i) it
is terminated by Beijing HC International in writing, or (i) upon transfer of
the entire equity interests held by Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang in
Huicong Construction. Such exclusive option may not be revoked or varied
during the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Guo Jiang has undertaken to Beijing HC International, among other
things, that (i) they shall not create any pledge, indebtedness or third party
encumbrances, and shall not transfer, give by way of gift, pledge or otherwise
dispose of its equity in Huicong Construction to any party other than Beijing
HC International (or such third party as it may designated by it). Further,
Huicong Construction has undertaken to Beijing HC International, among
other things, that:

(i) it will operate its business in accordance with laws, regulations,
requirements and other management requirements or directions by
relevant governmental department;
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(i) it shall ensure the continual existence of Huicong Construction in
accordance with good financial and business standards and practices,
and shall prudently and effectively operate its business and transactions,
and shall use its best endeavours to ensure Huicong Construction
obtaining all licences, permits and approval requires for its operation,
and to ensure that they shall not be cancelled, revoked or declared
invalid;

(i) Huicong Construction shall provide all its information in respect of its
operation and finance at Beijing HC International’s request;

(iv) Huicong Construction shall not conduct any of the following matters
unless with prior written approval from Beijing HC International: (a) sell,
transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any assets, business, or income,
or allow encumbrance be created thereon (save as in its ordinary course
of business or with prior written approval from Beijing HC International);
(b) enter into any transactions which will materially and adversely
affect its assets, obligations, operation, equity interest and other legal
rights (save as in its ordinary course of business or with prior written
approval from Beijing HC International); (c) declare dividend, bonus to
its shareholders; (d) incur, take up, guarantee or allow any indebtedness
other than those in the ordinary course of business and with the prior
written consent of Beijing HC International;

(v) resolve any shareholders’ resolution on increasing or decreasing its
registered capital, or alerting its registered capital structure;

(vi) alter its articles of association, or change its scope of business; and
(vii) change or remove any of its director or senior management.

Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo lJiang, as registered shareholders
of Huicong Construction, has executed a blank equity transfer agreement
with respect of his equity interests in Huicong Construction to the custody of
Beijing HC International, which may be effected by Beijing HC International
(or such third party as it may designate) in the event he fails to discharge his
obligations.

Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang further executed
an undertaking dated 15th September 2014 (the “Undertaking”), pursuant
to which, among other things, they undertake to unconditionally return to
the Group any consideration they receive in the event Beijing HC International
acquires the equity interests in Huicong Construction, and to unconditionally
transfer the domain name “hc360.com” and related registered trademark(s)
to Beijing HC International (or such third party as it may designated by it)
in the event that the agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements
lapse, expire or be terminated.
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Power of Attorney

On 15th September 2014, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang
has executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”). Pursuant to
each of the Powers of Attorney, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo
Jiang unconditionally and irrevocably authorises any individual designated by
Beijing HC International (which shall be a director of the Company (other than
Mr. Guo Fansheng, Mr. Guo Jiang or their close associates), and shall be a
resident of PRC) to represent him in exercising all his rights as shareholders of
Huicong Construction under applicable PRC laws, including without limitation,
to transfer all his equity interests, to determine the consideration for such
transfer, to complete all relevant procedures regarding such transfer, to attend
general meetings and exercise voting rights, to execute all such relevant
documents, agreements and resolutions, etc.. Such Powers of Attorney shall
remain in full force and effect from 15th September 2014 until Mr. Guo
Fansheng or Mr. Guo Jiang (as the case may be) ceases to be a shareholder of
Huicong Construction.

Equity Pledge Agreement

Beijing HC International, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang entered
into the equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) on 15th
September 2014, pursuant to which each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo
Jiang pledged all their respective equity interests in Huicong Construction
to Beijing HC International to secure performance of all their obligations
and the obligations of Huicong Construction under the Domain Names
and Trademarks Licence Agreement, the Technology Services Agreement,
the Online Information Distribution Agreement, the Online Advertisement
Publication Agreement, the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Powers of
Attorney.

Beijing HC International will be entitled to exercise the rights of pledge in the
event Huicong Construction fails to pay the service fee under the Technology
Services Agreement and the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence
Agreement or fail to perform any other term of the above agreements, the
Online Information Distribution Agreement and the Online Advertisement
Agreement, or any of Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr.
Guo lJiang fails to perform any term of the Exclusive Option Agreement and
the Powers of Attorney (as the case may be), upon reasonable notice. If
Huicong Construction declares any dividend, bonus or adopt any proposal for
distribution of profits during the term of the Equity Pledge Agreement, such
dividends, bonus or economic benefits of all such proposal for distribution
shall be delivered to Beijing HC International.

The Equity Pledge Agreement is for an indefinite term commencing from 15th
September 2014 until (i) all the agreements (other than the Equity Pledge
Agreement) underlying the Contractual Arrangements have been terminated
by Beijing HC International and/or HC Advertising (as the case may be) or (ii)
all the obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement have been fulfilled. The
Equity Pledge Agreement has been filed at relevant Industry and Commerce
Bureau on 16th September 2014.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

The government may determine that the agreements underlying the
Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable requlations, or these
regulations or their interpretation may change in the future

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and members of the
Group established in the PRC are considered as foreign-invested enterprise.
Currently, laws and regulations of the PRC restrict participation and operation
of internet content services by foreign investors. The Group depends on
the Contractual Arrangements with Huicong Construction in respect of its
online services. Upon interview conducted by the PRC legal advisers with
relevant responsible officer of the Telecommunication Department of Beijing
Communications Administration (It RTTREEIERSBEEEE), the PRC
legal advisers were informed that currently, there is no prohibition of adoption
of contractual arrangements or variable interest entity in the business
of services, and there has been no law, rules, regulations or normative
documents in the PRC which stipulates that such arrangements constitute
“concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” under PRC laws.

Save for matters as further discussed in the paragraph headed “Certain
terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC
laws" below, our PRC legal advisers are of the opinion that the agreements
underlying the Contractual Arrangements are, collectively and individually,
legal and valid and do not violate PRC laws, rule and regulations. Although
the Group has not received any interference regarding the legality of the
Contractual Arrangements, there is no assurance that the PRC government
or judicial authorities would agree that the Contractual Arrangements comply
with PRC licensing, registration, other regulatory requirements or policies that
may be adopted in the future. If the PRC government or judicial authorities
determines that the Group or the Contractual Arrangements do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, it could have discretion in dealing
with such incompliance, including:

(i) discontinuing or placing restriction on the business operation of Beijing
HC International, HC Advertising and/or Huicong Construction in the
PRC;

(i) requiring reorganisation or restructuring of ownership or business of
Beijing HC International and/or HC Advertising;

(iiiy  levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the
operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

(iv) taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could have a
material adverse effect over the Group's financial condition or business.
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B A

The imposition of any of the above mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on the Group’s ability to conduct its online
business. In particular, in the event the imposition of any of these consequence
prevent Huicong Construction from providing internet content provider
services to the Group and the Group is unable to locate any substitute timely,
the operation of the Group’s platform could be severely disrupted and the
Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses (including
among others, subscription for Mai-Mai-Tong and Biao-Wang search). Where
the Group loses the right to direct the activities of Huicong Construction as
a result of these consequences, the Group would also be no longer able to
consolidate the financial results of Huicong Construction.

The Contractual Arrangements may not provide control as effective as direct
ownership

The Group depends on the Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction, who hold key licences required, in respect of its online services.
Huicong Construction is owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng and as to
50% by Mr. Guo Jiang. The Company and its subsidiaries do not own or hold
any equity interests in Huicong Construction.

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing control
over website operations in PRC as direct ownership in these businesses.
For example, Huicong Construction and its shareholders could breach or
fail to perform their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements. If
Huicong Construction fails to perform its obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group will have to resort to legal remedies under the PRC
law, which could result in substantial litigation costs and diverse the Group's
management'’s time and efforts away from their running the regular business
of the Group. There is uncertainty as to the outcome and duration of legal
proceedings and its enforceable. In addition, the Group cannot be sure that
contractual remedies would be effective or sufficient to enforce its interests.
In the event Huicong Construction refuses or fails to provide the internet
content services to the Group and the Group is unable to locate any substitute
timely, the operation of the Group'’s platform could be severely disrupted and
the Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses.
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The Group currently operates its online platform principally through the
website of “hc360.com”. Currently, Huicong Construction is the registrant
of the domain name “hc360.com” in light of relevant requirements in the
PRC on internet content provider business. Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo
Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang have undertaken pursuant to the agreements
underlying the Contractual Arrangements and the Undertaking that Huicong
Construction will, so far as it is permitted under the PRC laws, transfer the
domain name and trademark(s) to the Group (or the Group’s nominee) in the
event the Contractual Arrangements lapse, expire or be terminated. If the
Group is unable to acquire the domain name from Huicong Construction, or
if Huicong Construction declares bankruptcy or if the domain name, as part of
Huicong Construction’s assets, become subject to liens or rights of third party,
the Group may be unable to continue its existing business using “hc360.com”
and may be required to establish a new domain name, and to establish new
trademark, which may disrupt the Group’s operation, confuse users and
damage the Group's reputation, and may materially and adversely affect the
Group's results of operation.

The registered shareholders of Huicong Construction may have potential
conflicts of interest with the Group

As at the date of this report, equity interests of Huicong Construction is
owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng and 50% by Mr. Guo Jiang. Mr.
Guo Fansheng is the sole director and the legal representative of Huicong
Construction. The Directors are of the view that Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr.
Guo Jiang are controllers of Huicong Construction. Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Guo Jiang has pursuant to the Undertaking undertakes to the
Company that each of them will procure Huicong Construction in fulfilling its
obligations under the agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements.
Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang, as a Director, also owes
fiduciary duties to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole pursuant to
relevant law of the Cayman Islands.

There is no assurance that when conflicts of interests arise, shareholders of
Huicong Construction will act in the best interests of the Group, or that any
conflicts of interests will be resolved in favour of the Group.
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To further strengthen the protections to the Group over potential conflicts of
interest between the registered shareholders of Huicong Construction, and
the Group, on 15th September 2014, Beijing HC International entered into,
among others, the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge Agreement
and the Powers of Attorney with Huicong Construction. Pursuant to the
Exclusive Option Agreement, Beijing HC International was granted the option
to purchase from the registered shareholders their equity interest in Huicong
Construction when and to the extent permitted by law. Pursuant to the Equity
Pledge Agreement, Beijing HC International is entitled to dispose of the equity
interests of Huicong Construction pledged, in the event of stipulated events
regarding failure of performance by, among others, registered shareholders
of Huicong Construction. Further, each of the Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr.
Guo Jiang has executed the Power of Attorney which authorises individual
designated by Beijing HC International to exercise all of their rights and
powers as shareholders of Huicong Construction.

Since the entering into of the agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements and up to the date of this report, neither Huicong Construction
nor its registered shareholders commits any breach of the agreements
underlying the Contractual Arrangements or undertakings. However, if
shareholder(s) of Huicong Construction cause Huicong Construction to
breach the Contractual Arrangements, or in the event Mr. Guo Fansheng
and/or Mr. Guo Jiang breach the aforesaid undertakings, the Group will
have to resort to legal remedies under the PRC law, which could result in
substantial litigation costs and diverse the Group’s management’s time and
efforts away from their running the regular business of the Group. There
is uncertainty as to the outcome and duration of legal proceedings and its
enforceability, and the Group cannot be sure that contractual remedies
would be effective or sufficient to enforce its interests. Acquisition by the
Group (or by designees of the Group) of equity interests under the Exclusive
Option Agreement and/or the Equity Pledge Agreement may further be
subject to substantial transaction costs) and taxation. In the event that the
Contractual Arrangements are breached and the Group is unable to locate
any substitute to provide internet content services timely, the operation of the
Group's platform could be severely disrupted and the Group may breach its
existing contracts for online businesses, and the Group’s operation, result of
operations and financial conditions may be materially and adversely affected.
Also, if the Group is unable to acquire the domain name in such events, or if
Huicong Construction declares bankruptcy or if the domain name, as part of
Huicong Construction’s assets, become subject to liens or rights of third party,
the Group may be unable to continue its existing business using the domain
name of “hc360.com” and may be required to establish a new domain
name, which may disrupt the Group's operation, confuse users and damage
the Group’s reputation, and may materially and adversely affect the Group's
results of operation.
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The Contractual Arrangements may subject the Group to increased taxation
due to different income tax rates applicable to Beijing HC International and
Huicong Construction

Pursuant to the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Huicong
Construction provides internet content provider services for an annual fee of
RMB240,000.

During the year ended 31st December 2014 and 2015, Beijing HC
International is subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%, and Huicong
Construction is subject to a tax rate of 25%.

In light of the different income tax rates applicable, the determination of such
annual fee and other payment by the Group to Huicong Construction may
be challenged by relevant PRC tax authorities as unfair, and may adjust the
taxable income or tax amount payable by the Group, requesting outstanding
tax amount be paid or imposing administrative penalty, thereby having
adverse tax consequence and affect the Group’s business, financial conditions
and results of operations of the Group materially and adversely.

Since the entering into of the Contractual Arrangements and up to the date
of this report, the Group has not received any interference from relevant PRC
tax authorities as to the different income tax rates applicable.

Huicong Construction may not provide internet content services to the Group
if the Contractual Arrangements are not renewed or extended on equivalent
or similar terms, or if Huicong Construction ceases its operation or corporate
entity in the event of dissolution or liquidation, etc.

The Group depends on the Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction, which holds key licences required, to operate the Group's
online platform. Certain of the agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements (other than the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the Powers of Attorney, which have an indefinite terms
unless terminated) currently has a term of three years, and will expire by 14th
September 2017, subject to renewal by Beijing HC International and/or HC
Advertising at its respective discretion in accordance with the respective terms
of the agreements. The Company expects that the Group will renew the
agreements on equivalent or similar terms prior to their expiries.

If the Contractual Arrangements are not renewed or extended on equivalent
or similar terms, or if Huicong Construction ceases its operation or corporate
entity in the event of dissolution or liquidation, the Group would have to
engage another PRC entity holding relevant licences required to provide
internet content services to the Group.
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To strengthen the Group’s protection, Beijing HC International entered into
the Exclusive Option Agreement dated 15th September 2014, pursuant to
which Beijing HC International (or such third party as it may designated)
may purchase the equity interests of Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Guo Jiang
in Huicong Construction, among others, in the event that Contractual
Arrangements are not renewed. The said option is for an indefinite period
unless terminated by Beijing HC International or upon Beijing HC International
acquiring all equity interests in Huicong Construction. Further, each of the
registered shareholders of Huicong Construction (namely, Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Guo Jiang) has executed the Power of Attorney which authorise
individual designated by Beijing HC International to exercise all of their rights
and powers as shareholders of Huicong Construction. In addition, as each
of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Guo Jiang, being all registered shareholders
of Huicong Construction, is a Director, each of them further owes a duty of
care to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole under applicable laws.
The Directors are of the view that Huicong Construction and/or its registered
shareholders are not entitled to terminate the agreements underlying the
Contractual Arrangements save for material breach by Beijing HC International
and/or HC Advertising (as the case maybe). In such cases of termination,
that the Group will be entitled to exercise its rights under the Equity Pledge
Agreement to uphold its rights or have to resort to legal remedies under the
PRC law.

There is no assurance that the Group can identify new entity which provides
internet content services required for the Group’s operation timely, or on
equivalent or similar terms. In the event that existing PRC entity cannot be
located, the Group may be required to engage other parties to set up new
entity. Pursuant to the existing laws and regulations, approval procedures
for key licences to operate internet content services usually takes three to six
months, with such requirements including among others, the Qualification
Requirement (as further discussed below) and a minimum requirement of
registered capital of not less than RMB1,000,000, while there is no assurance
that such approval will be granted, or will be granted on a timely manner.

In the event that the Contractual Arrangements are discontinued and the
Group is unable to locate any substitute to provide internet content services
timely, the operation of the Group'’s platform could be severely disrupted and
the Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses, which could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business operation and financial
results.

Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws

The Contractual Arrangements provide for dispute resolution by way of
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules of the Beijing Arbitration
Commission in the PRC. The Contractual Arrangements also contain
provisions to the effect that, the arbitral body may award remedies over
shares and/or assets of Huicong Construction, injunctive relief and/or winding
up of Huicong Construction, and that courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands are of competent jurisdiction with power to grant interim remedies in
support of arbitration pending formation of arbitral tribunal or in appropriate
cases.
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We have been advised by our PRC legal advisers that the above mentioned
provisions regarding injunctive relief or interim remedies contained in the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable, and that under PRC
laws, arbitral body does not have the power to grant any injunctive relief or
liguidation order in case of dispute.

Accordingly, such remedies may not be available to us timely, or be available
to us at all notwithstanding the relevant contractual provisions contained in
the Contractual Arrangements.

Exercise of option to acquire the equity interests in Huicong Construction
may be subject to limitations and the ownership transfer may be subject to
substantial costs

Under the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has the option to purchase
equity interests in Huicong Construction. It is the intention of the Group to
unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as the law allows the business
to operate without such Contractual Arrangements.

The FITE Regulations currently stipulated that foreign investors are not allowed
to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-
added telecommunications services, including internet content provider
services. As the Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
all members of the Group controlled by the Company through majority
shareholdings or equity interests are regarded as such foreign invested
enterprise, which restrict the exercise of option.

In addition, under the FITE Regulations, a foreign invested enterprise
wishing to acquire any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC must demonstrate a good track record and experience in
providing value-added telecommunications services overseas (“Qualification
Requirement”). There is currently no clear guidance on the interpretation
of the Qualification Requirement under the existing applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules, and the Company is therefore unable to ascertain the
Quialification Requirement. There is no assurance that the Group will be
able to sufficiently satisfy the Qualification Requirement, or there will not
be any subsequent change, interpretation or guidance on the Qualification
Requirement, or such other requirements concerning the operator of internet
content provider services. If the restrictions on the percentage of foreign
ownership in telecommunications services are removed, the Group may need
to unwind the Contractual Arrangements before the Group is in a position to
comply with the Qualification Requirement.
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The exercise of option to acquire equity ownership of Huicong Construction
may incur substantial costs on the part of the Group. Pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has an exclusive option to purchase,
to the extent permitted by PRC laws, equity interests in Huicong Construction
in all or part, at the consideration of RMB1,400,000 or a minimum purchase
price permitted under PRC laws and regulations at the time of exercise of
such option. Where the relevant PRC authorities determine that the purchase
price is below the market value, they may require Beijing HC International to
pay enterprise income tax for ownership transfer income with reference to the
market value. The amount of tax may be substantial, which could materially
and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operation
of the Group.

If Huicong Construction fails to obtain and maintain the requisite assets,
licences and approvals as required under the regulatory environment for
internet content provider business in the PRC, the business, financial condition
and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected

The telecommunications services industry in China is heavily regulated by
the PRC government and numerous regulatory authorities of the central
PRC government are empowered to issue and implement regulations
governing various aspects of the telecommunications services industry. These
telecommunications services-related laws and regulations are relatively new
and evolving, and there are a certain degree of uncertainty especially on
the interpretation and enforcement of these laws. As a result, in certain
circumstances it may be difficult to determine what actions or omissions may
be deemed to be in violations of applicable laws and regulations.

Huicong Construction is required to obtain and maintain certain assets
relevant to its business as well as applicable licenses or approvals from
the relevant regulatory authorities in order to provide its current services.
These assets and licenses are essential to the operation of internet content
provider business and are generally subject to annual review by the relevant
governmental authorities. Also, Huicong Construction may need to obtain
additional licenses. If Huicong Construction fails to obtain or maintain any of
the required assets, licenses or approvals, its continued business operations in
the telecommunications services industry may subject it to various penalties,
including but not limited to fines and the discontinuation or restriction of
its operations. Any such disruption in the business operations of Huicong
Construction will materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Huicong
Construction that are important to the Group’s business if Huicong
Construction declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution or
winding up proceeding

Huicong Construction holds certain assets that are important to the Group’s
business operations, primarily the ICP Licence and the domain name of
"hc360.com”. The Contractual Arrangements with Huicong Construction and
its shareholders contain terms that specifically obligate Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Guo Jiang to ensure the valid existence of Huicong Construction.
However, in the event that Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Guo Jiang breaches
this obligation and voluntarily wind up Huicong Construction, or Huicong
Construction declares bankruptcy or is otherwise dissolved, some or all of
the Group’s online business operations may have to be ceased, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations. If Huicong Construction undergoes a voluntary or involuntary
winding-up proceeding, Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Guo Jiang or any other
third — party creditors may claim rights to some or all of these assets, resulting
in hindrance to the Group’s ability to operate the Group’s online business,
which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Even the transfer of trademark of “hc360” has been completed, there may
still be potential penalties

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisers that holders of the ICP
License shall hold the domain name and the trademarks used for conducting
the internet content provider business pursuant to the MIIT Notice.

In order to comply with the notice requirement of the ICP, Beijing HC
International transferred the trademark “hc360” to Huicong Construction
through the Contractual Arrangements. The Trademark Office issued a notice
of acceptance of trademark transfer on 3rd July 2014. On 25th January 2016,
the trademark transfer was completed and Huicong Construction obtained
the trademark certificate for “hc360” on 13th March 2016. The Company
has been advised by the PRC Legal Advisers that, upon completion of the
Trademark Transfer, it is unlikely for Huicong Construction be penalized in
respect of failure to fulfill the trademark requirement under the MIIT Notice
regarding any period prior to the Trademark Transfer.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Information of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is a limited liability company established in the PRC on
11th September 2014 with registered capital of RMB10 million and paid up
capital of RMB10 million. As at the date of this report, the registered capital
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is owned as to 60% by Mr. Guo Jiang (the chief
executive officer of the Company and an executive Director) and 40% by
Mr. Liu Xiaodong (£/)N&), a shareholder of the Company and a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Set out below is the key information of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing during the year
ended 31st December 2015:
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Revenue
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Year ended 31st December 2015
RMB’000

BE_Z-RF+-A=t—-HLFE
AR¥TT

190,058
160,261

As at the date of this report, the business of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing mainly
involves the Value-added Telecommunications Businesses, excluding
technology development; economic and trade consultancy; organisation of
cultural and art exchange activities (not including commercial performances);
and exhibition and demonstration hosting activities (the “Excluded
Businesses”).

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has
no plan or road map to develop and operate the Excluded Businesses as at the
date of this report.

Major terms of the agreements underlying the Structured
Contracts

Exclusive Technical Services Agreement

Orange Beijing entered into an exclusive technical services agreement with
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3rd July 2015 (the “Exclusive Technical Services
Agreement”). The Exclusive Technical Services Agreement shall remain in
force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is
terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Orange Beijing
is appointed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as its exclusive services provider to
provide technical consulting service, other related technical services and
related services agreed by both parties from time to time during the term of
the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement in accordance with its terms and
conditions.

Under the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall
pay Orange Beijing an annual services fee of RMB5 million.

Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property

Orange Triangle entered into an exclusive licensing agreement on intellectual
property with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3rd July 2015 (the “Exclusive Licensing
Agreement on Intellectual Property”). The Exclusive Licensing Agreement
on Intellectual Property shall remain in force during the existence of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is terminated in accordance with the
clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property,
the right of use of Orange Triangle’s network domain names, registered
trademarks, databases, software systems and other intellectual properties is
granted to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Such rights cannot be transferred to any
other third party.

Under the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing shall pay annual service fees equivalent to 12% of its total
annual revenue to Orange Triangle. Beijing Zhixing Ruijing had also procured
Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong to provide their holding shares of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing as a pledge to guarantee the payment of the payable service
fee to Orange Triangle or its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into an exclusive right to share purchase agreement on 3rd July 2015
(the "Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement”). The Exclusive Right
to Share Purchase Agreement shall remain in force during the existence of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is terminated in accordance
with the clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, Mr. Guo Jiang
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong jointly and individually granted Orange Beijing the
exclusive right to purchase the shares of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase
Agreement, irrevocably and without any additional conditions. Orange Beijing
can, by its own will, decide the way to exercise the right and purchase all
or part of shares held by shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and/or any
specified third party at the minimum price permitted by the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC at any time, by one or more times.

46 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015

REBREMRS S - E=ARILRATHEERE
REBZR R AR AR B R MRS Hh SR iR
TR ek 2 R R AR R R TR A AR TS - ELMtu AR
BT BRTS K2 7T 4088 73 1 52 2 EL b ARRA AR o

RIBBF MR 55 - L RATHRARB =AX
NEBARKSEET

BRARERTF 5%

Orange Trianglef2 b R AT TSR T —HF A=
HET BRI ERERT Al 8 ([ BR A FBEE T A5
#) c BRABEETIBEEFRBEZAER B
I RATH R FEREBEA R - BRIFREZ
AR

BIRBRANBEET A S - ERATHRRER TE
FiOrange Trianglef84& 1% « AR - SURE - &
R R E M AR E AR - ZEEMNTAEET
EEEME=T °

RBEBRABEET R  ERATHREI
Orange Triangle F EMREE - @HEEREFELIK
2 12% o L RAITH R IMEE BT AE R BINER
P AR F TR L RANTE R R D VR 1R B R E A
Orange Trianglesk & 2 & B A FIRISEH T -

BEBREG S

E=A - RATHE  SUTREMBNREEN T
T-RFEA=Z AR ARBRE RS (DERBRE
Wl - BRBEEH RO REZ BER - BEILR
TS FREBEREA N - RIFRIEZ I 2 &K
BRIE -

REBEBRERE R - FTEERENRELREE
R PO Whh e 2 1R B G A 2K ) T {131 T ) L
EREM G R TE=ABEIL R TH SN 8
BEREN - B=AR BIDREITEEN 77 = N bER
2 — IR Z KR BERDED KA R AR SR ER
BB RN T I R AR &SR E R = T

EEPE DR ©



Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
B A

Under the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, the share
repurchase price shall be the minimum price permitted by the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC. The paid shareholder of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
will return the rest of the transfer price after deducting the paid-up capital
injected by them to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into a voting rights proxy agreement on 3rd July 2015 (the “Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement”). The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall remain in
force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is
terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, Orange Beijing (or its
designated parties) was granted the power to, inter alia, exercise all the rights
of Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong as the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, subject to applicable laws, regulations and Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s
articles of association. No prior consent from Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong is required before exercising such right. Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong shall recognise Orange Beijing’s voting result.

Pledge Agreement

Orange Beijing (as the pledgee), Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Mr. Guo Jiang and
Mr. Liu Xiaodong (as the pledgers) entered into a pledge agreement on 3rd
July 2015 (the “Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which each of Mr. Guo
Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong pledged their equity interests in Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing held by them as security for Orange Beijing’s rights and interests
granted by the Voting Proxy Rights Agreement and the Exclusive Licensing
Agreement on Intellectual Property (collectively, the “Master Agreements”).
Orange Beijing shall have the right to get compensation by converting the
Equity interests into money and seek preferential payments from the proceeds
from the auction or sales of the said equity interests concerned or other
disposal methods as agreed by each party in accordance with relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC.

Prior to the full discharge of the payments and obligations under the Master
Agreements, without written consent of the pledgee, Mr. Guo Jiang and
Mr. Liu Xiaodong shall not assign the said equity interests in Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing.

The Pledge Agreement has become effective upon the execution date. Unless
otherwise agreed by Orange Beijing in writing after the Pledge Agreement
comes into effect, upon the full and complete performance of the Company
and pledgors’ obligations under the Master Agreements as well as Orange
Beijing’s written confirmation, the pledge shall be terminated.

REBBRBARE R - R EEBE S SRR BED
FOESRAERFRRARERR o B 2 LR ATTHRAIR
BRMBREENARBARFEILRMITHIHBRTZ
HREE -

RIEZIIGH

B=A  tRATs  BIEERSNREER S
T-RFEL A=AV REZ T ([ REZ T
) o BREREMHARE ALY - BAELRAT
HEFEBBHEEN - RIFRBEZ DR ERE
1k e

RERRELZ TR B=AEHEEA L) ERESD
(B BETHRERED  ER M RATHR 28
BERMAR TR RERS R EEERIERANT
BRBRZ PR - RITEB BIRE R B AL
THREREPREEFERE - BTERERSPRSE
SARAR=ZANKRRER o

RELF G

BE=AGERERA)  AERATHR - BTRERS
IREEWERERANRZZE—RFLA=HIUR
BER G BRER R - Bt SBTRERR
PNRELES B AR = AER RSN R ATH S
Z B A SRR T ok I AN EE AR B AT A ek
(il s ipas ) PP 2 B = A 2 BN R s iR L
R E=pREEEBKREERRSENAARK
BMERHEMSFIRS REENFTHTORTRE
T BIARREA I S AR DI 2 HAE B 5 N ESFE -

REEETEBHEER N ZNFEEER - REARA
EERE - ITEERENREENSE R LildbR
FATHE 2 Bk ©

PRAEE AR5 B NS B R AR - BRIE A 4R
BREENLERE=AEASRTRE - TARZEKT
EBITEMHEA AR R RERAZBEEUARESE
—AEERRE  EMATEL -

sp@sman-0sesn 47



Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
B A

Business and Management Services Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into a business and management services agreement on 3rd July
2015 (the “Business and Management Services Agreement”), which shall
remain in force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution,
unless it is terminated in accordance with clauses of the agreement.

Under the Business and Management Services Agreement, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing will appoint Orange Beijing as its exclusive services provider to provide
complete management support, business support, technical support and
related consulting services during the term of the Business and Management
Services Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions, which may
include all necessary services within the scope of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s
business, such as but not limited to business consultations, marketing
consultancy, technical services, intellectual properties licenses, product
research and development, system maintenance, as well as general corporate
management.

The service fee shall be payable to Orange Beijing by the Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, where the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall pay to Orange Beijing such
fees equivalent to the amount of the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s revenue
deducted by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s (and its subsidiaries’) expenses (including
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s costs, depreciation, other expenses and payments,
and relevant tax payments incurred during the term of the Business and
Management Services Agreement), net operation loss made by Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing and the reserve fund extracted by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. The service
fee shall be calculated within three (3) months since the end of each financial
year based on the audited report prepared in accordance with the Chinese
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and paid within fifteen (15)
days of the issuance date of such audited report.

Risk associated with the Structured Contracts
The PRC government may determine that Structured Contracts are not in
compliance with any existing or future applicable PRC laws or requlations

If the PRC government finds that the Structured Contracts (which establish
the structure for operating the Value-added Telecommunications Businesses
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in the PRC) do not comply with applicable PRC laws
and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Structured Contracts and the relinquishment
of the interest of Orange Beijing in the Structured Contracts.
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According to the FITE Rules, foreign investors’ ultimate equity ownership in
an entity in the PRC which provides value-added telecommunications services
must not exceed 50% and a foreign investor who wishes to acquire any
equity interest in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC must
demonstrate (i) a good track record and (i) experience in providing value-
added telecommunications services (“Qualification Requirements”).

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has been engaging in the development and operation
of the Value-added Telecommunication Businesses. Under the current PRC
regulatory circumstances, Orange Beijing as a wholly foreign owned enterprise
would not be able to obtain the VAT License and thus is unable to provide the
value-added telecommunications services in the PRC directly.

On 13th July 2006, the Ministry of Information Industry (2 A R HEFIE(Z
BUEZE), currently known as MIIT (the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (FREE A R A1 T 25015 B/ 3F)) issued the Circular
on Strengthening the Administration of Foreign Investment in Value-added
Telecommunications Business (B N385 18 & SIS EBFEEHFEERB
Z0) (“MIIT Notice”), which reiterated restrictions on foreign investment in the
telecommunications businesses. Under the MIIT Notice, a domestic company
that holds a VAT License is prohibited from leasing, transferring or selling the
license to foreign investors in any form, and from providing any assistance,
including providing resources, sites or facilities, to foreign investors to provide
ICP services illegally in the PRC. Due to a lack of interpretative materials
from the authorities, it cannot be assured that the MIIT will not consider the
Structured Contracts as a kind of foreign investment in telecommunication
services, in which case Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and Orange Beijing may be
found in violation of the MIIT Notice.

In addition, several recent articles published by some news agencies reported
discussions that a recent PRC Supreme Court decision and two VIE structure-
related arbitration decisions in Shanghai had cast doubt on the validity of
the VIE structure. According to these articles, the PRC Supreme Court ruled
in late 2012 that an entrustment agreement entered into by and between
a Hong Kong company and a PRC domestic entity, which was purported to
enable such Hong Kong company to make an equity investment in a PRC
bank through the proxy PRC domestic entity, was void on the grounds that
this agreement established an entrustment relationship meant to circumvent
the PRC laws and regulations that prohibit foreign investment in PRC financial
institutions and as such, constituted an act of concealing illegal intentions
with a legitimate form. These articles argued that a contractual arrangement
in a VIE structure and the entrustment agreement in the cited case, which
were similar to the Structured Contracts, were also designed to “get around”
the regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in certain industries. As
such, the articles noted that this Supreme Court decision might increase the
uncertainties relating to the PRC government’s view on the validity of the VIE
structure. These articles also reported, without providing sufficient details, on
two arbitration decisions by the then Shanghai CIETAC which invalidated the
contractual arrangement used in a VIE structure in 2010 and 2011.
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The PRC legal advisor is of the opinion that, based on their understanding
and the numerous precedents of PRC domestic internet content providers
controlled by overseas companies through contractual arrangements that are
similar to the Structured Contracts, the Structured Contracts do not result
in a violation of PRC laws, or would not be deemed as “concealing illegal
intentions with lawful forms” (as a matter concerning Article 52 of the PRC
Contract Law). The Structured Contracts are enforceable, valid and legally
binding in accordance with their terms and provisions (except for part of the
arbitration clauses contained therein setting forth that the arbitration tribunal
may issue injunction or winding-up orders and the Courts of Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands have the jurisdiction to grant interim remedies in support
of the arbitration pending formation of the arbitration tribunal).

However, according to the PRC legal advisor, it cannot be assured that the
PRC government or judicial authorities would agree that the Structured
Contracts comply with current PRC laws or regulations, would not strictly
enforce current PRC laws regulating the provision of internet content, or
would not adopt new laws or policies in the future. If the PRC government
or judicial authorities determine that the Structured Contracts do not comply
with applicable laws and regulations, such contracts would be deemed void
and the PRC government or judicial authorities could have broad discretion in
dealing with such incompliance, including:

(i) requiring the nullification of the Structured Contracts;

(i)  levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the
operations under the Structured Contracts;

(i)  revoking of the business licenses or operating licenses of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing;

(iv) discontinuing or placing restrictions or onerous conditions on the
business operations of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing; and

(v) taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to
or even shut down the business of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and/or Orange
Beijing.

In addition, where the Group loses the right to direct the activities of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing as a result of these consequences, the Group would no longer
be able to consolidate the financial results of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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Orange Beijing relies on Structured Contracts to control and obtain the
economic benefits from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, which may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership.

Due to the PRC's legal restrictions on foreign investment in the value-added
telecommunications services, Orange Beijing controls, through the Structured
Contracts rather than equity ownership, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, the operating
entity in the PRC and the holder-to-be of the key licenses required to operate
the value-added telecommunications services in the PRC. However, the
Structured Contracts still may not be as effective as equity ownership in
exercising control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. For example, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing and its shareholders could breach or fail to perform their obligations
under the Structured Contracts. If Orange Beijing had direct ownership of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Orange Beijing would be able to exercise its rights as
a shareholder to effect changes in its board of directors, which in turn could
effect changes, subject to any applicable fiduciary obligations, at management
and operational level. Under the Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing would
need to rely on its rights under the Structured Contracts to effect such
changes, or designate new shareholders for Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or its shareholders breach their obligations under
the Structured Contracts or if Orange Beijing loses the effective control
over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing for any reason, Orange Beijing would need to
bring a claim against them under the terms of the Structured Contracts.
The Structured Contracts are governed by PRC law and provide that any
dispute which arises will be submitted to the CIETAC, for arbitration, the
ruling of which will be final and binding. Furthermore, personal liabilities of
the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing may also cause the equity interest
they hold in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to be subject to court preservation actions
or enforcement. The legal framework and system in the PRC particularly
that relates to the arbitration proceedings is not as developed as in other
jurisdictions such as Hong Kong. As a result, significant uncertainties relating
to the enforcement of legal rights through arbitration, litigation and other
legal proceedings remain in the PRC, which could limit Orange Beijing’s ability
to enforce the Structured Contracts and exert effective control over Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing. If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or any of its shareholders fails to
perform its respective obligations under the Structured Contracts, and Orange
Beijing is unable to enforce the Structured Contracts, or suffers significant
delays or other obstacles in the process of enforcing the Structured Contracts,
the business and operations of Orange Beijing could be severely disrupted,
which could materially and adversely affect operation results. As a result,
the Company’s investment in Orange Beijing could also be materially and
adversely affected.
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Remedies of Structured Contracts may not be obtained effectively under PRC
laws.

The Structured Contracts provide for dispute resolution by way of arbitration
in accordance with the arbitration rules of the CIETAC in the PRC. The
Structured Contracts contain provisions to the effect that the arbitration
tribunal may award remedies when Beijing Zhixing Ruijing breaches the
Structured Contracts. In addition, the Structured Contracts contain provisions
to the effect that the courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands are
empowered to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration pending
the formation of an arbitral tribunal.

However, the abovementioned provisions contained in the Structured
Contracts may not be enforced effectively. Under PRC laws, an arbitration
tribunal does not have the power to grant any injunctive relief or provisional
or final liquidation order to preserve the assets of or any equity interest in
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in case of disputes, and the courts in Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands may not be empowered to grant interim remedies in
support of the arbitration pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal under
PRC laws. As a result, the provisions may not effectively protect Orange
Beijing, notwithstanding the relevant contractual provisions contained in the
Structured Contracts.

Therefore, in the event that Beijing Zhixing Ruijing breaches any of the
Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to exert effective control over
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and conduct its business could be materially and
adversely affected and the financial performance of Orange Beijing could be
materially and adversely affected. As a result, the Company’s investment in
Orange Beijing could also be materially and adversely affected.

The shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing may potentially have a conflict of
interests with the Group.

The Group's control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is based on the contractual
arrangement under the Structured Contracts. Hence, conflict of interests
of the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will adversely affect the
interests of the Company. Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement,
the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing have irrevocably authorised
Orange Beijing (or its designee) as their proxy to exercise all the rights of the
shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and such authorisation shall not be
altered unless otherwise instructed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Therefore, it is
unlikely that there will be potential conflict of interests between the Company
and the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. However, in the unlikely event
that conflict of interests arises and cannot be resolved, the Company will
consider removing and replacing the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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The contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax
authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax may be
imposed.

The Group could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the arrangements under the Structured Contracts
was not entered into based on arm’s length negotiations. If the PRC tax
authorities determine that these agreements were not entered into on an
arm'’s length basis, they may adjust our income and expenses for PRC tax
purposes in the form of a transfer pricing adjustment. A transfer pricing
adjustment could adversely affect the Group’s financial position by increasing
the relevant tax liability without reducing the tax liabilities of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, and this could further result in late payment fees and other penalties
to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing for under-paid taxes. As a result, any transfer pricing
adjustment could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

The Company does not have any insurance which covers the risks relating to
the Structured Contracts and the transactions contemplated thereunder.

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the Structured
Contracts and the transactions contemplated thereunder and the Company
has no intention to purchase any new insurance in this regard. If any risk
arises from the Structured Contracts in the future, such as those affecting the
enforceability of the Structured Contracts and the relevant agreements for the
transactions contemplated thereunder and the operation of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, the results of the Group may be adversely affected. However, the
Group has been monitoring the relevant legal and operational environment
from time to time to comply with the applicable laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group has been implementing relevant internal control measures
to reduce the operational risk.

Actions taken to mitigate the risks associated with the
Structured Contracts

The Structured Contracts contain certain provisions in order to exercise
effective control over and to safeguard the assets of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing,
including but not limited to that, without the prior written consent of Orange
Beijing, the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall not at any time
dispose, transfer, pledge, sell or create any charges over the assets, business,
revenue or any beneficial interests of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing shall conduct its business in its ordinary and usual course to preserve
the asset value of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and shall not engage in any act (or
lack thereof) which may have any adverse effect on the business, operations
and asset value of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and etc.
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In addition to the abovementioned internal control measures as provided in
the Structured Contracts, the Company has implemented, through Orange
Beijing, additional internal control measures against Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as
appropriate, having regard to the internal control measures adopted by the
Group from time to time, which may include (without limitation):

(i) Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to make available monthly management accounts
and submit key operating data after each month end and provide
explanations on any material fluctuations to Orange Beijing;

(i)  Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to assist and facilitate Orange Beijing to conduct
quarterly on-site internal audit on Beijing Zhixing Ruijing; and

(iii) if required, legal advisers and, or other professionals will be retained
to deal with specific issues arising from the Structured Contracts and
to ensure that the operation of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will comply with
applicable laws and regulations.

Further information regarding risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and the Structured Contracts are also set out in the Transfer of
Listing Announcement and the announcement of the Company dated 8 May
2015 respectively.

Qualification Requirements

It is the Company’s intention to unwind the Contractual Arrangements and
the Structured Contracts and to hold all necessary and relevant licences for
operation of its business subject to such relevant laws and regulations as
soon as the law allows the business to operate without such Contractual
Arrangements or such Contractual Contracts.

As a result of there being no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
which provides clear guidance on the interpretation of the Qualification
Requirements, the Company is currently unable to ascertain whether it is
capable for fulfilling all requirements of the necessary licence and approval
for online operations and conducting Value-added Telecommunications
Businesses when the laws allow the Group to directly operate the business.
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The Group has gradually commence and strengthen its overseas value-
added telecommunications services business operations with a view to
demonstrate a good track record for meeting the Qualification Requirements
in due course once the restrictions on the percentage of foreign ownership
in telecommunications services are removed in the PRC by then the Group
can unwind the Contractual Arrangements and the Structured Contracts,
and acquire the entire equity of Huicong Construction and Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, respectively. In 2014, the Group has established a subsidiary in Hong
Kong, namely, HC Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Hong Kong HC"). Hong
Kong HC will be principally engaged in the construction and operation of
the Group’s new overseas platform in Hong Kong, with an aim to making
such platform the overseas platform and provide an expanded and upgraded
services for the existing customers of the Group. Such additional platform will
allow the existing and future high-quality customers to display their products
and services online. Making use of the Group’s strong customer base and
media resources, Hong Kong HC and its overseas platform will help Hong
Kong and overseas buyers to locate qualified PRC suppliers and facilitate
transactions between them. The Directors consider the Group possesses
the necessary technics and operating experiences as well as strong internal
resources to facilitate the operation of Hong Kong HC with its overseas
platform. Currently, Hong Kong HC is the registrant of the domain name
"hc360.com.hk” and the Group has launched the construction of the Group's
new overseas platform and expects to commit not less than HK$2 million to
the development and operation of the new overseas platform. Such financial
commitment shall include, but not limited to, the establishment of the server,
network services, staff costs and marketing costs. More financial resources
will be committed by the Group according to the business needs of the new
overseas platform.

As at the date of this report, the Group had initially completed the
establishment of overseas platform (www.hc360.com.hk) which was financed
by the Group's internal resources. The platform had gone online and entered
into the trial operation stage. The Group will continue to input relevant
resources to expand the overseas platform business. The Group expects Hong
Kong HC will formally operate the overseas platform in 2016.

Views of the Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and the Structured Contracts, and confirmed that for the
financial year ended 31st December 2015, (1) the transactions carried out
during the year have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements and the Structured Contracts,
and (2) no dividends or other distributions have been made by Huicong
Construction or Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to their respective registered
shareholders which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to
the Group.
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DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
THE SALE AND PURCHASE OF 100% SHARES
IN ORANGE TRIANGLE INC. INVOLVING ISSUE
OF CONSIDERATION SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE

Further to the entering into of the letter of intent dated 17th March 2015,
on 8th May 2015, the Company (as purchaser), NAVI-IT Limited (the “Seller”)
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong (2)/\8), Ms. Wang Qian (E£5), Mr. Shi Shilin (5t
) and Ms. Yang Ye (t53£) (together, the “Seller Guarantors”) entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant
to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Seller conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Company conditionally agreed to acquire all the issued share capital
of Orange Triangle Inc.

The consideration was settled as to 30% in cash and as to 70% by allotment
of 155,684,485 new Shares (the “Consideration Shares”) at HK$8.5 each
(as to 40% to Mr. Liu Xiaodong, as to 25% to Ms. Wang Qian, as to 20%
to Mr. Shi Shilin and as to 15% to Ms. Yang Ye, respectively, and subject to
the adjustment mechanism stipulated in the Sale and Purchase Agreement).
The allotment has been approved by shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) in the extraordinary general meeting held on 19th June
2015.

On 2nd June 2015, the Seller, the Company and the Seller Guarantors
entered into a supplemental agreement, pursuant to which the Company
and the Seller Guarantors agreed that in case the proposed repurchase and
cancellation of such Consideration Shares cannot be implemented as a result
of the failure to obtain the approvals from the creditors of the Company or
the Shareholders for the reduction in capital of the Company or approvals
from the relevant regulatory authorities, the Seller Guarantors or their
designated persons undertake that the relevant parties shall dispose of all
such Consideration Shares in the market and return all the proceeds to the
Company within six months (instead of nine months as set out in the Sale and
Purchase Agreement) commencing from the date of confirmation of failure of
obtaining the relevant approvals.
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On 3rd July 2015, the Group has fulfilled all the conditions precedent set out
in the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The acquisition of 100% of share capital
of Orange Triangle Inc. has been completed accordingly. The consideration
was settled as to 30% of approximately RMB446,795,000 in cash and as to
70% by allotment of 155,684,485 Consideration Shares at HK$7 each subject
to adjustment mechanism stipulated in the Sale and Purchase Agreement.
As the conditions precedent of the Sale and Purchase Agreement were
fulfilled, Beijing Orange Triangle Technology Co., Ltd (Jt &= AR AR
‘A \]) (“Orange Beijing”), which is indirectly wholly and beneficially owned
by Orange Triangle Inc., entered into a series of structured contracts (the
“Structured Contracts”) with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology Co., Ltd (1t 5%
178 =R B R AF]) (“Beijing Zhixing Ruijing”) and/or its shareholders on
3rd July 2015. Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing or Orange
Triangle Inc. will provide certain technical consultation and service, including
but not limited to technical services support, intellectual property licensing,
and business and management consultation, whereas Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
will pay the service fee equal to a certain percentage of its net income. In
addition, relevant parties have also entered into certain agreements in relation
to, among other things, the pledge of, and grant of exclusive acquisition
rights of, the equity interests in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Please also refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 8th May 2015, 2nd June 2015 and
3rd July 2015 respectively for further details.

RESIGNATION OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yang Ning resigned as an executive Director and president of the
Company with effect from 30th March 2015 due to his personal commitments
on his other business.

ADOPTION OF NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Following the listing of the Shares being transferred from Growth Enterprise
Market to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 10th October 2014, the
share option scheme adopted on 30th November 2003 was terminated while
share options granted remain valid. A new share option scheme (the “2015
Share Option Scheme”) in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the”Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange has been adopted, and
was duly approved by the Shareholders by way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 22nd May 2015. The total
number of shares available for issue under the 2015 Share Option Scheme is
66,782,461, representing approximately 7.42% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report. The 2015 Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption. Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 5th May 2015 for
further details of the adoption of the 2015 Share Option Scheme, including its
terms and conditions.
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INCREASE IN AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

Pursuant to a resolution of Shareholders passed on 19th June 2015, it was
resolved that the authorised share capital of the Company be increased to
HK$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each by
the creation of an additional 1,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each. The
increase in authorised share capital provides the Company with flexibility for
fund raising by allotting and issuing Shares in future for future investment
opportunities. For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 13th May 2015 and 19th June 2015 respectively.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES OF INNER
MONGOLIA HOHHOT JINGU RURAL COMMERCIAL
BANK LIMITED COMPANY (“HOHHOT JINGU")

On 22nd July 2015, 4t RE B Bz ST B BR A &) (HC Internet Information
Technology Company Limited*) (“HC Internet”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Wang Feng Feng
(£/BLEl), pursuant to which HC Internet has agreed to acquire approximately
2.49% of the issued share capital of Hohhot Jingu for a consideration of
RMB57,900,000. As at the date of this report, the acquisition has been
completed. Please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated
22nd July 2015 and 22nd October 2015 for further details.

ESTABLISHMENT OF HUICONG FINANCE LEASING
COMPANY LIMITED

On 25th September 2015, the Company via Hong Kong Huicong International
Group Limited (“Hong Kong Huicong”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, established Huicong Finance Leasing Company Limited
(“Huicong Finance Leasing”) in Tianjin, the PRC. Huicong Finance Leasing
is wholly owned by Hong Kong Huicong and the total registered capital is
USD30,000,000. The Board considers the establishment of Huicong Finance
Leasing shall be of great assistance to the development of the internet finance
sector of the Company. Together with the Company’s current business
operations, Huicong Finance Leasing shall provide its customers with multiple
solution services.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 20th November 2015, in order to raise funds for satisfying future
development needs and further expand shareholders and funds base, the
Company completed a placing (the “Placing”) whereby an aggregate of
74,540,000 new ordinary shares of the Company were successfully placed to
not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$3.82 per share by Shenwan
Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited (the “Placing Agent”) in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”)
entered into between the Company and the Placing Agent on 12th November
2015. The closing price of the shares of the Company on the date of the
Placing Agreement was HK$4.70. No placee has become a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) immediately following
completion of the Placing and each of the placees (and where applicable,
its ultimate beneficial owner) is a third party independent of the Company
and its connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules). The gross
proceeds amounted to approximately HK$284,742,800 and are intended to
be used for potential acquisitions or investments, input of resources into the
B2B 2.0 business (which mainly includes transactions and internet finance), as
well as working capital and general corporate purposes. Please also refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 12th November 2015 and 20th
November 2015 for further details.

MAJOR TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE
FURTHER SUBSCRIPTION OF SHARES OF INNER
MONGOLIA HOHHOT JINGU RURAL COMMERCIAL
BANK LIMITED COMPANY

On 7th December 2015, HC Internet entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) with Hohhot Jingu, pursuant to which HC
Internet conditionally agreed to further subscribe for 108,661,533 shares
of Hohhot Jingu (subject to adjustment under the terms of the Subscription
Agreement) (the “Subscription Share(s)”) at the subscription price of
RMB3 per Subscription Share. The consideration for the said subscription is
RMB325,984,599 (subject to adjustment under the terms of the Subscription
Agreement), which shall be settled by HC Internet in cash. As at the date of
this report, the subscription has not yet been completed. Please also refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 7th December 2015 for further
details.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION - PROPOSED
SUBSCRIPTION OF ZERO COUPON CONVERTIBLE
BONDS UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

On 9th December 2015, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Mr. Guo lJiang (the chief executive officer of the Company
and an executive Director), Mr. Lee Wee Ong (an executive Director and chief
financial officer of the Company), Mr. Liu Jun (a director of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Mr. Liu Xiaodong (a shareholder of
the Company (“Shareholder”) and a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company) (collectively, the “CB Subscribers”), pursuant to which the CB
Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible bonds in an aggregated principal
amount of HK$500,000,000 to be issued by the Company under the specific
mandate of the Company. As at the date of this report, the subscription
has not yet been completed. Please also refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9th December 2015, 29th February 2016 and 1st April 2016,
and the circular of the Company dated 12th January 2016 for further details.

SHARE TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE
ACQUISITION OF THE ENTIRE ISSUED SHARE
CAPITAL OF ZHONGFU HOLDINGS LIMITED
INVOLVING ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

On 18th December 2015, Daxiong Holdings Limited, Hanson He Holdings
Limited, Richard Chen Holdings Limited, Grand Novel Developments Limited
Ch¥EREAMR A T) and Mr Moustache Holdings Limited (collectively, the
“Sellers”), the Company, and Mr. Cao Guoxiong (& BI#E), Mr. He Shunsheng
(fAJIB4E), Mr. Chen Xuejun (FRE2E), Mr. Guan lianzhong (B &), Mr. Guo
Jiang (3B;T) and Mr. Liao Bin (BZx#) (collectively, the “Seller Guarantors”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Sellers
had conditionally agreed to sell, and the Company had conditionally agreed
to acquire the entire issued share capital of ZhongFu Holdings Limited for
an aggregate consideration of HK$170,807,500 (subject to downward
adjustments), to be settled by way of cash and issuance and allotment of
convertible bonds of the Company (subject to downward adjustments).

The completion of the transactions under the sale & purchase agreement
took place on 8th January 2016 in accordance with the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. Please also refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 3rd July 2015, 18th December 2015 and 8th January 2016 for further
details.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of issued shares of the Company was 899,946,103 as at
31st December 2015. An analysis of the Group’s capital structure in terms
of maturity profile of debt and obligation, type or capital instruments used,
currency and interest rate structure is set out in note 3.1 to note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statement.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The success of the Group depends on the skills, motivation and commitment
of its staff. As at 31st December 2015, the total number of Group’s
employees was 3,111, among which 2,012 were employed in the Sales and
Marketing Division, 334 were employed in the Editorial Division, 304 were
employed in the Information Technology Division and the remaining were
employed in other divisions of the Group.

Remuneration of employees is generally in line with the market trend and
commensurate with the salary level in the industry, with share options
granted to employees based on individual performance. Other benefits to the
Group's employees include medical insurance, retirement schemes, training
programmes and educational subsidies.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31st December 2015, part of the bank borrowings, amounting to
RMB 100,000,000 are secured by certain properties and land use right.

EXCHANGE RISK

As the Group's operations are principally in the PRC and majority assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in RMB, the Directors believe that the
Group is not subject to significant exchange risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December 2015, the Group had no contingent liability (2014: Nil).
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of Available-For-Sale Financial Asset -
Shanghai Ganyin

On 15th January 2016, bt REFRBAIRIH AR A 7] (Beijing Huicong
Zaichuang Technology Co., Ltd*)) (“Zaichuang Technology”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the subscription
agreement with F/BH#IRE F %A HBR AR (Shanghai Gangyin
E-Commerce Co., Ltd*) (“Shanghai Gangyin”), pursuant to which
Zaichuang Technology has agreed to subscribe for 22,000,000 shares
of par value RMB1 each in the share capital of Shanghai Gangyin at the
subscription price of RMB4.5 per subscription share at a consideration
of RMB99,000,000 to be settled in cash. As at the date of this report,
the transactions under the subscription agreement have not yet been
completed. Please also refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15th January 2016 for further details.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the investment has been recorded
as available-for-sale financial asset measured as fair value under non-
current assets.

Shanghai Gangyin is principally engaged in the provision of e-commerce
services for the trade of iron and steel commodities. Through
operating a third party platform, #ff$8 ¥ & (Gangyin Platform*)
(www.banksteel.com), Shanghai Gangyin provides upstream and
downstream enterprises in the iron and steel industry with a package
solution to e-commerce.

Possible Transaction with Shanghai Ganglian
E-Commerce Holdings Co., Ltd

The Company is in preliminary discussion with &8 E 7 E 455 5
R A 7] (Shanghai Ganglian E-Commerce Holdings Co., Ltd *) (“Shanghai
Ganglian”) in relation to a possible transaction which may involve
disposal of the entire equity interest in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, to achieve the purpose of disposing
certain assets of the Group which own and operate the domain names
www.zol.com.cn (FFBAF7E4R) and www.zol.com (FRREARTRE3) by the
Group to Shanghai Ganglian, in exchange for cash and/or certain equity
interest in Shanghai Ganglian (the “Possible Transaction”). Shanghai
Ganglian is a company established under the laws of the People’s
Republic of China, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300226).

If the Possible Transaction materialises, it may constitute a notifiable
transaction and/or connected transaction of the Company under the
Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, no binding material term
concerning the Possible Transaction has been agreed and the Company
has not entered into any definitive agreement in relation to the Possible
Transaction. Please also refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 25th February 2016 and 16th March 2016 for further details.
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BB A DM

(c) Connected Transaction in relation to Capital Increase (¢) EESRBELEEMNZREB AL

Agreement involving Deemed Disposal of Equity
Interest in Guangzhou Huicong

On 15th March 2016, Mr. Liu Jun (2E), Mr. Song Bingchen (R
7KE), Mr. Han Gang (88fl) and Mr. Xu Ke (&F7]) (collectively, the
“Subscribers”) entered into a capital increase agreement with )& &
ZIAEE R AR AT (Shenzhen Jing Huicong Network Technology
Company Limited*) (“Shenzhen Jing Huicong”), b R 2 FAE Bt {5 85
fiTABR A &) (Beijing Huicong Interconnection Information Technology
Company Limited*) (“Beijing Huicong Interconnection”) and &/ £ 12
R RHER A 7] (Guangzhou Huicong Network Technology Company
Limited*) (“Guangzhou Huicong”), each an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which the parties agreed that
the registered capital of Guangzhou Huicong (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) shall be increased from RMB5,000,000
to RMB8,333,333. The Subscribers shall make capital contribution in
the aggregate amount of RMB53,333,333, comprising RMB3,333,333
to be contributed to the increase in registered capital of Guangzhou
Huicong, and RMB50,000,000 to be contributed to the capital reserve of
Guangzhou Huicong.

Upon completion of the abovementioned capital increase, Guangzhou
Huicong will be owned as to approximately 40.00% by the Subscribers
and approximately 60.00% by Shenzhen Jing Huicong and Beijing
Huicong Interconnection collectively. As at the date of this report, the
said transaction has not yet been completed. Please also refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15th March 2016 for further
details.
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Report of the Directors
ESEWE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 31st December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
principal activities for the financial year ended 31st December 2015.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the financial year by business
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business and prospects of the Group is set out on pages 9 to
19 of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 95 to page 96.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31st December 2015.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in retained earnings of the Group during the
financial year are set out on page 99.

Details of the movements in other reserves of the Group are set out in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the Company
are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31st December 2015, calculated
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB1,529,760,000 (2014: RMB534,304,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 6 of this report.
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Report of the Directors

FEQE

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Mr. Guo Fansheng (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Jiang

(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lee Wee Ong

(Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Li Jianguang Note?

Mr. Guo Wei Note

Mr. Zhang Ke Note2

Dr. Xiang Bing Notez

Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei Nete2

Mr. Yang Ning (President)

Notes:

1 Non-executive Directors

(appointed on 21st March 2000)
(appointed on 1st August 2006)
(appointed on 9th September 2011 as
an independent non-executive Director
and re-designated as an executive
Director on 1st July 2012)
(appointed on 1st August 2006)
(appointed on 8th March 2002 as
an independent non-executive Director
and re-designated as a non-executive
Director on 10th June 2011)
(appointed on 28th March 2003)
(appointed on 8th March 2002)

(appointed on 1st November 2011)

(appointed on 17th January 2014 and
resigned on 30th March 2015)

2 Independent non-executive Directors

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
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Guo Jiang, Mr. Lee Wee Ong and Mr. Zhang Ke will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 20 to 24.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng, Mr. Guo Jiang and Mr. Lee Wee Ong has entered
into a director’s service contract with the Company, whereby each of them
has accepted the appointment as an executive Director of the Company for a
term of three years from 30th November 2015, 1st August 2015 and 1st July
2015 respectively, which may terminated by either party giving three months’
prior written notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of their
respective service contracts.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Xiang Bing, Mr.
Zhang Ke and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei, has entered into a director’s service
contract with the Company, whereby each of Dr. Xiang Bing, Mr. Zhang
Ke and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei has accepted the appointment for a term of
one year from 8th March 2002, 28th March 2003 and 1st November 2011,
respectively, and the service contracts shall be renewed automatically at
the end of the term. Either party may terminate the service contract at any
time by giving one month’s prior written notice or in accordance with the
terms of their respective service contracts. There is no service contract, which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation), in respect of any director
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above and in note 34 and note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director was materially interested, whether directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company, its holding company, or any of its fellow subsidiaries and
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, a permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of the directors and officers of the Company
is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The
Company has taken out and maintained directors and officers liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for, among others, directors of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR STAFF EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors and senior staff emoluments for the year are set out in
notes 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior staff are determined based on
the operating results of the Group, individual performance and/or prevailing
market conditions. The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme as an incentive to Directors and senior staff.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES,UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31st December 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Directors’ Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

Class of Personal Family
Name of Director Shares Capacity interests interests
EEpns RGER &6 B AR RiEER
Guo Jiang Ordinary Beneficial owners/ 119,425,146 10,784,625
family interest (note 1) (note 1)
BI LRk ERBBN/ (B3E1) (B3E1)
Kkl
Guo Fansheng Ordinary Beneficial owners 57,749,015 -
BAE TR BHEEA
Li Jianguang Ordinary Interest of controlled - -
corporation
TR el SRVl £
Lee Wee Ong Ordinary Beneficial owners 19,850,672 -
(note 3)
TRk ExEBA (Fi5E3)

EENITRARNA QR EBEE
%Hﬁﬁ CHERORES z2EER
RE

RZZE—RAF+-_A=+—H8 EERARQRITHK
BE AR RIS E A AREE A E (E & R EEAHISE
S571Z A5 KSR ([E 5 RAEE ) EXVEL)
2R - FHERG REFT - EEREESKPEE
BIEXVEBZ BT F8D A AMEANR R Rz
B RAR (BIEBEBEFA RS KRIBBIEXESE
WEAESAREES 2 RS SAR) » SRIEESF K
EIEPI B35 BRARRBIFEE Bt 2SN
KA SURE ETAR AT BT AEREITES
R GHEEFR([1ZESFR ) e AR R KRBT
BRRARWT

(a) EBRAQTAROKRBERD 2R

Total Percentage
Corporate Other number of of shareholding
interests MEES Shares  (approximate)
REBSH
ATER HitiEz RpAH (84)
- - 130,209,771 14.47%
(note 1)
(FiizE1)
- - 57,749,015 6.42%
32,000,384 - 32,000,384 3.56%
(note 2) (note 2)
(Fi5E2) (Fi5E2)
- - 19,850,672 2.21%
(note 3)
(Fi5E3)

(b) Directors’ Short Positions

Class of Personal Family
Name of Director Shares Capacity EEH interests
EEpg RGHER 54 BARRE  RkER
Guo Jiang Ordinary Beneficial owners 5,000,000 -
EipaN ERR BREBA

(b) EBZHA

Total
number of
Shares

Percentage

of shareholding
(approximate)
RERDL
(#4)

Other
interests

Corporate

interests

AfE  HitEs < ROAH

0.56%

5,000,000

sR@ERAR - 2015555 (]
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(b) Directors’ Short Positions (Continued) (b) EEZXRE )
Note: BieE
1. Such interests in the Company comprised: 1. ZERREEZBIE

(@) 66,724,771 Shares of which 5,150,625 Shares are held by Ms. Geng
Yi, who is Mr. Guo Jiang's spouse;

(b) 8,351,000 underlying Shares derived from the awarded shares
granted to Mr. Guo Jiang under the employees’ share award scheme
adopted on 17th November 2011;

(©) 15,134,000 underlying Shares derived from the share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme adopted on 30th November 2003 of
which 5,634,000 underlying Shares derived from the share options
granted to Ms. Geng Yi under the Share Option Scheme; and

(d) 40,000,000 underlying Shares derived from the proposed subscription
of 40,000,000 convertible bonds of the Company by Mr. Guo
Jiang pursuant to a subscription agreement (the “CB Subscription
Agreement”) entered into between, among others, the Company,
Mr. Guo Jiang, Mr. Lee Wee Ong, Mr. Liu Jun and Mr. Liu Xiaodong.

Mr. Guo Jiang is deemed, or taken to have, interested in the shares
and underlying shares held by Ms. Geng Yi pursuant to the SFO.

2. The references to 32,000,384 shares of the Company relate to the same
block of shares of the Company held by Callister Trading Limited, the entire
share capital of which is owned by Mr. Li Jianguang. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Jianguang is deemed, or taken to have, interested in the said 32,000,384
shares of the Company pursuant to the SFO.

3. Such interests in the Company comprises: (i) 3,350,672 Shares, (i) 1,500,000
underlying Shares derived from the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and (iii) 15,000,000 underlying Shares derived from the
proposed subscription of 15,000,000 convertible bonds of the Company by
Mr. Lee Wee Ong pursuant to the CB Subscription Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2015, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company at the relevant time
has any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company dated
30th November 2003, among others, a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme were summarised in the paragraph headed “Share
options” under the section headed “Statutory and General Information” in
Appendix V of the prospectus of the Company dated 8th December 2003.

OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme

As at 31st December 2015, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
30,316,000 Shares granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme were
outstanding (representing approximately 3.37% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report). Details of which were as follows:

As at

1st January
2015

i
—2-5F
—HA-H

Exercise
price
per share

Name of grantee

Date of grant

R A BRITEE
HKS

BT

ERALA

Directors
Es
Guo Jiang 23rd June 2006 1.49 1,000,000
L ZETREAAZT=R
11th July 2007 1.24 2,200,000
“ELHELAT—H
29th September 2008 0.604 1,500,000
“ZEN\ENAZTNR
7th April 2010 0.82 4,800,000
“T-TEMALH
Lee Wee Ong 3rd April 2013 4.402 1,500,000

ZE-=HMA=H

Granted

the period

REIRE L

BT
BEAABRFER-ZZT=F+—A=1+HBBzE
EDRBESR » AR RRA— R BERT &) ([ AERT
) - BEEAEZEEGRERARRBHER-F
Z=F+ - ANRAZRBERERIEADEER —RE
1 —#[ SRR | — Bt -

[ RAT 6 2 F B R

BREsEl
RZT—AF+-—A=+—08 ' REEREFZRT
A R4 $£30,316,000/% A 15 2 B AL AE 1 AR T8 (15
RAHRE BRARARBBITIRAELZ37%) - BEAF
BIR

Number of share options
BREHE
Exercised

during
the period

As at

31st December
2015

R

—E-1f
+=ZA=+-H
(Note 1)
(FizE1)

Lapsed
during
the period

during

RERTE  RERAR

1,000,000
2,200,000
1,500,000
4,800,000

1,500,000
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Name of grantee

ERAS

Senior management
BREEAR

Geng Vi

Bta

Guo Gang
28I

Li Tao
e

Other employees
Hitfgg

In aggregate (Note 2)
CaRUE))

In aggregate (Note 3)
&t (ME3)

In aggregate

At

In aggregate (Note 4)
ait (MEE4)

In aggregate (Note 5)
CallED)

In aggregate (Note 6)
CaliED)

Total
5

Date of grant

RHAH

23rd June 2006

ZET EARAZT=R
29th September 2008
ZZEN\FAAZTAR
7th April 2010
—Z-TFMALA
28th March 2011
—E——5=ZAZ1N\R
11th July 2007
“EE+FLA+—H
29th September 2008
ZEEN\ERAZTNA
7th April 2010
“Z-TFWALA

23rd June 2006
ZETREAAZT=R
11th July 2007
“ELHELAT—H
29th September 2008
“EL\ERAZTAA
7th April 2010
—E-TFMNALA
28th March 2011
ZE——F=AZTNH
18th November 2013
~F-=Ft-AT\A
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Exercise
price
per share

BRITEE
HKS
BT

As at

1st January
2015

i
—E-h0f
—A-H

Number of share options

BREHE
Exercised
during
the period

Granted
during
the period

RERERE  REIRTE

As at

31st December
2015

R

“2-TF
RBIR%Y +t=A=t—AH
(Note 1)
(FizE1)

Lapsed
during
the period

1.49 434,000 434,000
0.604 1,000,000 1,000,000
0.82 4,200,000 4,200,000
1.108 50,000 (50,000) -
1.24 220,000 220,000
0.604 400,000 400,000
0.82 800,000 800,000
1.49 94,000 (70,000) 24,000
1.24 1,955,000 (677,000) 1,278,000
0.604 100,000 (100,000) -
0.82 2,418,000 (1,630,000) 788,000
1.108 200,000 200,000
9.84 10,000,000 (28,000) 9,972,000
32,871,000 (2,555,000) 30,316,000
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Notes:

1.

Each option has a 10-year exercise period, which may be exercised after the expiry
of twelve months from the date of the grant of options.

For the options exercisable at HK$1.49 granted on 23rd June 2006, the relevant
grantees may exercise these options in a 10-year period starting from the expiry of
twelve months from the date of the grant of options.

For the options exercisable at HK$1.24 granted on 11th July 2007, the relevant
grantees may exercise options up to 50% and in full, respectively, of the shares
of the Company comprised in his or her option (less any number of shares of
the Company in respect of which the option has been previously exercised),
commencing from the first and second anniversaries of the date of the grant of
options.

For the options exercisable at HK$0.604 granted on 29th September 2008, the
relevant grantees may exercise these options in a 10-year period starting from the
expiry of twelve months from the date of the grant of options. For the options
exercisable at HK$0.82 granted on 7th April 2010, the relevant grantees may
exercise options up to 50% and 100%, respectively, of the shares of the Company
comprised in his or her option (less any number of shares of the Company in
respect of which the option has been previously exercised), commencing from the
first and second anniversaries of the date of the grant of options.

For the options exercisable at HK$1.108 granted on 28th March 2011, the
relevant grantees may exercise options up to 50% and 100%, respectively, of the
shares of the Company comprised in his or her option (less any number of shares
of the Company in respect of which the option has been previously exercised),
commencing from the first and second anniversaries of the date of the grant of
options.

For the options exercisable at HK$4.402 granted on 3rd April 2013, the relevant
grantee may exercise options up to 20%, 40%, 60%, 80% and 100%, of the
shares of the Company comprised in his option (less any number of shares of
the Company in respect of which the option has been previously exercised),
commencing from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the
date of the grant of options respectively.

For the options exercisable at HK$9.84 granted on 18th November 2013, the
relevant grantees may exercise options up to 10%, 20%, 40%, 70%and 100%,
respectively, of the shares of the Company comprised in his or her option (less
any number of shares of the Company in respect of which the option has been
previously exercised), commencing from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of the grant of options.

1 employee have been granted options under the Share Option Scheme to acquire
an aggregate of 24,000 shares of the Company at HK$1.49 per share.

4 employees have been granted options under the Share Option Scheme to
acquire an aggregate of 1,278,000 shares of the Company at HK$1.24 per share.

B -
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4. 3 employees have been granted options under the Share Option Scheme to

acquire an aggregate of 788,000 shares of the Company at HK$0.82 per share.

2 employees have been granted options under the Share Option Scheme to
acquire an aggregate of 200,000 shares of the Company at HK$1.108 per share.

56 employees have been granted options under the Share Option Scheme to
acquire an aggregate of 9,972,000 shares of the Company at HK$9.84 per share.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 23rd June
2006, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB3,919,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$1.49, standard deviation of expected share price returns of 34.8%, expected
life of options ranging from 3.2 to 5.5 years expected dividend paid out rate of
0% and annual risk free interest rate of 4.911%. The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of
historical price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with
similar business nature.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 11th July
2007, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB9,390,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$1.24 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 49.0%, expected
life of options ranging from 2.4 to 6.2 years expected dividend paid out rate of
0% and annual risk-free interest rate of 4.757%.The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of
historical price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with
similar business nature.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 29th
September 2008, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was
approximately RMB2,756,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise
price of HK$0.604 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 72.2%,
expected life of options ranging from 3.8 to 4.8 years expected dividend paid out
rate of 0% and annual risk-free interest rate of 3.133%. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of historical price movement of the Company and other comparable
companies with similar business nature.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 7th April
2010, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB12,527,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$0.82 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 79.8%, expected
life of options ranging from 3.4 to 5.9 years expected dividend paid out rate of
0% and annual risk-free interest rate of 2.865%.The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of
historical price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with
similar business nature.
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11.  The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 28th March

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

2011, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB1,377,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$1.108 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 77.4%, expected
life of options ranging from 3.8 to 4.9 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0%
and annual risk-free interest rate 2.82%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical
price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with similar
business nature.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 3rd April
2013, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB3,754,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$4.402 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 75%, expected
life of options ranging from 9.1 to 9.6 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0%
and annual risk-free interest rate 1.111%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical
price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with similar
business nature.

The fair value of options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 18th
November 2013, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was
approximately RMB50,125,000. The significant inputs into the model were
exercise price of HK$9.84 standard deviation of expected share price returns of
71.5%, expected life of options ranging from 4.7 to 7.9 years expected dividend
paid out rate of 0% and annual risk-free interest rate 1.915%. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based
on statistical analysis of historical price movement of the Company and other
comparable companies with similar business nature.

In the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 22nd May 2015, an
ordinary resolution was passed by the shareholders of the Company to approve
the adoption of the 2015 Share Option Scheme. For details, please refer to the
Company'’s circular and announcement dated 5th May 2015 respectively.

In respect of employees resigned during the period whose share options have not
been vested, such share options are lapsed, and the share compensation costs
recognised previously are credited to condensed consolidated final statement of
comprehensive income.

The values of share options recognised in share-based compensation reserves
are subject to a number of assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the
valuation model.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which these options were exercised was approximately HK$6.25 per share.
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EMPLOYEES' SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 17th November 2011, the Board adopted an employees’ share award
scheme pursuant to which existing shares of the Company will be acquired
by the trustee from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in
trust for the selected employees until such shares are vested with the relevant
selected employees in accordance with the provision of the share award
scheme. For principal terms of the employees’ share award scheme, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17th November 2011.

Since the adoption date, a total of 46,881,000 shares has been granted up to
the date of this report, representing approximately 5.12% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report. The awarded shares
remain outstanding as at 31th December 2015 are set out below:

EERAD RS
RZFB——F+—A+EtH EESRNEIERNE
BIEtE - Bt A EHSEBARARHR AN
(BRBARREE) WA ERTABRRERES
B EEZEBRORERE B RO B BIGSURE T
HREEREREARL - BERNREFI 2T ER
;o ESHAAARNBSHAT——H+—A+tAZ
N

BERAEHEEARRE R - HH 4 $£46,881,000
R BERAREAHARRDBEITRAL
512% - RZZE—AF+-_A=+—0 " HABBZ
BEERMHEINT

As at
Granted during  Vested during  31st December
the period the period 2015

R
—g-5f
BRE BABE  t=A=t-A

- (5,566,000) 8,351,000
- (1,000,000) -
- (85,000) 15,000
- (85,000) 15,000
- (1,822,024) 12,811,375
- (1,000,000) 2,000,000

- (9,558,024) 23,354,125

Number of As at
awarded 1st January
Name of Grantee  Date of grant shares 2015
i
—Z-0fF
REARA REBHE ERRGEE —A-8
Directors
=
Guo Jiang 20th August 2012 16,700,000 13,917,000
Eihi —E-—F\A=+H
Lee Wee Ong 14th June 2012 3,000,000 1,000,000
X A+MAH
Senior management
EREEAE
Guo Gang 23rd November 2011 300,000 100,000
bl “B——F+-AZ+=H
Li Tao 23rd November 2011 300,000 100,000
-] “B——F+-AZ+=H
Other employees
Hitg s
In aggregate (Note 1) 23rd November 2011 23,581,000 14,633,399
A&t (1) “Z——%+t—-AZt=H
17th January 2014 3,000,000 3,000,000
—Z-ME-A++tH
Total 46,881,000 32,750,399
et
Note:

1. 70 employees have been granted an aggregate of 26,581,000 awarded shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31st December 2015, the interest of persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or required to be entered
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

FERRREAMATRARTRD R
HERG 2 ERRAR

RZB-—RF+ZA=+—H  RARARND KIEH
Bty s BB IRIEE 7 KB RPIEXVERFE 2 R FE3D
MAMES AR R - BRBIEES RS G
FEIBHALARRBMFEBLM 2 a2z AL (X
FEERRARAITHEZ)NT ¢

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding
as at
Name of Shareholder Class of Shares Long position short position  Capacity 31st March 2015
R=B-1%F
=ZA=+-H
ZRAHH
BRRES BB R4 5 Bk
Digital China Holdings Limited Ordinary 166,029,107 Interest in controlled 18.45%
N R B R AR Lk (note 1) corporation
(PEET) SN 3
Geng Yi Ordinary 130,209,771 5,000,000  Beneficial Owner and 14.47%
Bkta LBAR (note 2) Family Interest (long position)
(HizE2) Bali A ARF GiER (F78)
0.56%
(short position)
(k=)
Credit Suisse Group AG Ordinary 53,096,255 38,084,043 Interest in controlled 5.90%
TmAR corporation (long position)
P NG 3 (#%&)
4.23%
(short position)
(%R
Liu Xiaodong Ordinary 92,273,794 Beneficial Owner and 10.25%
NS LBAR (note 3) Interest in controlled
(FfH3E3) corporation
BB ARZEHRE
B
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EERRE
Notes:

Save
been
other

The references to 166,029,107 Shares comprises 142,621,107 Shares and
23,408,000 Shares held by Talent Gain Developments Limited and Unique Golden
Limited, respectively. Unique Golden Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by
Talent Gain Developments Limited, which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned
by Digital China (BVI) Limited and indirectly wholly and beneficially owned by
Digital China Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 861). Therefore, Talent Gain Developments Limited, is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Unique Golden Limited, and each
of Digital China (BVI) Limited and Digital China Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Talent Gain Developments Limited and Unique
Golden Limited.

Ms. Geng Yi is the spouse of Mr. Guo Jiang. Ms. Geng Yi's interest in the
Company comprises: (a) 130,209,771 Shares (long position) and 5,000,000
(short position) of which 61,574,146 Shares (long position) and 5,000,000 (short
position) are held by Mr. Guo Jiang and 5,150,625 Shares are held by Ms. Geng
Yi; (b) 8,351,000 underlying Shares derived from the awarded shares granted
to Mr. Guo Jiang under the employees’ share award scheme adopted on 17th
November 2011; (c) 15,134,000 underlying Shares derived from the share options
granted under the share option scheme adopted on 30th November 2003 of
which 9,500,000 underlying Shares derived from the share options granted to
Mr. Guo Jiang under the share option scheme, and 5,634,000 underlying Shares
derived from the share options granted to Ms. Geng Yi. Ms. Geng is deemed, or
taken to have, interested in the shares and underlying shares held by Mr. Guo
Jiang pursuant to the SFO and (d) 40,000,000 underlying Shares derived from the
proposed subscription of 40,000,000 convertible bonds of the Company by Mr.
Guo Jiang pursuant to the CB Subscription Agreement.

These 92,273,794 interest comprises: (a) 62,273,794 Shares and (b) 30,000,000
underlying Shares derived from the proposed subscription of 30,000,000
convertible bonds of the Company by Mr. Liu Xiaodong pursuant to the CB
Subscription Agreement.

as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2015, the Company had not
notified of any interests or short positions of substantial shareholders or
persons in the Shares and underlying Shares which were notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company

pursu

ant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Certain related party transactions entered into by the Group, as disclosed in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, also constitute connected
transactions under the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time), and are
required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and the Group has been entered into and/or ongoing for
which relevant disclosure if necessary and had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transaction in relation to Capital Increase
Agreement involving Deemed Disposal of Equity Interest in
Guangzhou Huicong

On 9th December 2015, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Mr. Guo Jiang (the chief executive officer of the Company
and an executive Director), Mr. Lee Wee Ong (an executive Director and chief
financial officer of the Company), Mr. Liu Jun (a director of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Mr. Liu Xiaodong (a Shareholder and
a director of several subsidiaries of the Company), pursuant to which the CB
Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible bonds in an aggregated principal
amount of HK$500,000,000 to be issued by the Company under the specific
mandate of the Company. As at the date of this report, the subscription
has not yet been completed. Please also refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9th December 2015, 29th February 2016 and 1st April 2016,
and the circular of the Company dated 12th January 2016 for further details.

Save as disclosed above, all the related party transactions, as disclosed in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statement, did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any
of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The transactions under categories (a) and (b) in note 44 were conducted
on normal commercial terms where all of the percentage ratios (other than
the profit ratio) were less than 5% and the total annual consideration was
less than HK$3,000,000, while those under category (c) in note 44 were
provided under the service contracts of relevant management and thus were
all fully exempted pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Also, as the
loan in the amount of RMB40,000,000 granted by the Group to Hui De on
14th December 2014 and the additional loan amounting to RMB1,600,000
granted by the Group on 22nd October 2015, as well as the loans amounting
to RMB80,000,000 and RMB120,000,000 granted by the Group to &
INEFEZ R/ NEAE AR /A "] on 27th May 2015 and 21st November 2015
respectively were conducted on normal commercial terms and in proportion
to the equity interest directly held by the Company’s non wholly-owned
subsidiary in Hui De and EE&MNEIEEIR/NEEE AR AR, such financial
assistance was fully exempted pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31st December 2015, the respective percentages
of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers and the sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers combined was less than
30% of the total value of the Group’s purchases and sales.

The Group’s customers are a vast amount of small and medium sized
enterprises in the PRC. Most of the Group's revenue is derived from online
products and since the relevant price of each online products is not significant
and the online products are sold to the large number of customers, each
customer’s contribution towards the Company’s revenue is relatively small.
Therefore, the Company’s reliance on any individual customer is low. In
respect of Mai-Mai-Tong, Biao-Wang products and services, sales agreements
are entered into between the Group and its customers. The term of the
sale agreements are divided into one-year, two-year and/or three-year in
accordance with different products. Upon the expiry of the sales agreements,
customers has an option to renew the sales agreements.

The Company’s major suppliers are as follows: (i) the verification supplier
provides verification services for Mai-Mai-Tong members. Our verification
supplier is a limited company with the relevant verification qualifications, and is
paid on a monthly basis according to the number of verifications carried out in
that particular month. We have cooperated with this verification supplier for
over 8 years and our supply contract with this verification supplier is renewed
yearly; (ii) the search product suppliers provide search engine and promotion
services for Biao-Wang products, allowing our paid members to have a higher
exposure of their products by getting more search engine hits and promoting
their products and achieving transactions. We currently have 6 search product
suppliers which are leading search engine providers like Baidu and 360 Search
and the respectively service contracts with them are renewed on a yearly
basis; (iii) for our Group's offline products like trade catalogues and yellow
page directories, our Group also engage a printing supplier that provides
industry and commerce catalogue and yellow pages printing services. The
Group has been cooperating with the printing supplier for over 10 years and
a long-term service agreement has been entered; (iv) the anti-counterfeiting
products and services of the Group include printing enterprises for producing
anti-counterfeit labels.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 24th July 2003 with
written terms of reference based on the guidelines set out in “A Guide
for Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control procedures of the Group. The
Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Zhang Ke and Mr. Xiang Bing and a non-executive Director, Mr. Li Jianguang.
Mr. Zhang Ke is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the internal control
procedures, this results announcement and the annual results of the Company
for the year ended 31st December 2015 and has met with external auditors
and discussed the financial matters of the Group that arose during the course
of audit for the year ended 31st December 2015. The Audit Committee held
5 meetings during the year.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks and uncertainties that the Group faces during its
operation. Among which, there are certain risks that the Group cannot
control. Such risks and uncertainties including factors such as economy
conditions of both inside and outside China, credit policy and foreign
exchange and interest policies, and changes related to laws and regulations
and enforcement policies. There may be other risk and uncertainties which
are not known or not material to the Group but turn out to be material in the
future.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company total issued share
capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Each of the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) has confirmed that none of them had any business or interest
in any company that materially competes or may compete with the business
of the Group or any other conflict of interests with the interests of the Group
during the year ended 31st December 2015.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written confirmation or an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors are or have remained
independent.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
of the Company, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the shares of the Company during the year ended 31st
December 2015.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development of the regions where it operates. As a
responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the relevant laws
and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety,
adopts effective measures, conserves energy and reduces waste.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

In 2015, the Group donated RMB400,000 to China Youth Development
Foundation(fF & LV F3 R E S E),in support of the cultural and arts
education of the youth in ethnic minorities regions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31st December 2015, the Group
did not breach any law and regulation that has a significant impact on the
Company.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board
HC International, Inc.
Guo Jiang
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Beijing, PRC, 30th March 2016
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Corporate Governance Report

TEELRE

INTRODUCTION

Maintaining high standards of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Company’s goals. This corporate
governance report describes its corporate governance practices, explains the
applications of the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (the “Code"”) and deviations, if any.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied no more or less with the provisions of the
Code. The Company believes that by achieving high standard of corporate
governance, the corporate value and accountability of the Company can
be enhanced and the shareholders’ interests can be maximised. The Board
has continued to monitor and review the Company’s progress in respect of
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance. Meetings were held
throughout the year and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance
notes were issued to the Directors and senior management of the Company
to ensure awareness to issues regarding corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
set out in code provision D3.1 of the Code. As at the date of this report, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, (b) training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, (c) the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s
code of conduct and (e) the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosures
requirements.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES" SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms not less than the required standard of dealings as
setout in Rules Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and
the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors throughout the year ended 31st December 2015.

On 20th March 2006, the Board also adopted written guidelines on terms not
less than the required standard of dealings for relevant employees in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. Prior to the adoption
of such an internal code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
employees, relevant employees who had in their possession of price-sensitive
information were formally briefed on the dealing restrictions in relation to
the securities of the Company at management meetings during the reporting
period.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight (8) Directors, of whom
three are executive Directors, two are non-executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The participation of non-executive
Directors in the Board provides the Company with a wide range of expertise
and experience, and plays an important role in the work of the Board and
brings independent judgement on issues relating to the Company’s strategy,
performance, conflicts of interest and management process to ensure that
the interests of all shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.
All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

In full compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors, at least one
of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers such Directors to be independent
in accordance with each and every guideline set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Pursuant to the Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy. The
Company recognise the benefits of diversity of Board members, and will
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experiences and diversity of
prospect appropriate to the Company’s business need prospectus.

The Board as at 31st December 2015 comprised:

Executive Directors
Guo Fansheng (Chairman), Guo Jiang (Chief Executive Officer), Lee Wee Ong
(Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Li Jianguang, Guo Wei

Independent non-executive Directors
Zhang Ke, Xiang Bing, Zhang Tim Tianwei

Except that Mr. Guo Fansheng (Chairman) is the uncle of Mr. Guo lJiang
(Chief Executive Officer), there are no financial, business, family or other
relationships among the members of the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors.
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Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. At least 14 days’ notice of
all board meetings were given to all Directors (unless waived in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company), who were all given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The Board
secretary of the Company (the “Board Secretary”) assists the Chairman in
preparing the agenda for the meeting, and ensures that all applicable rules
and regulations regarding the meetings are observed. The meeting agenda
and accompanying board papers are sent to all Directors prior to meetings.
During the financial year ended 31st December 2015, 14 Board meetings and
3 general meeting were held and the following is an attendance record of the
meetings by each Director:

Attendance
General
Meetings

Board
Meetings

Executive Directors

Guo Fansheng 14/14 2/3
Guo Jiang 12/12 3/3
Lee Wee Ong 12/12 3/3
Yang Ning 2/2 N/A
Non-executive Directors

Li Jianguang 14/14 2/3
Guo Wei 12114 0/3
Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke 14/14 3/3
Xiang Bing 12/14 1/3
Zhang Tim Tianwei 12/14 0/3

Notes:

(1) Three general meeting of the Company was held during the financial year ended
31st December 2015.

(2)  Non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) have
been invited by the Company but some of them were unable to attend the
general meeting held during the year due to other engagements. The non-
executive Directors actively participates in the Board and will attend the general
meetings of the Company if possible.

(3)  Excluding Board meeting at which relevant Director is required to abstain pursuant
to Main Board Listing Rules and/or the Articles of Association of the Company.
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Company, monitor financial performances and discuss
the annual and interim results, set annual budgets, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters.

The Board Secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in detail
by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions made by the Board
together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts
of board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comments and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time on request by any Director. All Directors have access
to relevant and timely information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner.

Delegation by the Board

The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities reserved
to the Board and those delegated to management. The Board delegates day
to day operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management
while reserving certain key matters for its approval. The Board is responsible
for the approval and monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and
policies; approval of business plans; evaluating the performance of the
Company and oversight of management. It is also responsible for promoting
the success of the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising
the Company'’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at board meetings.

INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive guideline and reference materials to
enable them to familiarise with the Group’s business operations and the
Board'’s polices.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
has circulated to Directors training materials relevant to the directors duties
and responsibilities and prepared a training record and the Directors have
reviewed the training materials.
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During the reporting period, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and regulations, and
the individual training record is summaries below:

Attending seminar(s)/
relevant materials

Executive Directors

Guo Fansheng YES
Guo Jiang YES
Lee Wee Ong YES
Non-executive Directors

Li Jianguang YES
Guo Wei YES
Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke YES
Xiang Bing YES
Zhang Tim Tianwei YES

Term of Appointment and Re-election

Under the provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. Each of the existing non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Jianguang, Mr. Guo Wei, Mr. Zhang Ke, Dr. Xiang
Bing, and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei was appointed for a fixed term of one year,
subject to rotation and/or re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company, as specified by the Articles of Association of the Company. Under
the provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and every director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

On 10th November 2006, a special resolution was passed by the shareholders
of the Company to approve the amendments to the Company’s Articles of
Association to ensure compliance with the Code. Pursuant to the amended
provisions of the Articles of Associations of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of
an addition to the Board), and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term)shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To improve transparency and independency, the roles of the Chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company are segregated and are not
exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board functions effectively
and smoothly. In doing so, the Chairman ensures that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established and followed, and that
all Directors are properly briefed and received all relevant information prior to
each meeting.

Mr. Guo Fansheng, who assumes the role of the Chairman, is responsible
for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies of the Company.
Mr. Guo Jiang, who assumes the role of the chief executive officer of the
Company, is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20th March 2006. As
at 31st December 2015, the chairman of the committee is Mr. Zhang Ke
(independent non-executive Director) and other members include Mr. Guo
Jiang (executive Director), Mr. Guo Wei (non-executive Director), Dr. Xiang
Bing (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei
(independent non-executive Director).

During the year, the Remuneration Committee was responsible for
formulating and recommending the Board in relation to the remuneration
policy, determining the remunerations of executive Directors and members
of the senior management of the Company, and reviewing and making
recommendations on the Company’s share option scheme and share award
scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other compensation-related
issues. The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman and/or the
chief executive officer of the Company on its proposals and recommendations.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with other resources enabling
it to discharge its duties such as the access to professional advice if and
when necessary. For the financial year ended 31st December 2015, the
Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The individual attendance record
of each member is as follows:

Members Attendance

Zhang Ke 11
Xiang Bing 171
Zhang Tim Tianwei 11
Guo Wei 0/1
Guo Jiang 171
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Full minutes of the Remuneration Committee’s meetings are properly
kept by the Company. In line with practices consistent with meetings
of the Board and other committee meetings, draft and final versions of
Remuneration Committee meeting minutes are circulated to all members of
the Remuneration Committee for comments, approval and record as soon as
practicable after each meeting.

At the meetings of the Remuneration Committee held in the period under
review, the members of the Remuneration Committee have reviewed the
Group’s remuneration policy and discussed the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management for the forthcoming financial year.

The emoluments of the Directors and the management are determined
based on the operating results of the Company, individual performance and/
or prevailing market conditions. The Company has also adopted the Share
Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as an incentive to Directors and
senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 20th March 2012, the Company established the Nomination
Committee and written terms of reference of the nomination committee have
been adopted. As at the date of this report, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Guo Fansheng (executive Director) and other members
include Mr. Zhang Ke (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhang
Tim Tianwei (independent non-executive Director). The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of
the Board, identifying individual suitably qualified to become Board members,
selecting or making recommendation to the Board on selection of individuals
nominated for directorship, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors. During the year ended 31st December 2015, the Nomination
Committee also reviewed the structure and composition of the Board.

New Directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills and
experience which the Nomination Committee considers will make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board.

In August 2013, amendments to the written terms of reference of the
nomination committee have been adopted. In deciding the composition
of the Board, the Company will consider the Board diversity from various
perspectives, including but not limited to sex, age, cultural and academic
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and terms of
services.
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For the financial year ended 31st December 2015, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting. The Individual attendance record of each members is as
follows:

Members Attendance

Guo Fansheng 1
Zhang Ke 1
Zhang Tim Tianwei 1

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Management of the Company provides all relevant information and records
to the Board enabling the Board to make assessment and to prepare the
financial statements and other financial disclosures. In full compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee of the Company
("Audit Committee”) was established in July 2003 and is currently chaired by
Mr. Zhang Ke, (independent non-executive Director). Other members of the
Audit Committee include Mr. Li Jianguag (non-executive Director) and Mr.
Xiang Bing (independent non-executive Director).

During the year, the Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring the
Company'’s financial statements, annual and interim reports, and the auditor’s
report present a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s financial
position; reviewing the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management systems; and reviewing the Company'’s financial and accounting
policies and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties. For the financial year ended 31st December 2015, the
Audit Committee held 5 meetings. The individual attendance record of each
member is as follows:

Members Attendance

Zhang Ke 5/5
Xiang Bing 3/5
Li Jianguang 5/5
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The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the internal control
procedures, the financial results of the Group during the year ended 31st
December 2015 and met with external auditors and discussed the financial
matters of the Group that arose during the course of audit during the year
ended 31st December 2015. In the opinion of the Audit Committee, there
are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cost
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. There is
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or discussion of the external auditors.

Full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings are properly kept by the
Company. In line with practices consistent with meetings of the Board and
other committee meetings, draft and final versions of Audit Committee
meeting minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit Committee for
comments, approval and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements and the
responsibilities of the external auditors to the shareholders are set out on
pages 93 to 94 of this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit function performed by
external auditors, including whether such non-audit functions could lead to
any potential material adverse effect on the Company. The Group's external
auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers. The remuneration paid or payable to the
external auditor of the Group during the Reporting Period comprised fees
for audit services of HKD3,100,000 (2014: HKD2,123,000) and HKD800,000
(2014: HKD763,000) for non-audit related services, included providing
professional services on interim review, merger and acquisition.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company
secretarial services and Ms. Kwong Yin Ping Yvonne is appointed as the
Company Secretary. The primary contact person in the Company for Ms.
Kwong in relation to corporate secretarial matters is Mr. Lu Qingguo, the
Board Secretary and the General Counsel of the Company.

Ms. Kwong Yin Pang Yvonne, being the Company Secretary, has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training
requirements during the year ended 31st December 2015.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

Senior management remuneration by band
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BREE A B

BARNBS 2RREEASHE
Mo :

Number of individuals

N -

2015
—E-RE

Nil to HKD 1,000,000

£ 21,000,000 7T

HKD 1,000,000 to HKD2,000,000
1,000,000/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
HKD2,000,000 to HKD3,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T % 3,000,000 7T

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal control
systems for the Group to safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’
interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’ effectiveness. The Board
conducts review of the Company’s internal control systems periodically,
covering financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. In such review, the Board has considered factors such as changes
since the last review; scope and quality of management’s monitoring of
risks; incidence of significant control failings and weaknesses identified; and
effectiveness relating to financial reporting and compliance with the Listing
Rules.

On 28th December 2015, the Company adopted the new terms of reference
of the Audit Committee in accordance with the amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report made by the Stock
Exchange, which is applicable to the accounting period beginning from 1st
January 2016. In addition, the Company set up a Group Audit Department in
order to enhance the internal control and risk management of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company discloses all necessary information to the shareholders
incompliance with the Listing Rules. The Directors host the annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders of the Company and answer
their enquiries (if any). The Directors make efforts to attend annual general
meetings so that they may answer any question raised by the shareholders of
the Company.

There is no significant change in the memorandum of association and articles
of association of the Company during the year ended 31st December 2015.
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Corporate Governance Report
S/
PRERRE

The proceedings of the annual general meetings are reviewed from time
to time to ensure the Company conforms to the best practices regarding
corporate governance.

The Company also communicates with its shareholders through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The directors, company secretary or other
appropriate members of senior management also respond to inquiries from
shareholders and investors promptly.

A Shareholders communication policy was reviewed and updated on 20th
March 2012 to comply with code provision E.1.4 of the Code.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Investor Relations Department of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Tower B, Jingyi Technical Building
No.9 Dazhongsi East Road
Haidian District

Beijing 100098

The People’s Republic of China
Email: ir@hcgroup.com

Tel No: (8610) 6229 8811

Fax No: (8610) 6229 8877

Investor Relations Department of the Company handles both telephone and
written enquiries from Shareholders from time to time.

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board and/or
relevant Board Committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the Shareholders’ questions.

Procedures for putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Board may whenever
it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other than a
Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors
for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting
unless a Notice signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given
of his intention to propose such person for election and also a Notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the Registration Office provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such Notice(s) are given, shall be
at least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgement of such Notice(s)shall
commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
is posted on the Company’s website at http://www.hcgroup.com.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AV

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HC INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HC International,
Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 95 to 228, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December
2015, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
PNV S G

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
31st December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ATIN=E ChE

Forthe year ended 31st December 2015 #HZE—ZT—RF+-A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—Z2—-HF —ZT—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Revenue SHEWA 5 916,138 966,637
Cost of revenue SHE A 32 (95,513) (72,433)
Gross profit EF 820,625 894,204
Other income H A 31 4,374 9,706
Selling and marketing expenses HENTIGHEESER 32 (598,874) (530,578)
Administrative expenses 1THER 32 (198,226) (179,396)
Operating profit SR T 27,899 193,936
Finance income B 35 43,376 31,779
Finance cost B 5K AN 35 (47,802) (4,951)
Share of post-tax losses of associates DEEE R EIRTEER 13 (2,102) (477)
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures DMEAZ N BIRTE SR 13 11,955 801
Profit before income tax ¥R PS5 Al A 33,326 221,088
Income tax expense FriS Bl 36 (10,268) (37,827)
Profit for the year REZ @A 23,058 183,261
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hizmh A (EE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss ﬂ B R Em A
Fair value gain on available-for-sale At EsmEEAN FEKS

financial assets 21 158,283 16,067
Currency translation differences EEN =R 21 (17,808) 2,355
Total comprehensive income for the year, REEEEMALRE

net of tax HERTIE 163,533 201,683
Profit attributable to: TAATREME R :
Equity holders of the Company RARE=RFEA 52,552 187,633
Non-controlling interests JEPE R RS (29,494) (4,372)

23,058 183,261

Total comprehensive income attributable to: THALEEZEEAEEE :

Equity holders of the Company RABIEZRFEAA 193,027 206,055
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A (29,494) (4,372)
163,533 201,683
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

aptiralmR

For the year ended 31st December 2015 #HE-ZT—HF+-_A=+—HItFE

Earnings per share attributable to the equity AArE=FE ARESR
holders of the Company (expressed in A (ABRAREIE)
RMB per share)

2015
—Z2—-HF

RMB’000
ARETT

2014
—ZT—OF

RMB’000
ARETT

Basic earnings per share FIREAR G 37 0.0696 0.2833
Diluted earnings per share GRREE = A 37 0.0679 0.2729

The notes on pages 101 to 228 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

aFIBERIR

As at 31st December 2015 RZ-_ZT—AF+_A=+—H

2015 2014

—Z2—-HF —ZT—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Land use rights b fE RAE 6 176,145 180,882
Investment properties HEMZE 7 510,551 194,974
Properties under development BRPYE 8 - 359,415
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MR E 9 291,073 296,052
Intangible assets mEEE 10 1,461,722 105,687
Long term deposits, prepayments and RS - BAZRBEREM
other receivables FE U FRI8 11 74,989 92,649
Non-current portion of finance leases REMESRWTIE
receivables JEMENELR S 17 24,000 =
Deferred income tax assets BIEFSHEE 29 17,271 4,452
Investments accounted for RAEREYIRZIE
using equity method 13 518,716 316,363
Available-for-sale financial assets At HESEE 15 421,690 174,267
Financial asset at fair value through LAVAFERT 2 BEHEB)F A
profit and loss HEHEENEREE 14 5,100 -
3,501,257 1,724,741
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development YL ES 8 670,683 -
Direct selling costs EEIEERA 16 105,316 113,746
Current portion of finance leases receivables mERERIKGIE 2 REE D 17 68,846 -
Deposits, prepayments and e FBNFIEREM
other receivables R T IE 11 435,372 57,467
Trade receivables FEUBRE R 11 111,794 31,692
Inventories FE 18 3,073 520
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 19 790,701 1,321,989
2,185,785 1,525,414
Total assets HmEE 5,687,042 3,250,155
Equity e
Equity attributable to the Company’s ARTEREEAEMER
equity holders
Share capital &N 20 85,090 66,465
Other reserves E b 21 1,976,484 741,008
Retained earnings pealgas 405,359 352,807
2,466,933 1,160,280
Non-controlling interests FEER S 132,013 154,887
Total equity R 2,598,946 1,315,167
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(SN A AL AV

As at 31st December 2015 WZ-ZT—AF+_-_A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Liabilities af&
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Non-current portion of finance lease obligations E&EMHE & EZ IEREN B 23 249 979
Non-current portion of bank borrowings IRITEE 2 IERBNZB 27 20,000 32,766
Non-current portion of other borrowings HifEE 2 IERBNIL 27 26,597 8,373
Deferred government grants R IE U 6 B 25 195,048 206,300
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFETAE 29 148,131 23,987
Receipt in advance TEURIE 24 53,237 519,532
Issued convertible bonds — liability portion BEITAIMRES - 8RS 28 600,225 553,956
1,043,487 1,345,893
Current liabilities REBEE
Current portion of finance lease obligations MEREBBEZ REE D 23 734 1,175
Trade payables FETERR 26 3,618 2,988
Accrued expenses and other payables fETE BB I HAh fE St 08 26 148,935 72,782
Deferred revenue B A 26 267,154 371,747
Current portion of bank borrowings HRITIEE ZREE 5 27 479,760 90,000
Current portion of other borrowings HEMEEZ RS 27 952 8,525
Deferred government grants IR IE U 468 B 25 7,898 -
Receipt in advance TEURIE 24 1,088,866 -
Other taxes payables Hth fE L TE 30 23,271 15,357
Income tax payables FESIPTISE 30 23,421 26,521
2,044,609 589,095
Total liabilities PG =R 3,088,096 1,934,988
Total equity and liabilities BEZKEE 5,687,042 3,250,155

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 228 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf.

GUO lJiang
Director

Lipa
EF

The notes on pages 101 to 228 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
S E

Forthe year ended 31st December 2015 #HZE—ZT—RF+-A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to the Company's

equitgﬁholders
KAFRGHE AL \
on-
Share Other  Retained controlling
capital reserves  Earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Ra  Hth@EE  ERkE PNt FERER Ehy
1)
RMB'000 0  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTT ARMTT AR%TR ARBTT ARMTR
Balance at 1st January 2014 Z—NE-f— 65,865 666,239 165,174 897,278 113,19 1,010,474
Comprehensive income l&
Profit for the year Mr bl - = 187,633 187,633 (4372) 183,261
Other comprehensive income Hitt2ERA
Fair value gain on available-for-sale Tﬁiﬂjﬁéﬂﬁéz NFHE
financial assets, net of deferred tax Wig o MR 21 - 16,067 - 16,067 - 16,067
Currency translation differences REERZR 21 - 2,355 - 2,355 = 2,355
Total comprehensive income FEMALE - 18,422 187,633 206,055 @,372) 201,683
Transactions with owners HERREARTZRE
Shares purchased under share award scheme BB 5B Jrilj 8 /\Zﬂxf’\ 21 = (30,848) = (30,848) = (30,848)
Convertible bond - equity component R EE-EEED - 50,858 - 50,858 - 50,858
Share based compensation - value of IR 2 BE—EE R
employee services A 21 - 29,912 - 29,912 - 29,912
Exercise of share options e 20,21 600 6,353 - 6,953 - 6,953
Non-controlling interests arising on business %i’“%}}?;iZiH frigss
combination - - - - 45,965 45,965
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries ~ TEHAEZHEL TAF
without change of control BEERERED 2 - 72 - 72 9% 170
Total transactions with owners BRSHEAETIRFEE 600 56,347 - 56,947 46,063 103,010
Balance at 31st December 2014 RZE—-mF
JF A=+-Bfs 66,465 741,008 352,807 1,160,280 154,887 1,315,167
Balance at 1t January 2015 RZZ-RE-A-B&H 66,465 741,008 352,807 1,160,280 154,887 1,315,167
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit for the year REFRA - - 52,552 52,552 (29,494) 23,058
Other comprehensive income H2EBA
Fair value gain on available-for-sale AR EeRERE N TE
financial assets, net of deferred tax g MRS 21 - 158283 - 158283 - 158283
Currency translation differences ERERER 21 - (17,808) - (17,808) - (17,808)
Total comprehensive income FENNEE - 140,475 52,552 193,027 (29,494) 163,533
Transactions with owners BEREAARTIRS
Issuance of new shares BTG 18417 1,063,819 - 1,082,236 - 1,082,236
Share based compensation - value of ARt %12 E - EE R
employee services EE 21 - 29,231 - 29,231 - 29,231
Exercise of share options TEHRE 20, 21 208 1,951 - 2,159 - 2,159
Contribution from non-controlling interests FENEDTE - - - - 6,620 6,620
Total transactions with owners BRESHEAETIRFER 18,625 1,095,001 - 1,113,626 6,620 1,120,246
Balance at 31st December 2015 RZZ-1%
+ZA=+—-B&H% 85,090 1,976,484 405359 2,466,933 132,013 2,598,946

The notes on pages 101 to 228 are an integral part of these consolidated — £5101E228E 2 it A& HrE B ¥RaE 2 BEEE
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Vfﬁimb %

For the year ended 31st December 2015 #HZE—-F

=i A=A = Bl

2015
—E-EfF
RMB’000
ARET T

Note
Htat

Cash flows from operating activities REXBCRERE
Cash generated from operations REEEZRE 39(@a) 235,607 503,531
Interest received BUF B 43,515 31,779
Interest paid ERFLE (34,064) (991)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") B EAREFE(THE])

income tax paid FTiS#i (35,928) (36,689)
Net cash generated from operating activities & ¥TEEL VB FE 209,130 497,630
Cash flows from investing activities RETHZEESRE
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of Wl A A (HBR

cash acquired BARNES) (439,752) (85,379)
Additions of property, plant and equipment REME - BEMEE (25,172) (87,914)
Additions of intangible assets NEEREE (1) (408)
Additions of investment properties NBIEYE (311,268) (151,147)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - BiE REE

equipment Fr8 5838 39(b) 2,195 820
Loans to an associate i \/TA% B=NS| (20,800) (20,800)
Loans to employees ENTEE = (27,580)
Loans to a joint venture EXTF—HEAERAA (200,000) -
Loans to third parties ERTFE=S (105,000) -
Loan repayment received from third parties and B UE= RKEEEEER

employees 21,187 28,868
Investment in available-for-sale financial assets R At HESRIEEZRE 15 (57,900) (155,025)
Investment in associates N l/NC T 13 (62,500) (26,000)
Investment in a joint venture R—EaERRZRE 13 (130,000) (270,039)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBTA IR EFEE (1,329,011) (794,604)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEBH2ESRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BITHAR D P15 50E 222,434 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEERSHIE 501,235 123,553
Proceeds from other borrowings HEMfEEmSHRIE 9,120 2,334
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds é’éﬁﬂ@ﬂﬂ;%ﬁﬁﬁ%{lﬁ - 600,748
Purchase of shares under share award scheme  iR{ER% D EZENETEIE A Z %D - (30,848)
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBIRITEE (125,000) (25,626)
Repayment of other borrowings EBREMESE (40,000) (85,943)
Capital contribution from non-controlling P A

interests 6,620 170
Exercise of share options 1T{E RSN AE 2,159 6,953
Repayments for finance lease obligations BEpEHEARE (1,171) (2,064)
Additions of finance lease obligations R EREaE - 2,136
Net cash generated from financing activities MEEHEA RS FEE 575,397 591,413
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash iﬁ%&ﬁ%%fﬁ%‘?%

equivalents W), #Ehn (544,484) 294,439
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning Fi%ﬂZﬁ@&iﬁ@%{g%

of the year 1,321,989 1,025,089
Exchange (loss)/gain on cash and ReERRSEBY CER

cash equivalents (E18), W 13,196 2,461
Cash and cash equivalents at REKAZEER

end of the year HeZEY 790,701 1,321,989

The notes on pages 101 to 228 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The core business of the Group is to organise a business-to-business
(“B2B") community across China by providing business information
through both online and offline channels.

The Group is principally engaged in the following activities in China:

—  Providing industrial search result prioritising services through its
B2B website “hc360.com” and offering comprehensive IT-related
product information by “zol.com.cn”;

—  Publishing its own trade catalogues and yellow page directories;

—  Hosting exhibitions and seminar;

—  Providing anti-counterfeiting products and services to enterprises;

—  Providing lease financing services;

- Engaging in micro-credit internet financing business through its
joint venture;

In the process of constructing 020 business exhibition centres

During the year ended 31st December 2015, the Group completed the
acquisition of Orange Triangle Inc.. The acquiree operates a domestically
leading IT vertical portals (“www.zol.com.cn”) which offers information
on product reviews and specifications regarding consumer electronics to
the internet consumer users and integrated marketing solutions to the
business users in the PRC.

On 25th September 2015, the Group established Huicong Finance
Leasing Company Limited (“Huicong Finance Leasing”) in Tianjin, the
PRC. The Board considers the establishment of Huicong Finance Leasing
shall be of a great assistance to the development of the internet finance
sector of the Company, together with the Company’s current business
operations, Huicong Finance Leasing shall provide its customers with
multiple solution services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HITRERMITE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

As at 31st December 2015, the 020 business exhibition centre (“the
business exhibition centre”) was under development and a substantial
amount of construction cost had been incurred.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is 4th Floor, One Capital
Place, P.O. Box 847, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands,
British West Indies. The Company has its primary listing on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 10th October 2014.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHEE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) WHEE )

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

New and amended standards have been issued and effective

for the financial year beginning 1st January 2015

HKAS19 (Amendment) Defined benefit plans: employee
contributions

Annual improvements project  Annual improvements 2010-2012
cycle

Annual improvements project ~ Annual improvements 2011-2013
cycle

There are no HKFRSs or HK(IFRIC) interpretations that are effective
for the first time for the financial period beginning on 1st January
2015 that would have a material impact on the Group.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of
the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into
operation during the financial year, as a result, there are changes
to presentation and disclosures of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)
New and amended standards have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning 1st January 2015

and have not been early adopted

HKFRS 14
BRM B IS ERIE 145

HKFRS 11 (Amendment)
AR HERELEAE115RUERTA)

HKAS 1
BAGEUNRIR

HKAS 16, 38 (Amendment)

BB a RIS 1657 K 53857
(ERTA)

HKAS 16, 41 (Amendment)
BB EFERIE 1657 R E4157
(f&5T4)

HKAS 27 gAmendment)
BAGFERIFE275 (BT AN)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(Amendment)

BB IR ZERIZE 1055 -
AR EERE 125 K%
ARG ERE 285 (IERTA)

HKFRS 10, HKAS 28 (Amendment)

EBHBWEERE105 R
ARG ERE 285 (18R] A)

HKAS 27 (Amendment)

BB GFERIFE275 (BT AN)

Annual improvements projects

FEM#EIRE

HKFRS 15
BAMGREEAH 155
HKFRS 9

BB HRERERF I

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its results of

operations and financial position.
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Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation
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Agriculture: bearer Plants
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Equity method in separate financial statements

BB P A

Investment entities: applying the consolidation
exception
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Sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to
31st December.

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group has control
over entities when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entities and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquire that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present ownership
interest’s proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’'s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date, any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured,
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement. (Note 2(i))

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change
of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
— that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value
of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

(iii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group's investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Consolidation (Continued) (b) #HE®@®)
(iii) Associates (Continued) (i) BERF(E)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit of investments
accounted for using equity method’ in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Consolidation (Continued)
(iv) Joint arrangements
The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangement are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounting for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. The Group's investments in joint
venture include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon
the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture,
any difference between the cost of the joint venture and
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounting for as goodwill.
When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed when necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(c) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who review the Group internal
report in order to assess performance and allocate resources, has
been identified as the executive directors who make strategic
decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (d) sl

(i)  Functional and presentation currency (i) DEERZFHEH
Items included in the financial statements of each of the AEBEER VBRI AEER
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the B DRZEREEMETELRE
primary economic environment in which the entity operates BRE2EE(( g DFE -4
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial HEUBHREAARE(TARE])Z
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). Hong Kong B o BILERBRRRZINEEEE o
Dollars is regarded as the Company’s functional currency.

(i) Transactions and balances (i) XBRAEE
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the INERZR BIER 5 R RERSIER
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at BFFEMERRCERRERD
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re- BEEE  HARERHEERIEFHE
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from BZEXRELINEGEZ BB E
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation ERBEMEEINERR B
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities BHREHEE RS RIER -
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Foreign exchange gains or losses that related to borrowings FHREERReRASZEEW I
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the I KB m RN A iR e lam®
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within [ U AR | o E 2 E A0
‘finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains BSIE BRI A IR amx -
or losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
Change in the fair value of debt securities denominated in MBS EE DB RAIHEENE
foreign currency classified as available for sale are analysed BREFOHNTEEZY  ZBEEHN
between translation differences resulting from the changes BEKAEBARZELFETED
in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in Hib B EFTELEMEN Z58ETD
the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences o EEHR AR ERANEN =
related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in BEREMEE R RER - MEE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and B HYE fh B B pO Ho M 2 TE U A A 1
other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other R e
comprehensive income.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and FEEEeMEELBREWIINER
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit FEFFABEOER) MRS ETEE
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair RO R EREIEERERP
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary TR o FEWMSREE (FIMD R
financial assets, such as equities classified as available for sale, A HEENER)HREEETA
are included in other comprehensive income. HEfh2mEEA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iiij) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

(e) Land use rights

(f)

Land use rights are recorded at cost less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land use
rights are amortised using the straight-line method over their lease
terms from 40 to 50 years.

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land
and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also
includes properties that are being constructed or developed for
future use as investment properties. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at carrying values, representing cost less
depreciation and impairment provision. Depreciation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives of 40 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Properties under development
Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value takes into account the
price ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable variable
selling expenses and anticipated cost to completion.

Development cost of property comprises construction costs, cost
of land use rights, borrowing costs, and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale. Properties under
development are classified as current assets unless those will not
be realised in one normal operating cycle.

(h) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings, computer
and telecommunications equipment, fixtures, fittings and office
equipment, leasehold improvements and motor vehicles, are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Motor vehicles classified as finance lease commences depreciation
from the time when the assets become available for its intended
use. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over its estimated useful lives, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements

HEMEERE

Buildings

B'F

Computer and telecommunications equipment
TR BB

Fixtures, fittings and office equipment

RE - RERPAERME

Motor vehicles

T

1 1 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position
date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less
impairment losses, if any. No provision for depreciation is made
on assets under construction in progress until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and available for their intended use.
On completion, the relevant assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represented the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE s

POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Intangible assets (Continued) (i) BEREE®

(ii) Contractual customer/distributor relationship (i) BHEF  7HEEFE
Contractual customer/distributor relationships acquired REBEHRBWEZENER /5D
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at HEERZKERR AT ERE
the acquisition date. The contractual customer/distributor R BHNER/DEEBEERS
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less P BT {55 FR 4F B SR K AN R R AT 8
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using FIEE - B EGEEERE, /D
the straight-line method from eight to seventeen years over MR B FRIBEANEZET L
the expected life of the customer/distributor relationship. F5HE -

(iii) Patents (i) ZEF
Separately acquired patents are shown at historical cost. B E 2 B IRE LK AET]
Patents acquired in a business combination are recognised T o EIEEPRTIS 2 SR A M
at fair value at the acquisition date. The patents have a AER AT ERR - EFBHRA
finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated ERFH - W AR 25 #H5
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line IR - M EREKEFR 2 BEHE
method of eight years over the expected life of the patents. RFRD R N\FiE -

(iv) Trade name/domain name (iv) &% 3%
Trade name/domain name acquired in a business combination ERAOATIRE Z A E R
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trade EHER AT ERR - B HE
name/domain name have a finite useful life and are carried at BERAMEAEE - WEKARR
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated STHEHIIER - BMEHAERERE
using the straight-line method of fifteen years over the S BEZEAERFH ® A
expected life of the Trade name/domain name. THREHE -

(v) Software licences (v) EtfaFa®
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on FiT U5 f 8 B X 1 FF AT RE AR B AR
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to their RBErESHEBRTERAGEELEZ
intended use. These costs are amortised over their estimated FRABFRAER o ZEAREMET
useful lives of five years. FRFERFRT A -

(vi) Data library (i) EBEXE
Costs incurred on acquiring the data library are recognised L B R B B A 2 AN A B B BT
as an intangible asset where the technical feasibility has been AfTME - ARB RN ESEA
demonstrated, and there is an ability to sell or to use the A BEEE A R SRAS B R 28 2 B E WS HE
assets that will generate probable future economic benefits. RRBVEE - ZWEKERERR
Such acquisition cost is recognised as an asset and amortised —IEEE - WAEBER +FEf
on a straight-line basis over a period of ten years to reflect WEHE - AR RESR AR A A 2
the pattern in which the related economic benefits are IR o
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables
and available-for-sales financial assets. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loan and receivables
comprise “trade and other receivables”, “amount due from related
company” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B FTRHRRAE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) EWMEE®)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the
investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘Other
(losses)/gains — net’ in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement as part of other income when
the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available for sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired,
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
“gains and losses from available for sale assets”.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-
sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as part of other income when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforce right must
not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

(m) Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using
an observable market price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the
criteria referred to assets carried at amortised cost.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the
assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity
and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on equity
instruments are not reversed through the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials and other direct costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

Direct selling costs

Direct selling costs, which principally are comprised of sales
commissions and agency fees paid in respect of subscription
revenue received in advance, are deferred and are charged ratably
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the term of the respective service contracts when the services are
rendered.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(®

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes)
is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net
of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

1 20 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(®

(u)

(v)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group companies
convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the
option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does
not vary with changes in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is
recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does
not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the
compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of
the liability component, which is included in shareholders’ equity
in other reserves. Any directly attributable transaction costs are
allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to
their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component of a
compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent to
initial recognition except on conversion or expiry.

The liability component of a convertible instrument is classified
as current unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

2 FESHHEBEw

(t)

(u)

(v)

R C )
%#$EIE%E%#%E%%QE%L

EREPEE 12  TABES
m mﬁm@am

BERA

Wi ERAEEFTE —BEERTER
REMGHHECAEREBERREHRZ
—MREEFEEERS CRABENMEER
BEKRAZ 8D EEZBEEAHLER
EREMREHREEZH /L - AAEEME
ERARELREES s ek + 0

FEEEZ ERRERRZBRERALER
HTRANGEREER - TARERERE
RZIEERAPE -

B4emIA
AEBEARBTIEASRITABIETR
BB E NI AR Y TR - ﬁ
¥ F BT 2 RIDE B R R A TEES
e o

@Aﬁﬂiﬁzaij DR ARN FE N

B RUBEBEZATERR &
mﬂ SHIRES SR T A BRENF(E R
ﬁ%i““$EM%ﬁm%ﬁ2k$%
A ZERBEHER - (T EEEER
K&%F&%ﬁ%ﬁmﬁ%@ﬁZﬁ%“
MRz & & R o

TEHERE - EAERTEZAGEROH
BN EIZB IR A E - BRIFER
BRI DA TAZ#ERAD
EETER R N BENE

MRIEREE B I%ﬁﬂ%ffﬁ%%ﬁ H iR
EE=HEREED12M@EAR - [RIA AR
TEZBEDH H—!%BZ %EZ%//\L@E\ g °

smaamad 2015555 12



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity
directly, respectively.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries where
the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(ii) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent

that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

1 2 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control
the reversal of the temporary difference for associates. Only
where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

(x) Employee benefits
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(i)

Retirement benefit costs

The full-time employees of the Group are covered by various
government-sponsored pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension based on certain
formulas.

The relevant government agencies are responsible for the
pension liabilities to these retired employees. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions made.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BT ERR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled within 12
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity settled, share-based compensation
plans. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.

Under the Share Award Scheme, the directors and certain
employees of the Group are entitled to receive shares in
the Company. The shares held under trust by a financial
institution (“Trustee"”) for the benefit of the director and
employees, would be paid and the paid up consideration
would be capitalised in the Company’s reserves. The Trustee
has been instructed to buy shares from the market using the
funds held by the Trustee to grant shares to the director and
employees.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme
under which options may be granted to subscribe for the
Company’s shares.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the share options and shares awarded is
recognised as an expense.

1 24 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period
is determined by reference to the fair value of the share
options and shares granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of shares or share
options that are expected to vest. The total amount expensed
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At each statement of financial position date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of shares or share
options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of
withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after statement of financial
position date are discounted to present value.

(y) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ORI M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Provisions (Continued)
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(z) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services stated net of value
added taxes, in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised as follows:

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Advertising income from internet portals, trade catalogues, yellow
page directories and printed periodicals is recognised on the date
of publication.

Subscription fee income from online services is recognised over the
period of contracts entered with the customers. The unrecognised
portions of contract sum are recognised as deferred revenue.

Revenue from the hosting of trade exhibitions and business
seminars is recognised upon conclusion of the exhibitions or
seminars.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, using the
effective interest method.

Revenue from anti-counterfeiting products are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer; the customer
has accepted the products and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

1 2 6 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FE®HBEHE s

POLICIES (Continued)
(2) SHEWARER@®)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from anti-counterfeiting services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference
to stage of completion of the specific transaction and assessed on
the basis of actual services provided as a proportion of the total
service to be provided.

Finance lease income attributable to finance leases is recognised
over the lease term on a systematic and rational basis so as to
produce a constant rate of return on the net investment in the
finance lease.

(aa) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

(I) Finance lease - as a lessee

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net
of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
lease period so as to produce a constant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter
of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) HE @)

(aa) Leases (Continued)

(ll) Finance lease - as a lessor
When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present
value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The
difference between the gross receivable and the present value
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income.

The method for allocating gross earnings to accounting
periods is referred to a as the ‘actuarial method’. The
actuarial method allocates rentals between finance income
and repayment of capital in each accounting period in such
a way that finance income will emerge as a constant rate of
return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease.

(ab) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values
when there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
within “other income” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

(ac) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

(ad) Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised in respect of the
financial guarantee provided by the Group to the banks for
property purchasers.

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee liabilities. After initial recognition, such
liabilities are measured at the higher of the present value of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation of fees recognised.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the balance
sheet when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged or cancelled or expired.

1 28 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EHIFRERMITE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BERERE
3.1 BIKEREE

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central finance department
(the “Finance Department”) headed by the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units to cope with overall risk management as well as specific areas
such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
majority of its transactions are denominated in the
functional currencies of the respective entities. The
Group has no material foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities and does not have material
exposure on foreign exchange risk.

(i) Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent from changes in market
interest rates and the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for fixed deposit categorised
in “cash and cash equivalents”, loan to third parties,
an associate, an joint venture and the employees
categorised in “other receivables”, details of which have
been disclosed in Notes 11 and 19.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest rates is
also attributable to its borrowings, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 27. Borrowings carry at fixed
rates expose the Group to low fair value interest-rate
risk.

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate risk to
ensure there are no undue exposures to significant
interest rate movements and regular reporting is
provided to the management for the Group’s debt and
interest rates exposure.

ARBEL G DERSEUHAR -
745 R (SN R B A ()
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BRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIERMEE®

3.1 BIKEBEZE®)
(b) =E@EE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The Group’s credit
risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, as well as
credit exposures to trade and other receivables and amount
due from a related company. The finance department has
policies in place to monitor the exposures to these credit risks
on an on-going basis.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that provision
of services is made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of
its customers.

For balance with a loan to a third party and the employees,
management assesses the recoverability of the balances
taking into account the history of default of these companies
and the employees, and their financial performance.

The table below shows the cash and cash equivalents held by
different type of financial institutions at statement of financial
position date.

EERBRIIRERERE - REE 2z
EERREIERERERRESEE
W) DA T JRE W R R e At JE LK R IR
Ko ek — R A A RIFRIE - BATS B
EEBEKRE A EERAER
ZHEEERR

REE D REUE E BER R R TY
MEARFEESHZIETPER] - M
REB RS EE P ETEHE AR
iy o

HRERTE=TTRIER €&
RIEZE REIREER 2 HRELEHR
PBRPEARE 2 ATHRIZE -

TREHN AR BB TSR
REAHYAKRE LIRS FED -

2015 2014
—E-HF —Z—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT

Cash at banks and bank deposits RITIR® RIBITFR
Listed financial institutions e rEE 697,073 1,084,686
Unlisted financial institutions JE LTS RIEE 93,527 235,941
Cash on hand EFRE 101 1,362
Total “aEt 790,701 1,321,989
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining
sufficient cash from operating activities.

As at 31st December 2015, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group approximated RMB790,701,000 (2014
RMB1,321,989,000).

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period from the statement of financial position date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
1 year

1R
RMB’000

ARETT

At 31st December 2015 N-B-FE

3 BIRRMEEG:

3.1 BKEBEE®

() FBESERE
ARERES S BHYE  AEE
BRECLEBPEHRARS I
BEESBEM -

Between
1and 2
years
1226
RMB'000
ARETT

R=ZT—

AE+-A=+—H &

EEESRREEEMHNAARE
790,701,000t (ZE—M4E : AR
#1,321,989,0007T) °

TRBREBEMBARKBAEZEHE
HAZHTHEBAEESRAE
AR BAR DT - RERPRE
ZERDNBHFRRRERE -

Between
2and 5
years
2Z5F
RMB'000
ARETT

Over 5
years
S5FHUE @
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT

+=A=+-8
Trade payables JERF BRI 3,618 - - - 3,618
Accrued expenses and FEEH B R R HAh
other payables FE A 116,098 - - - 116,098
Finance lease obligations MEHEEE 833 263 - - 1,096
Borrowings BE 501,503 29,676 18,639 - 549,818
Convertible bonds AR ES 32,673 32,673 571,785 - 637,131
At 31st December 2014 RAZ=-Z—N4F
+=ZA=+-H
Trade payables FERF BRI 2,988 - - - 2,988
Accrued expenses and e R K HoAh
other payables AN 61,844 - - - 61,844
Finance lease obligations MEHREERE 1,432 833 263 - 2,528
Borrowings BE 106,393 33,422 9,830 - 149,645
Convertible bonds AR ES 30,767 30,767 569,191 - 630,725
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table above excludes the amount of guarantees given to
banks for mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of
the Group's properties as the directors consider the likelihood
of default in payments by the purchasers is minimal. As at 31
December 2015, the amount of outstanding guarantees for
mortgages were approximately RMB461,066,000 (2014: RMB
RMB323,209,000).

Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance
of the real estate ownership certificate which will generally
be available within an average period of one to two years
upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii) the
full repayment of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of
properties.

3.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may

adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

1 3 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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BTSRRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

B RERERE

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including issued convertible bonds)
and finance lease obligations less cash and cash equivalents.
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debt. Accordingly, the

gearing ratios at 31st December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

3.2

EXRERERE®)
AEBRBEABBEL RERHEN
IR TRFERBR AR ENSE o F
BB ZAE R EAGRER(BIEBET
ARREF) RBEHERENRES R
REFEY - BEARZTE T ERBI#
&= | (RE M BARNR RS R) INFER ©
it R —RFR=-FT—WF+=A
=+—HAZEAEBLERNAT :

2015 2014

—Z2-HF —Z—OF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®¥T T AREETIT

Bank borrowings (Note 27) RITEE(HFE27) 499,760 122,766

Other borrowings (Note 27) HEMEE (HE27) 27,549 16,898

Finance lease obligation (Note 23) mEREs &(PIFE23) 983 2,154
Issued convertible bonds — liability portion BETrmRkES - afE

(Note 28) B4 (FfizE28) 600,225 553,956

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B RERREEEY

(MI3E19) (790,701) (1,321,989)

Net debt/(cash) FERS, GREF5E) 337,816 (626,215)

Total equity 2,598,946 1,315,167

Total capital 2,936,762 688,952

Gearing ratio BARAGLEE 12% N/A

TiEA
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

3.3

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above
balance required for working capital management are transferred
to interest bearing current accounts and time deposits, with
appropriate maturities to manage its overall liquidity position.
As at 31st December 2015, the Group maintains cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB790,701,000 (2014
RMB1,321,989,000), that are expected to be readily available to
meet the cash outflows of its financial liabilities.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and liabilities
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
finance lease receivables, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, borrowings and finance lease obligations and amount
due from a related company, approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair value as at 31st December 2015 and 2014 by level of inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

1 34 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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BTSRRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are at fair value at 31st December 2015 and 2014.

BEREEE )

3.3 AFEMET@E
TREINAEER T —AFR=_T—H
F+ZA=+—HBEAFEFEZCHE
EXEE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& E-®R F= B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETIT ARETRT ARET T
At 31 December 2014 R-Z—HF
+=-R=+-H
Available-for-sale financial HEESREE
assets 130,412 - 43,855 174,267
At 31 December 2015 R-Z—R%F
+=-R=+-H
Available-for-sale financial I ESREE
assets 329,137 - 92,553 421,690
Financial assets at fair value AR F(EFTEHEEH)
through profit and loss FTAEHIEER
SREE - - 5,100 5,100
329,137 - 97,653 426,790

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 3 and no other
changes in valuation techniques during the year.

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quote market prices at the statement of financial
position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, price services or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

FR - E-REE=REWEER &
BRI EEMEE -

(a) F-—RZELMITA
EERMSEEZEMTAZAY
BERBEFBRRAEX ARz T HRE
HEBUARKERRESRD
i - 48850~ 85 EAAL W
BRGHEEERENISRE - M
FEMERREATRZEELTT
ZEBRBEERTIZIHE - Zm5
R AR RmS
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BRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMBERBREE:
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 A EMAFE)
(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (b) E=RKZLHTA
The following table represents the changes in level 3 TREJMNHE=_ZT-—HFT=-A

instruments for the year ended 31st December 2015. =t BILFEF=HKIEZZ

Financial assets at Available-for

fair value through  -sale financial
profit and loss assets
BRAF A E
BRztlEE SREE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
Opening balance at 1st January R—R—HZE&EH - 43,855
Addition NE - 57,900
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 14) Wi —RIF A7 (Hi:T14) 6,600 -
Changes of fair value charged to RAEBHRAEMERTRZ
consolidated statement NHEEE)
of comprehensive income (1,500) -
Changes of fair value charged to REMEEBAINGR 2 A FEE
other comprehensive income - (9,202)
Closing balance at 31st December ~ R+ = A=+—BZFR&H 5,100 92,553

AEEPHHRE—ZEE - 8a&
MY BMESETHIBEZEREE
(BREF=F2DFE)HE - ZHE
BEENAREVBEREREZES
EH - RNAAREZFERES
B HEVBE BRZEGRM

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. This
team report directly to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and
the Audit Committee (AC). Discussion of valuation processes
and results are held between the CFO, AC and the valuation

team at least once before the reporting date of every quarter,
in line with the Group’s quarterly reporting dates.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group in estimating the
fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are the latest
unit selling price of the financial assets on an arm'’s length
basis and the market data of comparable companies.

For the estimation of the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss, please see Note 14 for details.

1 3 6 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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BT R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill is subjected to any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2(i). The recoverable amounts of cash generating unit has
been determined based on the value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates.

Useful lives of intangible assets

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment of the
useful lives of the intangible assets. In making its judgement,
management considers a wide range of factors such as the attrition
rates and obsolescence rates.

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment of the
collectability of trade and other receivables from each counter
party. In making its judgement, management considers a wide
range of factors such as results of following-up procedures
performed by sales personnel, counter parties’ payment record,
creditability and subsequent settlements.

Share-based payment

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment of the fair
value of the share-based payments. In making its judgment,
management considers a wide range of factors such as the share
price of the Group and the expected vesting number of share
options.

4 EERETHERER

HE RBRIIERBELB L EMEZMES
TR - B EERERmE B REAEL
BEBEEZTEA -

REBEFARRIEH At RBRR » IS gD
BEREDRARERGERER - X atw
FEEARBASH NEANRER2EELA
AEREEEREAAR 2 At RERR -

(a) fhsTRERIE
AEESFRBM 2002 &5 BER
W EETRERR - REEHBL 27
WESBHREEABENEET - 2%
SHETEREER A o

(b) BFEEZAIERAFH
R B A E 2 Pl E A FHREEHE
RHET - RELFIER - BBEZRE— &
HIAE MK ERIBRE o

() EWRERERE
REHEE R 58 F 2 IR R E bR
FRIE 2 ATUEl BV L B R T o PAE
HHETR - BEEZEZERERE - flanHE
EAEBRBZBERFER  RHIEF2Z
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(e) Taxes

®

The Group is subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for various
kinds of taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which such determination is made.

Fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions,
including the discount rates and fair value of the Company’s
shares, which are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of each reporting period. Changes in assumption used could
materially affect the fair value of these balances and as a result
affect the Group'’s financial condition and results of operation.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been identified as
the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors review the Group’s
internal report in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of profit/(loss) before income tax. This
measurement basis excludes the effect of finance income and cost, other
income, share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint ventures.

1 38 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued)

As at 31st December 2015, the Group is organised into the following
business segments:

(i)  Online services — provision of a reliable platform to customers to do
business and meet business partners online.

(i)  Trade catalogues and yellow page directories — provision of trade
information through trade catalogues and yellow page directories
operated/published by the Group.

(iiiy  Seminars and other services — services for hosting of seminars.

(iv) 020 business exhibition centre — sales of properties and provision
of property rental and management services.

(v)  Anti-counterfeiting products and services — provision of products
meticulous digital identity management services, consumer goods
tracing and anti-counterfeiting services to enterprise.

(iv)  Financing services — engaged in micro-credit internet financing
business and lease financing services in the PRC.

There were no sales or other transactions between the business
segments for the year ended 31st December 2015.

DEER =)
R-ZBE—RE+-_A=1+—H  KA&EER[H A
THIEBDED

() EBERE-RTPREHATETAERL
REEE R AEBEER -

(i) ITAXERMEABZ-FBAEEE
g MR TRHXEHRER BERHT
AEER -

(i) B NEMRS - e HERT -

(iv) O20BHEEEFL— NEMERRERYE
HENERRY -
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

5 2EER @)

Year ended 31st December 2015
BE-B-IE+t-A=t-HLEE

Trade
catalogues (0]0] Anti-
and yellow Seminars business  counterfeiting
Online page andothers  exhibiton productsand  Financing
services  directories services centre services services Total
B IB¥EH 23R 020/% BRER
k¥ RERR& HLthpRAs BEAD K% SRRE by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR AR¥Tn ARETrn AR%TRn ARBTT ARBTT AR¥T:R
Revenue HEEWA 733,309 18,251 109,364 - 55,168 46 916,138
Segment results DEEE 86,222 (8,784) 4,666 (49,974) (8,651) 46 23,525
Other income HilA - - - - - - 4,374
Share of post-tax losses BNl NG A
of associates BE (684) - - (1,389) (29 - (2102)
Share of post-tax profits of AMhaEAARE
joint ventures gl - - - - - 11,955 11,955
Finance income BIEIA - - - - - - 43,376
Finance cost BB - - - - - - (47,802)
Profit before income tax GBS AR 33,326
Other information: HEWER
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% Kk & i 41,007 694 5,800 407 6,324 - 54,232
Share based compensation IR RER 2
expense HER 23,00 774 4,639 284 492 - 29,231
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 2EER @)

Year ended 31st December 2014
B2 Z-ME+-R=t-HIt5E

Trade
catalogues 020 Anti-
and yellow Seminars business  counterfeiting
Online page  and others exhibition  products and Financing
Services directories S centre Services services
48 THEBH GE PriREmR
SEEEE: Efth R ; 2 SRR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR T ARETE
Revenue HERA 812,935 35,630 101,879 - 16,193 - 966,637
Segment results PEEE 215,072 (33,466) 13,141 (11,44) 925 = 184,230
Other income HipA - - - - - - 9,706
Share of post-tax losses of AMEBERFRE
associates BE - - - (477) - - (477)
Share of post-tax profits of joint ~~ 2EAZ R ARG &
ventures sl - - - - - 801 801
Finance income i tiUN - - - - - - 31,779
Finance cost BRI - - - - - - (4,951)
Profit before income tax BT HATER] 221,088
Other information: EfER
Depreciation and amortisation 472 &4 25,188 1,657 2,989 388 1,590 - 31,812
Share based compensation IR AERE .
expense BERX 25,115 1,103 3,654 14 26 - 29912
Provision for impairment of BRZERE
prepayments i 21,600 - - - - - 21,600
The Group is domiciled in the PRC. All the revenue were generated from AEEBEENRFE BE-_Z—RF+=A
external customers in the PRC for the year ended 31st December 2015 =T—RHILEFE - AEHERAHEREFEN
(2014: same). REF(ZZ—WF : R) °
As at 31st December 2015, the total non-current assets other than RZZ—hF+-A=1+—0 uirfRz
long term deposits, prepayments and other receivables, investments REFR - FENFREREMERRIE - £ H
accounted for using equity method, available-for-sale financial assets, BEEFIBRZ2IEE At EemEE - MU
financial assets at fair value through profit and losses and deferred tax AP EFELEEHFTAZHEENERE
assets located in the PRC is approximately RMB2,463,491,000 (2014: ENMBEEREAENINERBEERENS
RMB1,137,010,000), and the total of these non-current assets located in AR®2,463,491,0007T( =T —M0F : ARHE
other countries is Nil (2014 Nil). 1,137,010,0007T) » #Z S5 H A FIR 2 FER

PEERERT(ZT—MF ) -
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BT ERR MR

6 LAND USE RIGHTS 6 TiiFERARE
The Group’s interests in land use rights in the PRC represent prepaid REBE R B T (E R 2 s i R40E
operating lease payments with a lease period of 40 to 50 years and their S0F 2 FEMNKEEHERS - HERmFES TN
net book value is analysed as follows: T

2015 2014
—ZE-—ARF —T—mF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT

Opening net book amount FEYRREFE 180,882 185,619
Amortisation B (4,737) (4,737)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 176,145 180,882
Cost AN 193,665 193,665
Accumulated amortisation REHEE (5.312) (4,884)
Accumulated amortisation charge capitalised RIEYEE RN Z RET
in investment properties B (12,208) (7,899)
Closing net book amount FIRERERE 176,145 180,882
Amortisation of the Group’s land use rights is included in administrative REE i AR B A S HREIRER
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. ZATHERA -

2015 2014
—B-RF —F-mEF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AEBTT

Outside Hong Kong, held on: MEBLAIMNEE -
Leases of between 40 to 50 years THEAN T40E=504F 176,145 180,882
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BTSRRI

7

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

7 ®’REYE

2015 2014

—E-RfF —F-MmEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARBTFT

At 1st January R—H—H 194,974 39,518

Additions NE 304,675 145,814

Interest capitalised BERMERE 6,593 5,333
Amortisation charge capitalised in investment RIEEMEER b2

properties BT 4,309 4,309

At 31st December W+=—A=+—H 510,551 194,974

The investment properties are carried at cost. They are under
construction in progress as at 31st December 2015.

An independent valuation of the Group’s Investment properties was
performed by the valuer, Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited,
to determine the fair value of the investment properties (including
their related land use rights) amounted RMB1,025,000,000 as at 31st
December 2015 (2014: RMB792,000,000). Fair value of the investment
properties under development is derived using the residual method.
This valuation method is essentially a means of valuing the completed
properties by reference to its development potential by deducting
development costs together with developer’s profit and risk from
the estimated capital value of the proposed development assuming
completed as at the date of valuation.

Estimated costs to completion, developer’s profit and risk margins
required are estimated by valuer based on market conditions at 31st
December 2015 for the investment properties under development. The
estimates are largely consistent with the budgets developed internally
by the Group based on management'’s experience and knowledge of
market conditions. The higher the costs and the margins, the lower the
fair value.

The fair value is valued by independent professionally qualified valuer
who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location of the investment property valued.

ZERBEMELRRATE - A FREWEN=
T—AF+ A=+ BEEERP -

RNEBBEME 2 B G ERGEMRSETE
EFHEEMBRAFET  UBTREDWE
(PEEAETERRIR=_2—RF+=A
—+—HAzAFEARARY1,025000,0007T
(ZZ—m4F : AR®792,000,0007T) ° % E
R REMERNTETARSEATE - ILbE
FEBERZMEZEREEN BT EREY
MEZEENBE DBRZEETWER
HEBEXAERDEZEE  REZBEKE
REBEEZEF TR o

HEMRER -_Z-—AF+-A=+—Rzm
N RBERPZEMEGIERZ AR
NERz BEREZaNMERNE - R
FHEARERBERE 2 EREETNZ RE
i A EBHIE 2 TR 77 AT B » BA T F 3%
Bm - ATEARE -

NP ERBLEEAERMEEMETHE - Z
ﬁiﬁﬁﬂi?—iﬁﬁﬁ&WZJ—I*EPﬁ?%;ﬁT%jE%EFHME
REMEAERIIIGERR
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BRI

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 7 BREWHE®
The Group's finance department includes a team that review the REEMBHRE —ZEE  AEEHHEL
valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting HEMRTBEREREZGERS - ZBEKE
purpose. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO) ERERUNBEREZEZEGER -

and the audit committee (AC).

At each financial year-end, finance department MNEFHEFER - FTEED
e Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report; o BREBUMEREAMEEEH AL
e Assess property valuations movements when compared to the prior o FMEMEMEERTEMERS 2EE)

year valuation report;

e Holds discussion with the independent valuer. o HBVIHEMER o
8 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 8 BEDYE

2015 2014
—Z2—-HF —Z—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT

At 1st January n—HA—H 359,415 208,268
Additions NE 304,675 145,814
Interest capitalised BREFE 6,593 5,333
At 31st December R+—A=+—H 670,683 359,415
Properties under development comprise: BRPMESIE
Construction cost and other capitalised BRI A REME AR
expenditures Xz 482,643 177,968
Interest capitalised BEAREFE 15,699 9,106
Land use rights T R 172,341 172,341
Closing net book amount FIREEFE 670,683 359,415
Non-current IERE - 359,415
Current RE 670,683 -
670,683 359,415
The properties under development include cost of acquiring rights to use EEPYEDTEWES TRPEARLM
certain lands, which are located in the People’s Republic of China (“the ([HRE ) Sz (E A - AR E E BT
PRC"), for property development over a fixed period. Land use rights are KR KA o T ERREIRA0FHAIRE -

held on leases of 40 years.

The properties under development were completed as at 31 December BRANECREBEEZE-_Z—AF+_A=1+—
2015 and the expected final acceptance date will be within 2016. HET  JEHRTBRWBEEAER T — R EH
Mo
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BTSRRI

8 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued) 8

Approximate  Approximately ~ Approximate Interest
Site area number of GFA attributable ~ Stage of Anticipated
of property Location (sq.m.) carpark (sg.m) completion
i it 8 fri B %0k SEEGER  EUER
020 Business Exhibition Centre  The east of state road 105, Commercialioffice 43,965 19 190,380 3571%  Under 2016
Beijiao Town, Shunde, construction
Foshan, Guangdong
Province
Q0EERERL ERARLTIEEE BE/HiE jezda IERE
FEE0sEERE
Note ks
a)  This site area includes all the site areas of 020 business exhibition centre. a) HWEREESEO0FEREF ONMEM@mE -
9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 9 Y-  BMEKRRE
Computer Fixtures,
and telecom- fittings
Construction munications and office Leasehold Motor
in progress Buildings equipment equipment  improvements vehicles
= I TL < ﬁ‘1f JJt
BF f ‘ 8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETE  ARETR
At 1st January 2014 RZE-ME-A-A
Cost A 1,256 197,724 81,414 2,631 7480 31,920 342,425
Accumulated depreciation 2itiE - (39,354) (61,255) (13,117) (6,832) (7.281) (127,839)
Net book amount BEE 1,256 158,370 20,159 9,514 643 24,639 214,586
Year ended 31st December 2014  HZ_F-M%
TZA=T-ALEE
Opening net book amount YRR FE 1,256 158,370 20,159 9514 648 24,639 214,586
Acquisition (Note 14) Wi (Fra) - - 650 81 - 641 1372
Additions ME 1384 89,160 12,869 1,706 289 5,306 110,714
Disposals HE - - o 1) (14) (675) (734)
Transfers ik (2,640) 2,640 - - - - -
Depreciation (a) &) - (12,166) (7,090) (3,272 (688) (6,670) (29,886)
Closing net book amount FREMFE - 238,004 26,584 7,988 235 23,241 296,052
At 315t December 2014 R-Z-DmE
tZA=1-A
Cost A - 289,525 94,846 24,328 7,650 36,900 453,249
Accumulated depreciation gifig - (51,521) (68,262) (16,340) (7.415) (13,659  (157,197)
Net book amount FEFE - 238,004 26,584 7,988 235 23,241 296,052
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BRI

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Computer

and

telecom-

Construction munications
in progress Buildings  equipment

HRIE g
RMB'000  RMB'000

ERR
RMB'000

M MERKRE®

Fixtures,
fittings
and office Leasehold Motor
equipment  improvement vehicles Total
B £fR HENE
BARE % HE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR

Year ended 31st December 2015 HZ-Z-T1f

ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

TEEET=E

LEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE - 238,004 26,584 7,988 35 23241 296,052
Acquisition (Note 14) e (B3E14) - - 2,657 107 2,434 - 5,198
Additions HE 11,328 - 10,056 1,040 19 2,729 25172
Disposals e - - (55) (258) (13) (2,054) (2,380)
Transfers gz (11.328) 11,328 - - - - -
Depreciation (a) TEQ) - (12,418) (6,341) (3,176) (635) (7,085) (29,615)
Government grant received EUEFEY - - (3,354) - - - (3,354)
Closing net book amount FREREE - 236,914 29,547 5,701 2,040 16,871 291,073
At 31st December 2015 R-E-1F

+ZR=t-A
Cost WA - 300,853 87,275 23,534 8,328 32,986 452,976
Accumulated depreciation ZHNE - (63,939) (57,728) (17,833) (6,288) (16,115) (161,903)
Net book amount EREE - 236,914 29,547 5,701 2,040 16,871 291,073

(@) Depreciation of RMB6,291,000 (2014: RMB6,253,000) is included
in selling and marketing expenses; and RMB23,324,000 (2014:
RMB23,633,000) in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The motor vehicles include the following amounts where the Group is a
lessee under a finance lease.

(@) IEAREEG6,291,0007T( =T —FI4F : A
[R¥6,253,0007T) & A R #23,324,0007T
(Z=—W4F - AR®23,633,0007T) 7 7!
TAAHRERER ZHERTISHEEE
FAARITHERA -

AEFARBEHERTAEEBEABEAZ T
SR -

2015 2014
—E—FRF —T—UFE

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Cost PR AR 2,924 3,785
Accumulated depreciation 2t e (933) (755)
Net book amount BREFE 1,991 3,030
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 10 B EE
Customer
relationship Customer
(Direct sale  relationship Non-compete Software
Goodwill customer)  (Distribution) Patent  agreement  development  Data library
i EFBE EHE
BE  (EHEP) il ENEES e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETTE ARETR T ARBTT  ARETR
At 1st January 2014 W-E-mE-A-A
Cost A = = = = - 25,409 21,986 47,395
Accumulated amortisation 2T EER
and impairment HE = = = = = (25,404) (21,986) (47,390)
Net book amount RHFE = = - - - 5 - 5

Year ended 31st December ~ HZ=F-WE

2014 tZA=1-A
LEE
Opening net book amount ENEmTE - - - - - 5 - 5
Acquisitions (Note 14) e (Bi14) 50,314 24,300 20,600 11,100 270 188 - 106,772
Additions NE - - - - - 408 408
Amortisation (a) 20 - (759) (303) (347) (22) (67) - (1,498)
Closing net book amount FREREE 50,314 23,541 20,297 10,753 248 534 - 105,687

At 315t December 2014 i3

tzB=t-A
Cost R 50,314 24,300 20,600 11,100 270 26,798 - 133,382
Accumulated amortisation EHE 14
and impairment W - (759) (303) (347) 22) (26,264) - (27,699)
Net book value FEFE 50,314 23,541 20,297 10,753 248 534 - 105,687
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 10 BEFEEE®

Customer Trade name
relationship ~ Customer and
(Direct sale  relationship Non-compete  dominant  Software
Goodwill  customer) (Distribution) Patent  agreement name development  Data library

EFRE  EFER HE  ERiER
BE (EREF) (3R L id  IEER RARR BuR it
RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBO0O  RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO0D
ARRTR  ARRTR ARBTR ARMTn ARBTn ARBTn ARBTr ARMTR  ARMFR

At 1st January 2015 W-%-1f-5-A
Cost A& 50,314 24,300 20,600 11,100 270 - 26,798 - 133,382
Accurnulated amortisation ZHEHRAE

and impairment - (759) (303) (347) (22) - (26,264) - (27,695)
Net book amount EHAE 50,314 23,541 20,297 10,753 U8 - 534 - 105,687
Year ended HECZ-1f%

31st December 2015 tZR=t-BLEE
Qpening net book amount EEESE 50,314 54 20297 10,753 u8 - 534 - 105687
Acquisitions (Note 14) Yo (Rsk4) 980,247 299,000 - - - 91,958 1418 7600 1380213
Additions hE - - - - - - 1 - 1
Amortisation (a) 23) - (16,629) (1212) (1,387) (90) (3,083) (521) (1,267) (24,189)
Closing net book amount ERERIE 1,030,561 305,912 19,085 9,366 158 88,875 1432 6333 1461722
At 31t December 2015 RoE-1f

tZA=1-A

Cost i 1,030,561 323,300 20,600 11,100 210 92,000 28219 7600 1,513,650
Accumulated amortisation ZHEHRAE

and impairment - (17,388) (1,515) (1,734) (112) (3,125) (26,787) (1,267) (51,928)
Net hook value FRsE 1,030,561 305,912 19,085 9,366 158 88,875 1432 6333 1461722

(a) Amortisation of intangible assets is included in administrative (a) BEEBEZEHETASHGERERZIT
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. HERANA -
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill

Management reviews the business performance based on type of
business. Goodwill are allocated to two of the Group’s cash generating
units ("CGU") identified which is the business of providing anti-
counterfeiting products and services to enterprise; and the online service
business of ZOL in the PRC. Goodwill is monitored by the management

10 EFEEE®

EERERRE

EREEREBRUENEGRA - BEHR
FTASERECHRZRSELEM([ReE
EB])  ZRSEERMARREMEER
(D PR R AR DA B o BN 72 AR B B A8 AR
B2 ¥ - BEATREREES HERET

at the operating segment level. B o
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Anti-counterfeiting products and services R 2 2 M IR TS 50,314 50,314
Online services B B A8 AR 980,247 -
1,030,561 50,314

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rates stated below. Management estimates
the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market assessment of the time
value of money and specific risk relating to the industry.

Key assumptions of the financial budgets covering the five-year period
and other key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as
follows:

Anti-counterfeiting products and service By B E B K R
Average growth rate (note a) g R (MiFta)
Discount rate (note b) 8H3% & (i 5Eb)
Terminal growth rate BEIERE

REeEA B2 RO e RIREREBETE
BE - %St ERAREEREEIEREDSF
B MBREEHZHATRSRETRA - B
FHRR A SRERA TIMEHEREE
H o BEEGFT RIS EZITRARZ
BEREERSERRZHAIRRE -

MERFHRzPREE T ERREEMAR
HEEMEEZEZREVAT

As at

31st December
2014
RZZ—MF
+=A=+—-H

As at
31st December

2015
R-S—HEF

16% 9%
13% 15%
3% 3%
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 10 BEEE @
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) BEERENEE)
As at
31st December
2015
R-Z—8F
+=A=+-8
Online service B IRTE
Average growth rate (note a) 1938 R E(Hiska) 16%
Discount rate (note b) BRIR X (KizEb) 19%
Terminal growth rate RIRIERR 3%
(a) Average growth rate used in the budget for the five-year period () BEFMRZTHERXARBZ-_Z -

ending 31st December 2020.

(b) The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating (b)
to the relevant business.

(©)  Assuming the sale decreases by 5% and the discount rate increases (0)
by 1%, there is still no impairment charge for the goodwill as at
31st December 2015.

F+ZA=+—BI-EFHEEL -

PR BE3R R RBERTHAT - W RARASRE S

FrEER

RERHE TES% MR E EF1% - 7
TER-RAFT AT BZBEEDER

BEM -

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS 11 EWERR » &€ - BARERH

AND OTHER RECEIVABLES b & U FRIE
2015 2014
—E-HEF —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETFT
Trade receivables (Note a) FEY AR (P 5Ea) 121,165 35,916
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables & : FEUSRE SR B B (9,371) (4,224)
Trade receivables — net FEUER R — 558 111,794 31,692
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - BRFEREMEK

(Note b) FIE(MiEEDb) 481,366 100,292
Loans to employees (Note b (i) BT &8 (H3EDb (i) 28,995 49,824
622,155 181,808

Less: Non-current deposit, prepayments and B JEmBERE - TENRIER
other receivables Efth fENRIE (74,989) (92,649)
Current portion BNERER 5> 547,166 89,159
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11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@) The Group generally grants a credit period of 90 days to customers.

The aging analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

11 EWERF - e ANRERE
b PE WL R I ()

(a) NEE—BLETEEIOREES - B
B eEREE RS RRANOT -

2015 2014
—E-RE —T—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Current to 90 days BNERZ 90K 92,106 27,815
91 to 180 days 91%E180K 14,733 2,464
181 to 365 days 181E365K 9,911 2,827
Over 1 year BiE—F 4,415 2,810

121,165 35,916

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair
values.

Balances are denominated in RMB and there is no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade receivables as the Group has a
large number of customers nationally dispersed.

The Group has recognised a loss of approximately RMB8,212,000
for the impairment of its trade receivables during the year ended
31st December 2015 (2014: RMB5,390,000).

As at 31st December 2015, trade receivables of approximately
RMB9,371,000 (2014: RMB4,224,000) were impaired and have
been provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly
represent sales made to customers which have remained long
overdue.

FEMBR R 2 BRI A LA N PEME ©

EHRUAARKRE  ARAEBRZ TP
DEUAR IS - MUK B 2 R TR
BEPEERR -

HE-Z-—RF+-A=1+—RHLEFEE"
AEBERBEEBBEFREBEOA
R¥8212,000/t( —Z—ME : AR
5,390,0007T) ©

R-Z—AE+-F=+—0  BUEX
HAR®9,371,0007L(ZZT— MU : AR
#4,224,0007T) B R EIL EREAE < (BB
BEEKZIEEZRARFHE MR
RAEFFRIE o
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11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS 11 EBWERNR » &€ - BARERH

AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) b FE U FRIE ()
(a) (Continued) (@) (&)

As at 31st December 2015, trade receivables of approximately
RMB19,688,000 (2014: RMB3,877,000) were past due but not
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of
these trade receivables is as follows:

R-Z—AF+-A=+—8 ' BKEX
#ANER#19,688,000L (ZF—HF : A
R¥£3,877,0007T) BB EAERIRE © %%
RREZEBURFBRE - FEOHRWE
HERFEEE - ZFRIRARN Z BR ik /2 1T 40

T
2015 2014
—E2—-HF —Z—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
91 to 180 days 91£180K 14,733 2,464
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 4,955 1,413
19,688 3,877

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

JEUER R 2 AR EE ST

2015 2014

—E2—-HF —Z—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREETTT

At 1 January iy =Rl =| 4,224 2,822
Impairment of receivables FEUS FRIB R E 8,212 5,390
Write off for impaired receivables FE USSR IE RV E I 3 (3,065) (3,988)
At 31 December R+-A=+—H 9,371 4,224

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have
been included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not include
a provision for impairment of other receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
fair values of trade receivables disclosed above. The Group did not
hold any collateral as security.

1 5 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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BTSRRI

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

1

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

BWERR - &€  BARERH
b PE WL R I ()

(b) #EE  BNRERAEKRE

2015
—E—hHF

2014
—T—JuF

RMB’000
ARETT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Non-current portion: RIS -
— Deposits — &% 4,406 2,905
— Prepayments for tax (Note (i) — FERHEIE (FFEEG)) - 42,544
— Loans to employees (Note (ji)) — BT R 8 () 26,241 26,244
— Loans to an associate (Note (jii)) — BRF—EBE A
(B=EGin) 44,342 20,956
74,989 92,649
Current portion: MENED S -
— Deposits — &% 17,322 12,097
— Prepayments — FAFRIA 19,050 21,385
— Prepayment for tax (Note (i) — B BLIE (B EEG)) 89,129 -
— Loans to employees (Note (ii)) — B FEE (BEE)) 2,754 23,580
— Amount due from a former associated — FENSRIEEE A RIFKIE
company (Note (iv)) (FR=EGv)) 559 405
— Loan to a joint venture (Note (v)) — BEXT—EEERQA
(FF&EW)) 201,427 -
— Loans to third parties (Note (vi)) — BT E =7 (MaEwi) 105,131 -
435,372 57,467
510,361 150,116
The fair values are as follows: BARTEET :
Deposits %4 21,728 15,002
Prepayments TafisRIA 108,179 63,929
Other receivables HAb el GRIA 380,454 71,185
510,361 150,116
Denominated in: AR EEETHE -
HK dollars BT 2,754 23,580
Renminbi AR 506,677 126,536
US dollars EV 930 -
510,361 150,116
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BRI

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)

Note (i):

Note (ii):

Note (jii):

The balance at 31st December 2015 includes RMB89,129,000
(2014: RMB42,544,000) prepayment of tax associated with the
presale of properties on 020 business exhibition centre under
development.

The non-current portion includes a balance of RMB26,241,000
(2014: RMB26,244,000) which represents loans granted to several
management members of Beijing Panpass Information Technology
Co., Ltd (“Panpass”), a subsidiary acquired by the Group on 8th
October 2014, for their sole purpose of purchase of shares of
Panpass at market price and the shares purchased are pledged
to secure the loans. The loans will mature on 28th September
2017, and is interest bearing at a rate of 5% per annum. These
management members hold 20% issued share capital of Panpass
after the acquisition of Panpass by the Group on 8th October
2014.

The current portion includes a balance of RMB2,754,000 (2014:
RMB23,580,000) granted in connection with the Employee Share
Scheme. On 21st December 2012, the Group granted loans to
several employees of the Group for the sole purpose of purchase
of shares of the Group at market price. Maturity date of the loans
have been extended from 21st December 2015 to 21st December
2016, and is interest bearing at a rate of 5% per annum. The
loans are denominated in HK dollars.

This balance represents loan and interest receivable from £

BN AR A A (“Hui De"), an associate of the Group,
amounting to RMB44,342,000. (2014: RMB20,956,000). On
14th December 2014, the group granted a loan amounting to
RMB40,000,000 to Hui De by installment. Up to 31st December
2014, RMB28,000,000 had been transferred to Hui De; and
the remaining portion amounting to RMB19,200,000 had been
transferred to Hui De on 4th March 2015. The loan will mature on
21st November 2017, and is interest bearing at a rate of 7% per
annum (2014: 7% per annum).

On 22th October 2015, the Group granted an addition loan
amounting to RMB 1,600,000 to Hui De. The loan will mature on
21st October 2018, and is interest bearing at a rate of 7% per
annum.
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B TS ERR MR

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)

Note (iv):

Note (v):

Note (vi):

This amount represents receivable balances for provision of data
library services from the former associated company, 1t =& H K
SBIETHI5E B #MARR A7), which was disposed of in 2011.

This balance represents loan and interest receivable from B
MINBISZ /NS E AR A A, a joint venture of the Group,
amounting to RMB201,427,000 (2014: Nil). On 27th May 2015,
the Group granted a loan amounting to RMB80,000,000 to the
joint venture. The loan will mature on 26th May 2016, and is
interest bearing at a rate of 6% per annum. On 21st November
2015, the Group granted an additional loan amounting to
RMB120,000,000 to the joint venture. The loan will mature on
20th November 2016, and is interest bearing at a rate of 8% per
annum.

The balance includes entrusted loans advanced to two third parties
and interest receivable amounting RMB70,087,000 (2014: Nil)
and RMB35,044,000 (2014: Nil) respectively, through a financial
institution in the PRC, as lending agent. The loans are interest
bearing at 6% per annum, repayable on 21st December 2016.

11 EWERFR
ftb & YRR E (1)

(b) #&E -

(&)
Bt 3t Giv) «

Bt s () -

L) -

CBE > AARERE

TR RRIE R H A FE W R OR

I8 A pt he SR B AR TS e WAl
B AR RE AR BIRMISE &
AERAF(BER=ZZ——FHE)Z
KERERIK

I AERIEERA LB A & AR EEE
MEBZR)NEERARARZE
FREFE ARM201,427,000 7T (=
T—MF &) - R-_T—AFHA
ZttA AEEREEARERLE
A R#80,000,0007T ° ZEFER
—E-XNFRAZHNBEE - WK
FHE6%TE - RZT—AF+—
A=+—B A&EEREEATRE
FEINE F A R 120,000,0007T © 7%
ER#ER_Z— X "F+—A=+B8%
- WIRFFES%ETS ©

B ERR—BR RS REE
(EREFRREB)BNTRMEE=H
ZEXERRERFIESBIARE
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AR #35,044,0007C (=2 — U & -
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R-B—RE+-A-+—BERN-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December

2015:

! Hong Kong Huicong International Group
Limited ("HKHC")

FESRAREEERAR)
([&ZEZHR))

I China Media Network
International Inc

' HC Group (Hong Kong) Limited

SRE(EE)ARAT

3 HC Innovest Holdings Limited

¢ Orange Triangle Inc.

1 56 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
FMELEER
EEERER

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company

EERNES
BRAR

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company

RERNES
BRAR

Hong Kong, liability
company

&E ARAA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company

RERNAS
BRAR

State of Delaware, USA

X8 BHEM

Principal

activities and
place of operation
FTEEHR
Tgns

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

RARKR-B%

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

REZR-FA

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RERR-B

Investment holding in

BVI

i

A EF
=5

BRLRS

Investment holding in
the State of Delaware
RAER—EARM

12 MIEAE]
LWTAER-_ZE—RAF+_A=T—HEXZMEB
NCIwa -

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held

by non-
controlling
interests (%)
FERRER
st B L pl

Effective
interest held
FrsEx
B fRA#E i

Particulars of registered
share capital

21,000,000 ordinary shares 100% -

of US$0.01 each

21,000,000 FHAE
001 EBR
50,000 ordinary shares 100% -

of US$1 each

50,000 G HREEET
B

500,000 ordinary shares 100% -
of HK$1 each

500,000 G RABIAT
ZERR

50,000 ordinary shares 100% -

of US$1 each

50,000 S REEET
L
200 shares of US$0.01 100% -

200 BREE.01FET 2K



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December

2015: (Continued)

4 QOrange Triangle (HK) Limited

KRB EERERERAR

ERERERERRMBRAT

IRSABERMER AR

IRBEEAMRARAR

IRRBREEERAR

SRERRE(LR)BRAA

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
EMEIBER
EEERER

Hong Kong, liability
company

&E ARAR

The PRC, limited liability
company
HE - BRAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

PE - ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company
HE - BRAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

PE - ARAT

Principal

activities and
place of operation
TEEBR
Lgne

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBRR-BB

Provision of business
information in the PRC
RETEER - TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REFHEEA -+
Provision of business

information in the PRC
REFEER - TE
Advertising in the PRC
BE-HE

Advertising in the PRC

BE-TE

12 MEBAR @)

NTRR-E—HF+-_A=+—REZEWE

REIZEE  (B)

Particulars of registered
share capital

DR MRARE

10,000 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
10,000 BREE T
pas
RMB110,000,000
AK110,000,0007
RMB200,000,000
K #200,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000
ARH10,000,0007
RMB250,000,000
AK250,000,0007
RMB500,000
ARH500,0007T

RMB2,000,000

AR52,000,0007C

interest held

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held
by non-
controlling
interests (%)
FiEEy  FERES
i FTEERLA

Effective

100% =

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

sm@amad - 0555w 157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December

F B A B @)
UTAR-ZE—AF+-_A=+—HFEWE

2015: (Continued)

REIZEE  (B)

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held
Place of Principal by non-
incorporation and activities and Particulars of registered Effective controlling
kind of legal entity place of operation share capital interest held interests (%)
EMERLBER TEERR FieEN FERER
HEERRER Tgns BREMBAFE B FRLERLA
W REERREEEABRAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business RMB36,000,000 100% =
company information in the PRC
e BRAH HEES il AK36,000,0007
TENERREEERLE The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% =
company
e BRAR BE-T AR1,000,0007T
HREREESEEERAT The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB500,000 100% -
company
TE - BRAR BE -t ARH500,0007
MNEEEFEBERAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% -
(formerly named company
HNBREBEERAR)
HNERETARERRR ME - BRAH BE-THE AR1,000,0007T
(MmN ZREEERAR)
BNTERERESERAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB1,500,000 100% -
company
T8 BRAR BE-HE AR1,500,0007T
BN ZRBERBERLT The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB5,000,000 100% -
company
HE - ERAR E5 - ARH5,000,0007
EMTREEESERAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Advertising in the PRC RMB500,000 100% -
company
ME - BRAH BE-HE AR 500,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December
2015: (Continued)

AR EREENRER AT

(formerly named
RITREREEERDT)

MR EREENTARAA
(AEMIMREREEERAR)

AmERREEERAR

HEERETABERAR

BRNERAENIARAT

EHSEBRERRIARLR

BR(RR)ETHBEERE

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
EMEIBER
EEERER

The PRC, limited liability
company

PE - ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company
hE - BRAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

%E - 5RAT

The PRC, limited liability
company
HE - ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

PE - ARAT

Principal

activities and
place of operation
TEEBR
Lgne

Advertising in the PRC

RE-TE

Advertising in the PRC
BE-HE
Advertising in the PRC
EE-HE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REBXER-PE

Provision of business
information in the PRC
REBEEH -+

Investment holding
in the PRC
REER—

Provision of exhibition
service and construction

RERERERERTRE

12 MEBAR @)

NTRR-E—HF+-_A=+—REZEWE

REIZEE  (B)

Particulars of registered
share capital

DR MRARE

RMB2,000,000

AR52,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000
AKH1,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000
ARH5,000,0007T
RMB500,000
AR500,0007C
RMB2,010,000
AEH2,010,0007
RMB91,750,000
AEH91,750,0007
RMB166,670,000

AR5166,670,0007T

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held
by non-
controlling
interestheld interests (%)
FiE% FERER
B FRLERLA

Effective

100% =

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

60% 40%

35.71% 64.29%

sm@amas 205555 150



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December
2015: (Continued)

F B A B @)
UTAR-ZE—AF+-_A=+—HFEWE
RAIZEE : (£&)

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held

by non-
controlling
interests (%)
FERRER
st ER Ll

Place of Principal

activities and
place of operation
TEXHR
Tgns

incorporation and
kind of legal entity
EMALBER
EEERER

MISEEREERMERAA

ERER= THEERAT

RIBEETEBERAR

IR EEERMBEDERAR

LERRESRMERAA]

} BEREREARAA

¢ ERE=ANEARAR

¢ ERATERRRER AR

1 60 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

TR ARAT

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

et AEEN -TE
Advertising in the PRC
BE—E

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-+E

Anti-counterfeiting
Technology

Development in the PRC

RE BRI E

Investment holding in the PRC

REBR-HE
Finance leasing in the PRC
HEARE-HE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-FE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-FE

Particulars of registered Effective

share capital interest held
FiEH

BREMBAFE i

RMB555,500 35.71%

ARH555,5007C

RMB35,000,000 100%

AK35,000,0007

RMB1,000,000 100%

AK1,000,0007

RMB1,000,000 100%

AK1,000,0007

RMB54,464,000 56%

AR54,464,00070

RMB45,000,000 100%

AR45,000,0007

US$30,000,000 100%

30,000,000t

US$150,000 100%

150,000%7C

RMB10,000,000 100%

AK10,000,0007

64.29%

44%



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December
2015: (Continued)

Place of Principal

incorporation and activities and
kind of legal entity place of operation
EME LR TERBR
EEERER Ty

ERBERRARHEERA The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business

company information in the PRC

hEl - BRAF REAZEN-TE

EREEEERHERAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business

company service in the PRC

Ml BRAF RUEERY - E

ERBEZREHER A The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business

company service in the PRC

Ml BRAF RUEERY —E

3 ENEFETEBERAR The PRC limited liability ~ Provision of business
company information in the PRC

Ml BRAF R AEEN-TE

3 I REBEEEAYERKERAF  The PRC, limited liabiity  Provision of business
company information in the PRC

Ml BRAF R AEEN-TE

O IREERRERERAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business
company information in the PRC

Ml BRAF R AEEN-TE

1 Shares held directly by the Company.

2 BEREEREHITEBRAT and FHLMEES FrR%EMRAR] are indirectly
held through the Company’'s 60% owned subsidiary, 22 (X%) EFHEAR
ARLEIR (K2) BT EHBIRAR directly holds 53.1% equity interest in these
two companies and indirectly holds 6.41% of interest equity in these two companies
through its 20% held associate, 2R AR A F]. Hence, the Group effectively
hold 35.71% of BREIFBHIREBRAT and FRLTBEEFEBAERA

Al
3 These companies are newly incorporated during the year.
4 These companies are newly acquired during the year.

12 MEBAR @)
UFAR-B—RAE+=A=+—A*ZWE
ARZEE : ()

Proportion

of ordinary

shares held

by non-

Particulars of registered Effective controlling
share capital interestheld interests (%)
FiEEy  FERES

BREMBRAFE B FRLERLA

RMB1,000,000 60% 40%
AKH1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000 60% 40%
AKH1,000,0007
RMB1,000,000 60% 40%

AKH1,000,0007

RMB20,000,000 60% 40%
AE#20,000,0007
RMB1,000,000 60% 40%

AKH1,000,0007
RMB25,000,000 51% 49%

AEH25,000,0007
! BRI RARREESA ©

2 BRERREWIREER AR RELTERE
EFHBERARIARNAREEO% w2
MBARZE(XE)ETHHERARMER
B ER(RB)ETEBARAREEREX
MR A A)53.1% R A= 138 B EH 5 H20% 48
HZHE AT EEERERAFMNEFEZW
RAA64%ER - At - AEBERFERE
RERRERREARARRBLUTERES
TRBERARI5.71%HE

3 ZERRNFAFEMARL -
¢ FZERARRFERIYEEAT o

sm@eran - 05555 16 ]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12 MEA R @)

(a) Material non-controlling interests (a) BEARFERMEER
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with HEEAHZEREZNBLGZHBEER
material non-controlling interests #HE
Set out below are the summarised financial information for E&H TXHEINEREZERERIEEFR QA
ERREWEEER AT ("ERZBREREN") and ILRKEEES (EREEREBH )BTRS E Sl
B AR AR ("dEFIK(E") that has non-controlling interests BAERAT (LRI ) > B E Rl
that are material to the Group. Z - HEMAHAEEmM s BEAZIFLER

HE o

BHESIRR R E

Summarised statement of financial position

ERERXRE EF=KE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—NOF Z—T-HF —T—HEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT AR¥TRT ARETT
Current mEh
Assets BE 872,371 281,993 80,661 62,395
Liabilities & (1,416,461) (128,686) (24,139) (4,842)
Net current assets eV ERE (544,090) 153,307 56,522 57,553
Non-current IERE
Assets BE 814,230 786,216 52,390 56,466
Liabilities Bf& (120,000) (749,224) (6,988) (8,098)
Net non-current assets ERHEEFE 694,230 36,992 45,402 48,368
Net assets BEFE 150,140 190,299 101,924 105,921

R-ZEBE-—RFE+_A=+—0 BHREE
RERRIEFIKED BIEE IR E =4
#HhAR#46,568,00070( ZZ— P94 © A
R¥73,187,0007t) & A R 45,243,000
T(ZE—MF : AR¥47,002,0007T) °

As at 31st December 2015, the non-controlling interests balances
of EREMZRXEH and b 7TIKIE accounted RMB46,568,000
(2014: RMB73,187,000) and RMB45,243,000 (2014:
RMB47,002,000) respectively.

1 62 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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B TS ERR MR

12 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12 BB )

(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () EARFFEBRMUER
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with BEEAHZERERNBLGZHBEEHR
material non-controlling interests (Continued) HE(E)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income FEBRREE

BRI KEH EREE
2015 2014 2015 2014

—F-EF —TWF ZFB-HEF —T0F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREBTT ARWTR ARKETL

Revenue SHEIA - - 55,168 16,193
(Loss)/profit before BrATSEi AT (E518),

income tax bl (51,045) (8,122) (4,938) 2,654
Income tax credit/(expenses)  FriSTiE R, (Fisk) 10,886 1,637 941 (297)
(Loss)/profit after tax BEiE (EBI8), a7 (40,159) (6,485) (3,997) 2,357
Other comprehensive loss Hiv2EEE = - - -
Total comprehensive 2HE(E8B), R A

(loss)/profit FEks) (40,159) (6,485) (3,997) 2,357
Total comprehensive bl EE =g

(loss)/profit allocated to Z2m(EBER),/

Non-controlling interests e Al 4B =g (26,619) (4,419) (1,759) 1,037
Dividends paid to BT R

Non-controlling interests &% & = - - -

sm@aRaE 205555 163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

12 MEBA S ()

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised cash flow statement

() EXRFZRMUER R
LY P E 303 5000 PEd g s ol
BE()

HERBREE

BEREEXEH EFKE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —T—HF —T-RHF —ZTOF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETTT AR¥T T AREETTT
Cash flows from operating RKEEXECHERE
activities
Cash generated from/(used in) #&&E4E (FiA)
operations e 204,641 332,456 (9,530) 2,167
Income tax paid S FTER - - (560) -
Net cash generated from/ REEBEE
(used in) operating activities ~ (PFE)IRE F58 204,641 332,456 (10,090) 2,167
Net cash generated from/ REEBEE,
(used in) investing activities ()R & %58 (410,266) (151,416) 1,827 38,323
Net cash generated from/ BMEFBELES
(used in) financing activities (B )IR& %458 17,307 17,022 19,000 (11,675)
Net (decrease)/increase in  BEERELZEY
cash and cash equivalents FECHA) i (188,318) 198,062 10,737 28,815
Cash and cash equivalents at  FHZIRENREE
beginning of year (EL) 278,562 80,500 51,777 22,962
Cash and cash equivalents at  FRIE® MIREE
end of year =8| 90,244 278,562 62,514 51,777
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 13 ZERZEIIRZIRE

EQUITY METHOD

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

TXHINEHMBARRRCERZEHE -

2015 2014
—E-—ARfF —T—mF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Associates i lNE 105,921 45,523
Joint ventures =R W] 412,795 270,840
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 518,716 316,363

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income are as follows:

TXEIIRE e RaR D ERR ISR

2015 2014
—ZE-—REF —T—mF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Associates i l/NE (2,102) (477)

Joint ventures SR WNE] 11,955 801

For the year ended 31 December BEt+-A=+—HILFE 9,853 324
Investments in associates REZE QTR Z2RE

2015 2014
—EB-RF —TpmE

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARET T

At 1st January n—H—H 45,523 20,000
Addition H#n 62,500 26,000
Share of losses FE{h BB (2,102) (477)
At 31st December A+—A=+—8 105,921 45,523
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BT ERR MR

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 13 #ZERZEVIRZIRE @)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Investment in associates (Continued) REE QAR Z2RE @)
Set out below are associates of the Group as at 31st December 2015. NTAHAEAAEER _ZS—AF T+ -A=1+—
The associates as listed below have share capital consisting solely of HZBE AT o FIMERRZRAHRBE
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group; the country of TR AAEBEEEFE @ M sk
establishment or registration is also their principal place of business. RKINABEEE LT, -
Place of business/ % of
country of effective Nature of the Measurement
Name of entity establishment interest relationship method
34 BERER
ERER Y BER B RERME STEAR
SEERERAT PRC 12 Note 1 Equity
(Hui De Holding Co., Ltd.*) e B EE1 Tz
T 2R A BR AT (Zhejiang Huicong  PRC 29.6 Note 2 Equity
Investment Co., Ltd*) H FizE2 R
R EBEREBR QA (Beijing Urmbo PRC 20 Note 3 Equity
Technology Limited*) i FisE3 T
FROER)ER R ER AR AR PRC 20 Note 4 Equity
(China Formwork (Bejing) International Fi 34 e

Brand Management Limited*)

AREE S EFRABERIE PRC 30 Note 5 Equity
(Xian Pipiyi e-commerce Limited*) s f3E5 B
AEEREERERAF PRC 15 Note 6 Equity
(Hefei Limi Information Technology e ffize gy

Limited*)
TEH RN ARPERR AR AR PRC 15 Note 7 Equity
(Jiangsu Wu Cheng Gong Ju i iy B

Information Technology Limited*)

AUBREFEBERRA PRC 216 Note 8 Equity
(Yu Yao Huijia E-Commerce Limited*) s ] =
R EMBEERBERLDE PRC 10 Note 9 Equity
(Hangzhou Shibei Intellectual Property W59 R

Services Company Limited*)

1 66 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015



Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
SHIFRERMITE

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (cContinued)

Investment in associates (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Hui De Holding Co., Ltd* (“Z{&4%f%") provides investment management
and projects investments in the PRC. The Group holds 60% interests of
its subsidiary, Z2F4(X%)EF AR AR, which in turn holds 20% of
interests in Z{E{AT.

Zhejiang Huicong Investment Co., Limited* (“#TZ8") engages in
investment in real estate construction and management.

In May 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to subscribe 20% of
the total issued share capital of Beijing Urmro Technology Limited* (“1t
{215 ") at a total consideration of RMB3,000,000 in cash. it 5 & i
provides MRO industrial products purchase and assembly services in the
PRC.

In April 2015, the Group entered into an agreement with China
Formwork (Beijing) International Brand Management Limited* ("4t m= &
18 ") to subscribe 20% of its total equity capital, at a total consideration
of RMB10,000,000 in cash. 465X/ 18 provides e-commerce business for
the building equipment leasing industry in the PRC.

In July 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to subscribe 30% of
the total issued share capital of Xian PPE e-commerce Limited* (“[7E7Z
5") at a total consideration of RMB 10,000,000 in cash. §77 5 provides
e-commerce business for labor protection appliance in the PRC.

In October 2015, the Group entered into an agreement with Hefei Limi
Information Technology Limited* (“&REE>K") to subscribe 15% of its
total equity capital at a consideration of RMB8,000,000 in cash. Since
the Group has significant influence over the Board of the investee, it is
classified as investment in associate and measured in equity method. &
fE/E K provides B2B e-commerce services in urban and rural areas of
the PRC.

13 BEREIRZEBE @)

N

BT -

B2

MizE3

Hizta

FiGES

Fi5E6 -

RARZRE @)
BRERAERAR(TSEER]DNFENE
REKEEERARREET - AEERA
HIBARSR(RE)EFHBEERAA
60% s - MBE(KRR)EFHEAERA
AR BB 20% s o

T BREERRAR(DNTE2RDEBR
FHEREZERER

RZT—RERA - AEEFT B
AR B A R%3,000,0007TIR £ REIL R
BRI AR AR ([ REBE ) 250 31T
REAN 2 20% ° b RE SR F B EMROT
¥RIEBEEBRRT

WoE-—RFNA  AEEEBEILR)E
B ERERAR(MHERF K] TR
% - AR EARY10,000,000TRE R
PRI AR R RAZ20% © dbm R
PREEAEMEEERHETHEEY

RZZT—RFEA  AEEFL—ERE
LA (B AR B10,000,000 3R & REAL
EESEFRABARAR(ERS)EHE
BITIRAZ230% - R SR EASRA
ISR -

RZZE—RE+A  AEERSEEKES
BHEBRARI([AREXR DT — B -
IARE A R¥8,000,0007TIR £ REA ILE
KREIRAZ15% - BRAEEHHITE
FREREABANEN  HEBEARE
PEEE QR ARREGTE - BIRERRFR
B0 4058 K A b [ $R L B2B BRI AR TS ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Investment in associates (Continued)

Note 7: In August 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to subscribe
15% of the total issued share capital of Jiangsu Wu Cheng Gong Ju
Information Technology Limited* (“Fi 2 ") at a consideration of
RMB5,000,000 in cash. Since the Group has significant influence over
the Board of the investee, it is classified as investment in associate and
measured in equity method. T3 5 provides e-commerce business for
chemical industry in the PRC.

Note 8: In July 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to set up an associate
company, Yu Yao Huijia E-Commerce Limited (“Yu Yao Huijia”). The
Group injected RMB2,000,000 in cash which represents approximately
21.6% of the total issued share capital of Yu Yao Huijia. That company
provides e-commerce and property management business in the PRC.

Note 9: In October 2015, Panpass Information Technology Limited, a subsidiary
of the Group, together with a number of third parties, established a
privately owned limited company, named as "#i¥4 B &5 E RS
BRAT" ("M B ") in Zhejiang province. The Group own 10%
of its total issued share capital of #7/M#5 B, and the total cost of its
investment in #1//#5 B is RMB500,000. Since the Group has significant
influence over the Board of the investee, it is classified as investment in
associate and measured in equity method. #1145 B provides agency
services for e-commerce users in the PRC.

All the above associate companies are private company and there are no
quoted market price available for their shares. There are no contingent
liabilities relating to the Group's interest in the associate.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only

Summarised financial information for associates

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the associates
which, in the opinion of director, are material to the Group and are
accounted for using the equity method.
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BIFE9 :

RET—RENAR - AEET B -
AR E A R#5,000,0007CIR £ 2B T# T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (cContinued)

Investment in associates (Continued)
Summarised of statement of financial position

13

BRREREIRZRE @)

RBE QR ZRE®)
HBRREE

BEER HIER LR EES
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1f —T-F ZE-RFf —T-NF —Z-3F -—T-NF —B-15Ff —T-MmF
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETRE ARETT ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETT AR¥TR ARETR
Current; eI
Cash and cash BeLRe
equivalents ZEY 414 1,788 55,109 28,301 1,567 - 12,343 -
Other current assets HitRaEE
(exclude cash) (BRI 17,645 69,491 367,626 101,009 31,535 - 192 -
Total current assets BEEEE 18,059 71,279 422,735 129,310 33,102 - 12,535 -
Current liabilities nEBEE (186) (158)  (32,995) - (19,948) - (34) -
Net current assets MYEEFE 17,873 71,121 389,740 129,310 13,154 - 12,501 -
Non-current; SR
Assets A 389,412 104,000 6,327 33 10,730 - 511 -
Liability B (314,0000  (77,481) ~ (150,000) - = - - -
Net assets BEE 93285 97640 246067 129343 23,884 - 13012 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

13 BERZZEIRZKRE @)

REBE QT ZRE M@

Investment in associates (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HEWERHE

BEER HOT 2 ERAE KRS
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
~B-5f ZT-PF -%-Ef -“T-MF -B-EF “T-NF —-EF -TMF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT ARMTR ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARETET
Revenue HEWA - 509 - - 10,407 - 40 -
(Loss) /profit Bk (58)/

after tax el (4,357) (2,360) (3,276) (657) 1,183 - (1,988) -
Other comprehensive loss A2 EEE - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive 2E(ER)/

(loss)/income WA (4357) (2,360) (3,276) (657) 1,183 - (1,988) -
Percentage held liiteTEka) 12% 12% 29.6% 29.6% 20% - 30% -
Share of loss for FNEEES

the year (523) (283) (970) (194) 237 - (596) -

Investment in joint ventures REEQATAZRE

2014

—E-RF —T—mF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETTT

At 1st January n—A—H 270,840 -
Addition 0 130,000 270,039
Share of profits FEAR % T 11,955 801
At 31st December R+-—A=+—H 412,795 270,840
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (cContinued)

Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

Set out below are joint venture companies of the Group as at 31st
December 2015. The joint venture companies as listed below have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by
the Group; the country of incorporation or registration are also their

principal place of business.

Nature of investment in joint ventures as at 31st December 2015:

Place of business/

% of
effective

interest
BERER
B

13 ZEREFEIIRZIRE @)

REEQATRZRE®)
UTHFAEEN -—E—aE+=-A=+—8
AERE - TXHFIALARZREBRE
ERAEEEESE 2 TBK - MR
ZARMEHEBL L

RIE-RAFT_A=+—H RELRAZ
REMHE :

country of
Name of entity incorporation
EEWH
BREE MR ZBExR
BEBNEERR NEETERAT PRC
(Chongging Digital China Huicong I

Micro-Credit Co., Ltd*.)

e EIE R REABRAR PRC
(Beijing Digital China Huicong I

Micro-Credit Consulting Co, Ltd*.)

40

40

Note 1: Chongqging Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit Co., Ltd. provides
development and operation of the micro-credit internet financing

business in the PRC.

Note 2:  Beijing Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit Consulting Co., Ltd. provides
consulting services for the micro-credit internet financing business in the

PRC.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.

Nature of the Measurement
relationship method
BEEE

Note 1 Equity

lhEa g

Note 2 Equity

fifet2 gy

M1 EEMMEEEBRNEERERARNTE
feERHERRGE MEERIBETEE
% o

MiEE2 : AERMMEEERES A ABRARNTE

RERFNHECELIHBERERB AR
% o

sr@amad-20555% ] /]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

13 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 13 #ZERZEVIRZIRE @)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Investment in joint ventures (Continued) REEDARZRE )
The Group's share of profit in Chongging Digital China Huicong Micro- AEEEEEESMNESBEER ) EEREGRA
Credit Co., Ltd and its aggregate assets and liabilities are shown below: ALZEMAREEEHB EAEHINAT ¢

31st December 31st December
2015 2014
—E-HEF —T—EF

+=A=+-8 +=A=t+-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFLE  ARETE

Assets BiE 1,423,048 678,367

Liabilities B 391,250 1,290

Profit for the year REFE R 29,718 1,893

Share of profits FE(E %A 11,887 757

Percentage held FrFBE Dt 40% 40%
The Group’s share of profit in Beijing Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit AEERGIERSMNEBEREEFZHRAERA
Consulting Co., Ltd and its aggregate assets and liabilities are shown ALRMAREEERB ERFEEINNT
below:

31st December 31st December
2015 2014
—2-1F —F-OmF

+=g=+-8 +-A=t-H
RMB*000 RMB’000
AR® T ARMETTT

Assets BE 632 377
Liabilities a8f& 253 167
Profit for the year RERZ @ 170 110
Share of profits FE(E% T 68 44
Percentage held FrFEB ot 40% 40%
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
SHIFRERMITE

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 14 ¥BKE6

Beijing Huicong Construction Information
Consulting Co., Ltd.

On 15th September 2014, the Group has entered into the
Exclusive Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Powers
of Attorney (“Agreements”) with the shareholders of 1t REHR
BB MAR AT ("HC Construction”). The shareholders
of HC Construction unconditionally and irrevocably authorises
any individual designated by the Group to represent them in
exercising all their rights as shareholders of HC Construction
including without limitation, to transfer all their equity interests,
to determine the consideration for such transfer, to complete all
relevant procedures regarding such transfer, to attend general
meetings and exercise voting rights, to execute all such relevant
documents, agreements and resolutions. In addition, If HC
Construction declares any dividend, bonus or adopts any proposal
for distribution of profits, such dividends, bonus or economic
benefits of all such proposal for distribution shall be delivered to
the Group.

In accordance with the Agreements, the Group has acquired the
control over HC Construction as the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. the activities that significantly affect the HC Construction’s
variable returns. The Group is also entitled to substantially all
of the operating profits and residual interest generated by HC
Construction. Consequently, HC Construction has become a
subsidiary of the Group with effect from 15th September 2014.
The results and financial position of HC Construction have been
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
from 15th September 2014.

TREBRERELFAERAR

RZZB—MFNA+RA  REEEIER
BRERESHNERAR ([ BIER])
2RI B R a8 - BRI
AR EEE () - BIRERZBRE
fif A e AN A 00 b P AN R R E 2 AT
AETRETEEFERBIERBIR A
R BRETNRREELAERE &
EEMBZEIRE THRERBEIME
HETE - HEBRAS RITRIESERE
BRIFMARBAXM - A RORER - b
S BIREREIREMRSE - B
DR N R ER R - RIARIE - 2
ALSATA A D IGER 2 EBNEISAR
N PAREH -

RIFWE - EARERGERR LT EHER
EBHAIARFEZRERAI LR X
%) 2 BRERENE - REBERGHZRE
RZEHIE - KABNERZASRER
EEZBREB D EERN LR T -
It BREZA T -NEAATRAR
REEBZMBAT - BEERZEER
PR AREER S —F—NFNA
THARZAGEBRE -
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No’ggs to the Con§olidated Financial Statements
BT ERR MR

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 14 EBE/t e

a. Beijing Huicong Construction Information a. TEBHEREEBRAERAA
Consulting Co., Ltd. (Continued) (%)
The following table summarises the consideration paid for HC NREMAR K B R EREER MR
construction, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed 8 B EE 2 A F(E - FiEiEZ 8%

and the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date. PES Y g E
RMB’000
AREETTT

Consideration:
At 15th September 2014

RE:
R-ZB-NFENATEHA

Cash Re -
Total consideration transferred BEAEAR -
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets Frib B MR B & E R

acquired and liabilities assumed FREEEZERIASE
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 473
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9) I EN R ) 354
Prepayment and other receivables TE S FRIE K H A fE K R IE 1,700
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H M e /1A (2,489)
Total identifiable net assets B E E R EAE 38
Non-controlling interest FEER RS -
Bargain purchase recognised in consolidated REeftiralimRER 2

statement of comprehensive income (Note 32) HEBE(M:E32) (38)
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
SHIFRERMITE

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

b.

Beijing Panpass Information Technology Co., Ltd

On 30th September 2014, the Group and certain purchasers
have entered into an acquisition agreement with the vendors,
pursuant to which the Group subscribed for shares of Beijing
Panpass Information Technology Co., Ltd (“Panpass”) with an
aggregate value of RMB108,814,200. On 8th October 2014, the
Group was allocated 16,487,000 shares of Panpass, representing
approximately 56% of the issued share capital of Panpass, for a
total consideration of RMB108,814,200.

The goodwill of RMB50,314,000 arising from the acquisition is
attributable to acquired customer base and economics of scale
expected from combining the operations of the Group and
Panpass. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purpose.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Panpass,
the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the non-
controlling interest at the acquisition date.

14 E£BE6t

b.

ERKEEEEMROBERA A
RZE—MENA=+H  mEERETF
BHEBHIWERE B A%
BEREILFKEEERTROBRA A
([Jk15)) B E AR 108,814,2007T 2 f%
7 RZT—MFE+ANR - AEEER
k15 216,487,000 B B 17 » #EE FJK
EEEITIRAL56%  BREAEARK
108,814,2007T ©

IR BBE £ 2 AR #550,314,000T 588 A
REIEEFPERREHAEERIKEES
ZTEHRRASE - EH A HRANEA
BATSBIHIA ©

TREGER K R E N ZRE
PREEE 2 R TE - PRz BERIE
PR
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No’ggs to the Con§olidated Financial Statements
BT ERR MR

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

b.

14 E£BE6t

Beijing Panpass Information Technology Co., Ltd b. tEEKEEERMBRDERALT
(Continued) (%)
RMB’000
ARBFIT
Consideration: RE:
At 8th October 2014 R=Z—NE+ANAH
Cash HE 108,814
Total consideration transferred BEAEAERE 108,814
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets Pk B EERFTRIERGE

acquired and liabilities assumed ERALE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEY 22,962
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9) W - BB KRR (MHEE9) 1,018
Intangible assets — customer relationships mREE—-RPBEMEE0)

(Note 10) 44,900
Intangible assets — patent (Note 10) | EE—-FF(HE10) 11,100
Intangible assets — non-compete | EE - EBRFHEHE10)

agreement (Note 10) 270
Intangible asset — other (Note 10) mvEE — A (fizE10) 188
Inventories FE 1,194
Entrusted loan to former shareholder LZEERTRIERE 38,000
Trade and other receivables JRE LS BR R R FAth FE LKL I8 11,922
Trade and other payables FET AR R R oAt FE A~ FRIE (7,288)
Borrowings BE (11,675)
Deferred tax assets (Note 29) RIERI A& EE (M 5E29) 180
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) EER B A E(MIFE29) (8,306)
Total identifiable net assets AR BIEEFEARE 104,465
Non-controlling interest IR R (45,965)
Goodwill (Note 10) 2 (P7E10) 50,314

108,814
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
SHIFRERMITE

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 14 EBEH e

Orange Triangle Inc.

On 3rd July 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of 100%
of share capital of Orange Triangle Inc. (“Orange Triangle”)
which was satisfied by total consideration of approximately
RMB1,307,000,000. The consideration was settled as to 30%
of RMB446,795,000 in cash and as to 70% by allotment of
155,684,485 contingent shares at HK$7 each (”Contingent
Share”) subject to adjustment mechanism stipulated in the Sale
and Purchase Agreement.

On 3rd July 2015, b =% = AR AR A/ (“Orange Beijing”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of Orange Triangle Inc., entered into a
series of structured contracts, including Exclusive Technical Services
Agreement, Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property;
Exclusive Right to Purchase Agreement; Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Pledge Agreement (together, the as “Structured
Contracts”) with the shareholders of It R &17TE S EHE B R A A
("Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology Co., Ltd"”). The shareholders
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing unconditionally and irrevocably authorise
any individual designated by the Group to represent them in
exercising all their rights as shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
including without limitation, to transfer all their equity interests,
to determine the consideration for such transfer, to complete all
relevant procedures regarding such transfer, to attend general
meetings and exercise voting rights, to execute all such relevant
documents, agreements and resolutions. In addition, if Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing declares any dividend, bonus or adopts any proposal
for distribution of profits, such dividends, bonus or economic
benefits of all such proposal for distribution shall be delivered to
the Group.

In accordance with the Agreements, the Group has acquired the
control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
the activities that significantly affect the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s
variable returns. The Group is also entitled to substantially all of
the operating profits and residual interest generated by Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing. Consequently, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has become
a subsidiary of the Group with effect from 3rd July 2015. The
results and financial position of Orange Triangle and Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing have been included in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group from 3rd July 2015.

Orange Triangle Inc.
R-—ZE—A4tA=0 A&£EEER
fX Y& 8 Orange Triangle Inc. ( [ Orange
Triangle ) 2 2FIRA - BREDARE
1,307,000,0007T ° 30% K {BERES AR
#446,795,0007C X i %2 70% A & 1% 778
JCHC 155,684,485 i 3k AARR 1 ([ S AR
7 (R EERHIETE < FAEESIFR) X
ff e

R=—Z—AFtHA=H - Orange Triangle
Inc.ZZ2EMBARLRE=AREER
AR(HEIER]DEIERATHERRER
AR(HERFMITHEBHRER AR ) 2R
RE—EREBIEESH - BIEERRMm
AR ek - BRABEET A - BR
Bl - RIER T E ML R
BB BTSN  ERMTHRZ
ARER ik A AT IR AR R IR T
ZERATRETEERIERAMTHIA
RZFBER - BIEETRNEEELME
A s  EEAAEECRE  TKE
FEETARETFE  LERREAG R
TR - 2P A AR -~ i
SRR o IbAN - Wb RAITH R EIRE
ARE - TEALSE 9 R R ER AR (R fr 5 -
RIBRAIRE - EASMBEED IREZEZ
KENSARXNTAREE -

RIEWRE - ARAEEREER THIRRRE
TERBEES(MEARELRATHE
A AR E55) 2 RAERN - AR
EEF IR MITIH = 215 o AR A
NEEZEILRATHR BRI EE
A R TR o HiE - ERATHRE
ATt AT ARKAREEZHE
AF] ° Orange Triangle &1t RATTE 5 2
EERPBRRETALEBA =S —T
FtA=ARZAHTB®RE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 14 EBE/t e
c. Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued) c. Orange Triangle Inc.(#)
The goodwill of RMB980,247,000 arising from the acquisition is Uy B8 = A B AR #5980,247,0007T 75 57
attributable the synergies and technical talent and economies of ERH R Hm IR E AT AR EHAEE
scale expected from combining the operations of the Group and Hi0range Triangle Inc. £/ TEERE £ 1812
Orange Triangle Inc.. None of the goodwill recognised is expected KB o TREBLE D R BARAE
to be deductible for income tax purpose. IR ©
The following table summarises the consideration paid for Orange TERBEM AU B #i%tOrange Trianglest
Triangle, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed at the N2RE - FTIEEE 2 2 TE » FrEdE
acquisition date. ZEfE-
RMB’'000
ARETFT
Consideration: RIE :
At 3rd July 2015 R=—Z—HFtHA=H
Cash e 446,795
Contingent shares AR 859,802
Financial assets at fair value through profit BEATEFABSEZEHEE
and loss (6,600)
Total consideration transferred ERAERE 1,299,997

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets kBB EERFTRIEREZ

acquired and liabilities assumed EREZALHE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEY 7,043
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 5,198
Intangible assets — customer relationships EmREE—-RPBAEFRMIE0)

(Note 10) 299,000
Intangible assets — trade name and dominate BPEE-BEmEBLkEIEZEHE

name (Note 10) (Fg3E10) 91,958
Intangible assets — database (Note 10) | EE - SREMRE10) 7,600
Intangible assets — other (Note 10) | EE - Ea(HFE10) 1,418
Trade and other receivables FEUBR 31 N EAth FE U G IE 87,903
Trade and other payables BT BR IR R Eo b AT 308 (40,620)
Borrowings BE (40,000)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) EER IR B A (HFE29) (99,750)
Total identifiable net assets AR B EE R EARE 319,750
Goodwill (Note 10) ECEA) 980,247

1,299,997
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No1\:§-:-s to the Con§olidated Financial Statements
B TS ERR MR

14 E£BE6t

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs of HK$3,890,000 have been charged to
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

The fair value of the 155,684,485 ordinary shares issued as
part of the consideration paid for the vendor (approximately
RMB12,283,000) was based on the market price of the Company
on 3 July 2015.

The contingent shares are to be released to the Mr. Liu Xiaodong,
Mr. Shi Shilin, Mr. Wang Qian and Ms. Yang Ye (together, the
“Seller Guarantor”) or repurchased by the Company subjected
to the performance as set out in the adjustment mechanism
stipulated in the sale and purchase agreement. Pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreement, each of the Seller Guarantors undertakes
that the Orange Triangle shall achieve the “Performance Targets” as
follow:

Performance Undertaking Year

BRREEE

First Performance Undertaking Year
BEBXNAGEER

Second Performance Undertaking Year
FEERBNAGEER

Third Performance Undertaking Year

Fo(ABROAREFE

The “Performance Undertaking Period” shall be three years
calculated from the first day of the month after completed the
acquisition and each “Performance Undertaking Year” shall be
each 12-month period during the Performance Undertaking Period.

If the after tax profit as set out in the audited results for the
Performance Undertaking Year is equal to or more than the
Performance Target as set out in the below adjustment mechanism,
the Seller Guarantors will not be required to compensate the
Company. The Company and each Seller Guarantor shall jointly
instruct the escrow agent, as the case may be, to release the
Consideration Shares as agreed and all dividends attached to such
consideration shares to the relevant Seller Guarantor according to
the relevant percentage.

Orange Triangle Inc.(4)
3,890,000/8 7L 2 WEE MR REREE
—E-RFFT A=+ —HILEEZAM
WesRat ATTHER -

155,684,485 & B B 1T E @R 2 A F A
BB -_T—AFtAZBARARZME
EAIRTFEIRE—BD(WARE
12,283,0007T) °

EEEMHIETAERGIMERARR
T ARG TERT R NREE - i
HMRELE - EEEERGEL T (G E
FHERAERADSBEARTEE - REEERH
& ' ERAEG - Orange Triangle
AEIATIBHBEEZ]

After-tax

profit as set out
in the audited
results of the
Orange Triangle
REREE
FrEpRBi % =R

RMB 100,000,000
AE#100,000,0007C
RMB 130,000,000
AE#130,000,0007T
RMB170,000,000
A #170,000,0007T

[BLFEHHMEIEAEEKKERAG S
AiF=F - BRBYEEFERBLE
AR A128A -

B 408G F 2 2 IS B IR R BB R TR
M E RSB T R B EZ E
B RIESERAGEARDEELE
18 - RAR REEHERARKBIETRE
ERECRBRNE) REEEA S LAE
BT R IR AR e 2 B D Bk
SREROM S 2 2HRE
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BRI

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 14 ¥%E86t

Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued)

If the after tax profit as set out in the audited results for the
Performance Undertaking Year do not meet the Performance
Target, the Company shall inform the Seller Guarantors in writing
within 10 days after the dispatch of such audited results and
the Company and each Seller Guarantor shall jointly instruct the
escrow agent, as the case may be, to release such amount of
Consideration Shares and all dividends attached thereto to the
relevant Seller Guarantor as set out in the below adjustment
mechanism column titled “Total number of Consideration Shares to

Orange Triangle Inc.(%&)

EKNAEFE 2B EEMAGRBIE
MY EEF BB - AIARDRERE
BRBEEREERIORNERRANE
FERA - MARAREEHBRAEHR
RETREE R RIS E)E T A
BRI MER ERABRZRE
i Es | —WrEmBEE A ERA
FIR T XABRIEE A A AR B
ZRERAD | —RFTHEm AL R

ZHBZRERDREME ZFABERS
ARFHEAEREBEARE1.00TBEZE
KRB WHER A ELFESH

be released to the Seller Guarantors” or to the Company as set out
in the below adjustment mechanism column titled “Total number
of Consideration Shares to be repurchased by the Company”. The
Company shall repurchase such Consideration Shares at a total
consideration of RMB1.00 and such Consideration Shares shall be
cancelled by the Company thereafter.

Total Total

number of number of
Consideration  Consideration
Shares to be Shares to be
released to repurchased

the Seller by the
Guarantors Company
HEAELTRRA AT
BRzAE i AGA L
Rgrpt IR 48 8

After-tax profit as set out in the audited Orange Triangle E &4
results of the Orange Triangle for the EETELERER

First Performance Undertaking Year FrEBRBE BT
RMB 100,000,000 or above AR#100,000,0007T8 A 66,726,370 -
Between RMB90,000,000 (inclusive) and N A KR #90,000,0007T
RMB 100,000,000 (BREZEH EARE
100,000,0007T 7 f&] 60,371,478 6,354,892
Between RMB80,000,000 (inclusive) and - AR #80,000,0007T
RMB90,000,000 (BREZEH BEARE
90,000,000 2 & 47,661,693 19,064,677
Between RMB70,000,000 (inclusive) and T F AR#70,000,0007C
RMB80,000,000 (PHEZeRE) BARE
80,000,0007T 2 & 28,597,016 38,129,354
Less than RMB70,000,000 ER AR #70,000,0007T - 66,726,370
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B TS ERR MR

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

G

Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued)

After-tax profit as set out in the audited

results of the Orange Triangle for
the Second Performance
Undertaking Year

RMB130,000,000 or above
Between RMB 117,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB130,000,000

Between RMB 104,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB117,000,000

Between RMB91,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB 104,000,000

Less than RMB91,000,000

14 E£X%E6tw

c. Orange Triangle Inc.(#)

Total Total

number of number of
Consideration  Consideration
Shares to be Shares to be
released to repurchased

the Seller by the
Guarantors Company
HEBESERA AT
BHzRE fBEZRE
Egrpt igript

Orange TriangleZ —{EE#
BRHTERERES
FRERRBLERF

AE#130,000,0007T8 A 44,479,057 -
AR 117,000,0007T

(PEZEE) BEARE

130,000,0007T 2 & 40,242,957 4,236,100
N AR % 104,000,0007T

(PREZEE) BEARE

117,000,0007T 2 & 31,770,755 12,708,302
N AER%91,000,0007T

(PREZESE) BEARE

104,000,0007T 2 & 19,062,453 25,416,604
M AR #91,000,0007T - 44,479,057

After-tax profit as set out in the audited

results of the Orange Triangle for the
Third Performance Undertaking Year
RMB170,000,000 or above
Between RMB 153,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB170,000,000

Between RMB 136,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB153,000,000

Between RMB 119,000,000 (inclusive) and
RMB 136,000,000

Less than RMB 119,000,000

Orange TriangleZ2 ={EE#

RETELERER

FrERBRB % 5 F
AE#170,000,0007T8 A 44,479,058 -
N AR % 153,000,0007T

(BiEZeB) BEARKE

170,000,0007T 2 [& 40,242,958 4,236,100
NF AR % 136,000,0007C

(PEZEE) BEARE

153,000,0007T 2 & 31,770,756 12,708,302
N AR%119,000,0007T

(PREZEE) BEARE

136,000,0007T 2 & 19,062,454 25,416,604
M AR 119,000,0007T - 44,479,058
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BRI

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued)

Buy back mechanism

In consideration of each of the Seller Guarantors undertake that
the Orange Triangle shall achieve the Performance Targets for
each Performance Undertaking Year during the Performance
Undertaking Period, the Company has absolute discretion to
unwind the Sale and Purchase Agreement by serving a written
notice within a three-month period following the issuance of the
audited accounts of the Orange Triangle for the First Performance
Undertaking Year to the other parties to dispose of the Sale
Shares to the Seller if the Orange Triangle achieves less than
RMB70,000,000 in its after-tax profit as set out in the audited
results for the First Performance Undertaking Year.

Upon the serving of the written notice, the obligation of the
Company to pay the consideration shall immediately lapse and
the parties agree to, and undertake to sign and procure to sign
all necessary documents and take all necessary actions to reverse
the transactions (to the extent that it has occurred or completed
on or prior to the date of termination), including but not limited
to refunding all cash consideration by the seller to the Company,
the Company and each Seller Guarantor shall jointly instruct the
escrow agent, as the case may be, to release all the Consideration
Shares and all dividends attached to such Consideration Shares to
the Company. The Company shall repurchase such Consideration
Shares at a total consideration of RMB1.00 and such Consideration
Shares shall be cancelled by the Company thereafter.

During the Performance Undertaking Period, when there is a
shortfall in the audited after tax profit as set out in the audited
results, the Company shall repurchase the relevant Consideration
Shares pursuant to the then repurchase agreement.

1 82 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Orange Triangle Inc.(%&)

FE O] ]

ZEEEEHERAEGE  Orange
Triangle #% 1A B 4975 5 B 132 Ak & B 407
HFERELEE » fHOrange Trianglerd
B (B AR R R A AR BT 2 BT
& FZE TR AR #70,000,0007T - B
A Orange Trianglest & B A0 5GE FE %
R EZER B % =@ A MK - QAR
ERENEEBRAEMET AR ESEBA
MR EE HZ - MBS EEHERD -

REEMANE  ARBAXNREZER
M ANVKS BFTHOARERAE  2ER
REFBME VB RFEEHETT
BARER 5 (BARKRIE B EIs 2 A4
HER ) BIEETERREARAARREIR
EFFEREESRE ARAIREEFERA
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No’ggs to the Con§olidated Financial Statements
&GRSR

14 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

c. Orange Triangle Inc. (Continued)
Buy back mechanism (Continued)
As at 3rd July 2015, a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB6,600,000 in relation to this
arrangement was recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on the contingent consideration
arrangement.

As at 31st December 2015, the fair value of the contingent
consideration was approximately RMB5,100,000, the change
in the fair value amounted RMB1,500,000 was charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement was
estimated by applying income approach which considers the
probability that Seller Guarantor could complete the performance
target and the market prices of the consideration share at the
valuation date.

The key unobservable assumptions in calculating this profit are:

Assumption

E

Discount rate (pre-tax) ARIR F (BRFRAT)
Probability to achieve the performance target ENBAOBIRE AR

14 E£BE6t

Orange Triangle Inc.(4)

BEI#E ()

R-Z—AF+A=A  BHARTHE
RTEFABRZEREENARK
6,600,0007C E AR F S AR B L HER I
RA BHRRIER

R-ZT—AFE+-A=+—H  HAKRE
ZANFELHAARES100,0007T @ AF
Bz &8 AR 1,500,000 A g A
Wes R 8 o

FARBLRE 2 A TERABREEGRE

HEBE T ERANZERBHOBRZATRE
ERREROREERBRZTE -

AEZENZ EENABRERERS

19%
90%

The revenue, net of amortisation expense of intangible assets,
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income since 3rd July 2015 contributed by Orange Triangle was
RMB190,058,000. Orange Triangle also contributed profit of
RMB42,896,000 over the same period.

Had Orange Triangle been consolidated from 1st January 2015, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income would show pro-
forma revenue of approximately RMB1,013,620,000 and profit of
approximately RMB31,149,000.

BE-ZZ—AF+tA=H# ' Orange
Triangle B RAGT A R IR R ZHE
WAGRELEERER R SARE
190,058,000 7T ° Orange Triangle 71 /A ]
HERVANAR42,896,0007T °

fiiOrange TriangleB —E— R4 — A —H
BEHFA AR - AlafHRalamkERT
HEHE WAL AR 1,013,620,0007T
Ko FI# AR #E31,149,0007T ©
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BRI

15 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

15 AIHHESHEE

Inner
Mongolia
Hohhot
Jingu Rural
Commercial
Cogobuy Bank Limited
Group Company*
(Note 1) (Note 3)
Zamplus
(Cayman) A& FEH
Holdings EREA
RHER Limited ENEZERIT
£8 (Note 2) RGBABRALH
(BiFEE) (PiaE2) (Mi=E3) st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBFIT
As at 1st January 2014 WZZ—WFE—H—H - - - -
Additions =0 124,282 30,743 - 155,025
Fair value gain recognised in other 7 E b2 E U A i 32
comprehensive income 2 A ENE 6,130 13,112 - 19,242
As at 31st December 2014 and R ZZ—PF
1st January 2015 +=—A=+—HK
—E-RF—HA—H 130,412 43,855 - 174,267
Additions N - - 57,900 57,900
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in - A EAth 2 EW AFER 2
other comprehensive income DA, (BX) 198,725 (11,302) 2,100 189,523
As at 31st December 2015 RZZE—RF
+=-—A=+—H 329,137 32,553 60,000 421,690

* English names are translated for identification propose only.
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SHIFRERMITE

15

16

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

Note 1: In July 2014, the Group subscribed for 38,758,000 ordinary shares of
Cogobuy Group for an aggregate amount of US$20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB124,281,000). Cogobuy Group is a corporation
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the investment from the Group represents 2.8% of all issued share
capital of Cogobuy Group at the acquisition date.

Note 2: The Group subscribed for 89,286 shares of Zamplus (Cayman) Holdings
Limited (“Zamplus”) for an aggregate amount of US$5,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB30,743,000). Zamplus is a private
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Its subsidiaries provide
consulting services on online advertisement to the customers. The
investment from the Group represents 4.76% of all shares of Zamplus at
the acquisition date.

Note 3: In July 2015, the Group subscribed for 19,300,000 shares of N5 & 1F
MEFEARNEERITIRNBR AT (Inner Mongolia Hohhot Jingu
Rural Commercial Bank Limited Company*) (“Jingu”) for an aggregate
amount of RMB57,900,000. Jingu is a joint stock company incorporated
in the PRC. The investment from the Group represents 2.49% of the
issued shares of Jingu at the acquisition date.

There were no impairment provisions on available-for-sale financial assets
made during the year ended 31st December 2015 (2014: Nil).

DIRECT SELLING COSTS

Upon the receipt of subscription revenue from third party customers,
the Group is obliged to pay sales commissions and agency fees to the
salespersons and agents. The subscription revenue are initially deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
in the period during which the services are rendered. Accordingly, the
commissions and agency fees, which are directly attributable to earning
from such subscription revenue during the service period, are deferred
and recognised, in agency cost, employees benefit expense, sales
commission and direct expenses of online services, respectively, of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income throughout the same
period.

15

16

AHHESHMEE

MizE1: A-Z—NE+LA - AEERERETHNE
[E38,758,000% X3/ A% + #2%8/520,000,000
ET(HEERYARY124,281,0007T) © Rt
BN EELE—RMREBHARINBRA
AIFEIR EMZ AR REAEEZHERE
REERTHEERURE B 82 258 TR
K2.8% °

fizE2 : 7N % & R B Zamplus (Cayman) Holdings
Limited ([ Zamplus |)89,286 A% A% 17 » 48%8 4
5,000,0003 7T (15 E 749 AR #530,743,000
JC) ° Zamplus B —ERFE B S ML
ZRARE - HBARGG LESAES
REZARS - REAEBZREBER
ZamplusAUREE B 83,2 2 2% 19 4.76% ©

M3 N-T-RFLH  AEERBEBARGITM
ERHEAENBERTROARAR (T2
A 1)19,300,000f i - BE B AR
57,900,0007T ° &4 —EH A Bl A Sz
ZABRTE - REAEEZRERERER
RUEE BB B BT 2.49% -

HE-Z-—AF+-_A=+—HLFE i
ERAEHESRMEEMHDREREB(ZF
—POF ;&) o

EEHEERE
BREE=HES 2 AWK - AREIE
HEABEARREL N HERERKER
P« ETRBUCA 125 BIRAE A R R AR TS AR 2
ApHR Al KR - Btk - RIS SRR
AMBPATMERESZ Mo RR]EEMAEET
WRRBMEA A KR D BIRR AR IZH
¥ REEANY - BERSRBLEREZE
EBA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

17 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE 17 EWmEHEERE
Certain equipment have been leased out through finance leases entered ETRECRBAAREET I MELER
into by the Group. These leases have remaining terms within one to HeZEHEZHRTHPBER —ZE=F2
three year. Finance lease receivables comprised of the following: A o BETRERBGIEEEN TS ¢
2015 2014
—Z2-—FRF —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREETTT
Non-current receivables FEBNHAFE R R IR
Finance leases — gross receivables B EMEE — FEUGRIBAEEER 26,880 -
Unearned finance income REREUZ BB WA (2,880) =
24,000 =
Current receivables BIHA e WL TR IR
Finance leases — gross receivables RETHE — FEEIERRE 73,478 -
Unearned finance income REREUZ BE WA (4,632) -
68,846 -
Total finance leases receivables RA S EIWGIEREE 92,846 -
Gross receivables from finance leases: REMERSE 2 EIRIEEE :
— No later than 1 year —PER—F 73,478 -
— Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —ER—FENENRRE 26,880 -
100,358 -
Unearned future finance income on finance leases &7 & & BEER 7 7R 3R gt & WA (7,512) -
Net investment in finance leases REEHE2REFE 92,846 -
The net investment in finance leases may be RERE 2 IREFETIRAT
analysed as follows: FHSHT -
— No later than 1 year —NER—%F 68,846 -
— Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —ER—FETERRSE 24,000 -
Total HET 92,846 -
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BTSRRI

18 INVENTORIES

18 €

2015 2014
—E-RfF —F-MmEF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Raw materials BERE

AR® T AREET T

3,073 520

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost
of revenue’ amounted to RMB25,104,000 (31st December 2014:
RMB7,904,000).

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BRARI W AIEERAEK | 2 EFR A
A ANRH25,104,000c (T —NF+— A
=+—H : AR¥7,904,0007T) °

19 BERBRESLEEY

2015 2014
—E-RE —ZT—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITRENEFRS 690,051 384,311
Fixed deposits TEEATF R 100,650 937,678
790,701 1,321,989

Denominated in: T E#EHE
Hong Kong Dollars BT 28,273 16,945
Renminbi AR 757,366 1,304,031
US dollars ETT 5,062 1,013
790,701 1,321,989

The fixed deposits were highly liquid with original maturities of three
months or less. As at 31st December 2015, cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB748,754,000 (2014: RMB693,745,000) of the
Group were denominated in Renminbi and deposited with banks in the
PRC. The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

THERASREN  REHAA=EAHMN
AeRZF-—RAFTZA=1+—H AKEA
AREGFEAGTARBERREITZHS MES
LEMH B AREET48,754,000T (= F—
F . AR¥693,745,0007T) © 5L EUARE
FHEZ HE R FIE H IR AN AS F BB BEG
ZHNEE BRI R IR FIFTARR
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20 SHARE CAPITAL 20 IR

Number of

ordinary shares Par value

EERHA g
RMB'000

ARBETT

At 1st January 2014 R-_ZE—W&E—HF—H 659,579,618 65,865
Exercise of share options 1T AR 7,587,000 600
At 31st December 2014 R-—ZE—m&E+=-—A=+—A 667,166,618 66,465
Issuance of new shares BEITHR D 74,540,000 6,134
Issuance of shares for acquisition BITUUEE R (MHRE14(0))

(Note 14(c)) 155,684,485 12,283
Exercise of share options TR MR AE 2,555,000 208
At 31st December 2015 R-E—FRF+-_A=+—H 899,946,103 85,090

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000 shares
(2014: 1,000,000,000 shares) with a par value of HK$0.1 per share
(2014: HK$0.1 per share). All issued shares are fully paid.

The Company issued 155,684,485 shares on 3rd July 2015 to the Mr.
Liu Xiaodong, Mr. Shi Shilin, Mr. Wang Qian and Ms. Yang Ye (together,
the “Seller Guarantor”) as part of the purchase consideration for
acquisition of 100% of share capital of Orange Triangle Inc. (“Orange
Triangle”). The ordinary shares issued have the same rights as the
other shares in issue. The fair value of the shares issued amounted to
RMB859,802,000 (HK$7 per share) on the issurance date.

The Company also issued 74,540,000 shares on 20th November 2015
via share placement. The ordinary shares issued have the same rights as
the other shares in issue. The fair value of the shares issued amounted to
RMB222,432,000 (HK3.82 per shares) on the issuance date.

1 88 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015

AT B 4% 42,000,000,0008 ( —Z—M
4 : 1,000,000,0008% ) R EEC1EIL(ZF
—EF - BROABIT) ZBRD - FTED TR
MHEBEEE -

AARIRZE—RAFEA=HME/NETE -
EHEMEE - TEEERBELT(FEIE A
IR A J)E17155,684,4852 8217 © 1EBUKE
Orange Triangle Inc.([ Orange Triangle |) & &F %
AzBEERE—HD - BEIT 2 EBARM AN
Hin B BITROMBRZEF - BEEITRHNE
fTHEZ AFE A AR ¥859,802,0007T (F ik
7HIT) ©

RARPR_ZE—HET+—A=-TBEBRHG
il & 351774,540,0000 J2 1 - BEIT 2 LR
B B E A B ARG ABR 2 4 F) - B E1TAR
MREITEHRZ AFERARE222,432,000
To(ER%3.82%87T) ©



20 SHARE CAPITAL (c

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT HRRAE

ontinued)

Share options

During the year ended 31st December 2006, a total of 10,000,000 share
options were granted to one executive Director and certain employees
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, of which 2,460,000, 2,908,000,
346,000, 644,000, 274,000 and 134,000 share options were lapsed
during the year ended 31st December 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011
and 2012 respectively. During the year ended 31st December 2012,
2013, 2014 and 2015, 366,000, 1,024,000, 316,000 and 70,000
share options were exercised. The grantees can exercise 100% of these
options at an exercise price of HK$1.49 per share in ten years period
starting from the expiry of twelve months from the date of the granting
of options, being 23rd June 2006.

During the year ended 31st December 2007, a total of 23,000,000 share
options were granted to two executive Directors and certain employees
pursuant to Share Option Scheme, of which 10,267,000, 1,035,000,
2,403,000, and 668,000 share options were lapsed during the year
ended 31st December 2008, 2009, 2010, and 2011 respectively. During
the year ended 31st December 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015, 1,376,000,
1,621,000, 995,000 and 677,000 share options were exercised. The
grantees can exercise these options at an exercise price of HK$1.24 per
share in ten years period starting from the expiry of twelve months from
the date of the granting of options, being 11th July 2007. Commencing
from the first and second anniversaries of the Offer Date, the relevant
grantee may exercise options up to 50% and 100% respectively.

20

;& NE))

B
REZE_FEF+_A=+T—HLFE R
EREAERTE) - 43£10,000,00017 BB ED %
F—R2PTES KD ET - mEAF2,460,000
%~ 2,908,000 * 346,0001 * 644,00017
274,0001) K 134,00017 FE IR # E D BIR B 2
—ETLF  ZETNF ZZEThF =
T-ZTF . . _FT——FR-ZT—-F+=A
E‘l‘*ELtiJ‘tTW%?ﬂ cHREBE_E—_%F .
ZE—=F ZE-NFRZZT-—AFt+=

:+—EI¢¢E » B2 RI17{£366,00017 *
1,024,00017 * 316,00017 % 70,00017 f& A% 4 -
ARARBREREBBENI 2T XFRXA
ZTER)ETEAERRASGZ TEA  LE
BR1.49BTT 2 ATIE B TR A S EARIE -

REBEEZ_ZEZLF+-A=1+—BLFE "
1R 5 B8 A A 5t &) - & #£23,000,000 1) B8 A%
BERTMEBRTEELRTHET - MEP
10,267,00015 - 1,035,00013 - 2,403,00015 &
668,000 IR IEE D RIRBEZ T /)\F
ZEENF - ZE-TFER_T——F+=A
=t+—HIEFERARY - REBEE=T—=F -
TR ZE-NER-FT-AF+ZA
=+—HIEFE ' BEDRITT{£1,376,00015 -
1,621,000 1% ~ 995,000 3 & 677,000 15 B %
T o AR ATREREREBBHEI =TT 45
tA+—R)RF+ZEAERMABZTEFEA -
AR 248 T 2 AT EBITE R SRR - #
BHEME—RERERL  BEEARAR
%A D BI1T1E50% & 100% 2 BEARE -
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 20 BRAS(#)

Share options (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December 2008, a total of 14,600,000 share
options were granted to one executive director and certain employees
pursuant to Share Option Scheme, of which 500,000, 1,180,000
and 120,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended 31st
December 2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively. During the year ended
31st December 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015, 700,000,
2,300,000, 2,600,000, 3,000,000, 1,200,000 and 100,000 share
options were exercised. The grantees can exercise these options at an
exercise price of HK$0.604 per share in ten years period starting from
the expiry of twelve months from the date of the granting of options,
being 29th September 2008. Commencing from the first anniversary of
the Offer Date, the relevant grantee may exercise options 100%.

During the year ended 31st December 2010, a total of 33,800,000
share options were granted to one executive Director and certain
employees pursuant to Share Option Scheme, of which 700,000,
400,000 and 800,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended
31st December 2010, 2011 and 2012 respectively. During the year
ended 31st December 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015, 1,000,000,
5,550,000, 9,482,000, 3,650,000 and 1,630,000 share options were
exercised. The granters can exercise these options at an exercise price of
HK$0.82 per share in ten years period starting from the expiry of twelve
months from the date of the granting of options, being 7th April 2010.
Commencing from the first and second anniversaries of the date of
grant, the relevant grantee may exercise options up to 50% and 100%
respectively.
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BREE
REBEE-_TTN\F+-_B=+—BItEE '
EREAERTE] - A 3£14,600,00017 BBIRED %
FT—EZBITESRFHETL - MEH 500,000
%~ 1,180,0001% & 120,00013 BB # E % 5
RBEE-_ZTETHE T ZFR-_FT——
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 20 BRA (@)

Share options (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December 2011, a total of 3,000,000 share
options were granted to certain employees pursuant to share option
scheme, of which 100,000, 100,000 and 50,000 share options were
lapsed during the year ended 31st December 2011, 2012 and 2013.
During the year ended 31st December 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015,
800,000, 1,670,000, 30,000 and 50,000 share options were exercised.
The granters can exercise these options at an exercise price of HK$1.108
per share in ten years period starting from the expiry of twelve months
from the date of the granting of options, being 28th March 2011.
Commencing from the first and second anniversaries of the date of
grant, the relevant grantee may exercise options up to 50% and 100%
respectively.

On 3rd April 2013, a total of 1,500,000 share options were granted to
an employee pursuant to share option scheme. The grantee can exercise
these options at an exercise price of HK$4.402 per share in ten years
period starting from the expiry of twelve months from the date of the
granting of options, being 3rd April 2013. Commencing from the first
anniversaries of the date of grant, the relevant grantees may exercise
options up to 10% and gradually up to 100% at the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant. During the years ended 31st December 2014 and
2015, no share options were exercised.

On 18th November 2013, a total of 10,000,000 share options were
granted to certain employees pursuant to share option scheme. During
the year ended 31st December 2015, 28000 share options were
exercised. The grantee can exercise these options at an exercise price of
HK$9.84 per share in ten years period starting from the expiry of twelve
months from the date of the granting of options, being 18th November
2013. Commencing from the first anniversaries of the date of grant,
the relevant grantees may exercise options up to 10% and gradually up
to 100% at the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. During the year
ended 31st December 2015, 28,000 share options were exercised.

BREE

REBEE-_T——F+-_A=+—HIEE
BT &) - & ££3,000,00017 B AR #E B 1%
FEoE T - MEA 100,000 + 100,00017
50,0000 EREERBE=_E—F - =%
—ZFRZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFER
K- RBE-ZT——F —T—=F -=F
—NFERZTE-RAF+_A=+—HILFE -
2 77 1#.800,0001% * 1,670,000 * 30,000 {7
150,000 A% o I A A A BB ARAE IR A HA
(=2 —F=A=-t+\A)EH+=-EAE
WA TFA - AEAR1.1088 T 2 I TEETT
FZEEBE  UREBPrE—REZAF
B BEARATRZ S BI1T850% &% 100%
ZFBRRAE o

MN-E—=FWA=H  REERETSE &
$£1,500,000 EREER T —RETL - FEA
AREREREBIBEIZE—=FMmA=H)
BEFZEAAERARZ TFAR - LAER4.402
BT ZATEEITEZ SRR - #RE A
FE—EFR  BEABRANITERZI10% K
HEHASZ ERBFLAESITEI0%Z

—HF+ZA=t+—HILFERNETE -

RZZB—=%+—A+N\B - REBERES
Z| - & 4£10,000,00017 fE IR IEE K T A9 B
i

CREEZZT-—RAFtTZA=T—HLF
£ B7{F2800010 FEAR#E o A A AR BERR
BEEEESHA—Z—=F+—A+N\B) s
+EAEmFARZ TFR - LAER9.84E T
ZATEBITEZEHERE R BH 2 E—
BFRAAARAITERZ10% RHERLEH
H 2 EREFRAIZFITE100% 2 AR E o
RBE_ET—HE+_A=+—BIEE "
28,0007 fE it B AT (6 -
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 20 BRAm)
Share options (Continued) MERR (e
The assumptions for valuation of fair value of share options are as FHEEARE A T EMA BRI
follows:

29th 18th
23rd June 1thJuly  September Tth April  28th March 3rd April  November

2006 2007 2008 2010 2011 2013 2013
“EEN\f  CB-Bf “B3-—-§ C-E-=f -E-=
hA=thA MAtE =ZA=tNR MA=H T-ATAR

Exercise price (in HK dollar TR 149 124 0.604 0.82 1.108 4402 9.84
Fair value of the options (in RMB)  BRELTE(ARE) 3919000 9390000 2756000  12527,000 1377000 3754000 50,125,000
Risk free interest rate (in %) BERE(%) 491 4757 3.133 2.865 2.820 1M 1915
Expected life (in years) BHEH(F) 3255 2462 38438 3459 3849 9.1956 4779
Volatilty (in %) %EH(%) 348 49 72 798 774 75 715

Expected dividend per share (cents) ~ BEHEREE(D) = - - - - - _

At the working date before options were granted, 22nd June 2006, REREERLA 2 TER - ZTTRF~A
10th July 2007, 26th September 2008, 6th April 2010, 25th March Z+ZB - ZZET+EFLATH ZTTNF
2011, 2nd April 2013 and 15th November 2013, the market value per hAZ+A<"HB ZZ—ZFTFWPAXA - =%
share was HK$1.45, HK$1.24, HK$0.55, HK$0.82, HK$1.1, HK$4.3 and ——F&=f=-+FHHE —ZE—=FWMWA_-H
HK$9.23 respectively. kZZT—=F+—A+HA  SRWEDHA

1.45/7T ~ 1.24%8 7T ~ 0.55%8 7T ~ 0.82/8 7T -
1187~ 4387 )%9.238 7T
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 20 BRA (@)

Share options (Continued)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
exercise prices are as follows:

(i) Share Option Scheme

2015

SRR ()
RATIRRBRAE R R RATIE(E 2 BB T :

() FBRESS

—E-FF

Exercise

price in HK$

Expiry date per share
BRAET

FH A TEE

At 1st January 2.40
K—H—H 1.49
1.24
0.604
0.82
1.108
4.402
9.84

Granted 2.40
BERA 1.49
1.24
0.604
0.82
1.108
4.402
9.84

Lapsed and exercised 2.40
BRBEATE 1.49
1.24

0.604

0.82

1.108

4.402

9.84

Share
options

fERE

1,528,000
4,375,000
3,000,000
12,218,000
250,000
1,500,000
10,000,000

(70,000)
(677,000)
(100,000)

(1,630,000)

(50,000)

(28,000)

2014
—ETF
Exercise
price in HK$ Share
per share Options
BRBT

1TEfE i
2.40 1,396,000
1.49 1,844,000
1.24 5,370,000
0.604 4,200,000
0.82 15,868,000
1.108 280,000
4.402 1,500,000
9.84 10,000,000
2.40 -
1.49 -
1.24 -
0.604 -
0.82 -
1.108 -
4.402 -
9.84 -
2.40 (1,396,000)
1.49 (316,000)
1.24 (995,000)
0.604 (1,200,000)
0.82 (3,650,000)
1.108 (30,000
4.402 -
9.84 -
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share options (Continued)

(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

At 31st December
W+=—A=+—H

Expiry date

FI8A

18th February 2014
“E-mFE-A+NH
23rd June 2016
—Z-RERA=Z+=H
11th July 2017
—E—+FtA+—H
29th September 2018
—E-\FNAAZF+AIH
7th April 2020
—Z-ZFMA+H
27th March 2021

- —F=R=++H
3rd April 2023
“E-=FMA=H
18th November 2023
—E-=F+—A+)\H

20 BRAS(#)

fBIR A ()

() BRESE(E)

2015 2014
—E-hfF —TmF

Exercise Exercise
price in HK$ Share price in HK$ Share
per share options per share Options

SRET SHET
TEE AR 1728 B
2.40 = 2.40 _
1.49 1,458,000 1.49 1,528,000
1.24 3,698,000 1.24 4,375,000
0.604 2,900,000 0.604 3,000,000
0.82 10,588,000 0.82 12,218,000
1.108 200,000 1.108 250,000
4.402 1,500,000 4.402 1,500,000
9.84 9,972,000 9.84 10,000,000

Share Award Scheme

On 23rd November 2011 and pursuant to the Share Award Scheme,
the Board resolved to grant an aggregate of 24,181,000 shares to 72
selected employees (including an executive director of the Company).

On 14th June 2012, the Board resolved to grant Lee Wee Ong, an
executive director of the Company, 3,000,000 shares, subjected to a
vesting period of 36 months.

On 20th August 2012, the shareholders resolved to grant Guo Jiang, an
executive director of the Company, 16,700,000 shares, subjected to a
vesting period of 72 months.

As at 31st December 2015, 45,566,000 shares (31st December 2014:
45,566,000 shares) had been purchased by the trustee as awarded
shares pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme. The awarded
shares will be held by the trustee in accordance with the rules of the
Share Award Scheme and the relevant trust period.

The awarded shares are subject to vesting periods from 6 months to 72
months.
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R-E——&E+—A=+=H - RIERDER
HE BEEeRBEANULTEREES (BEFERX
NE—RMITES) R T A $£24,181,000 8% A%

1/\ o

RZE—ZFXATHNBE @ EFEREALA
Al 1T E F Lee Wee Ong#% F 3,000,000 % f%
1 RBHA3GMEAR -

RZFE——FN\A=-+H8 BREIZEALQF
HMITEEZTI F16,700,0000% B 1n -+ 5B HA
B72EA -
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BTSRRI

20 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Share Award Scheme (Continued)
The following table represents the movements for number of shares
under the Share Award Scheme for the year ended 31st December

20 BRAS(#)

R EB 8 8)
TRIRRG R R RE_F—AF =
A=+—BILFERHME ZBIER -

2015.

Number of

shares

R BB

At 1st January 2014 RZZE—MmFE—H—H 34,749,335
Shares purchased from the market KB EEERN 2,992,000
Shares vested during the year AEECHBRG (6,305,936)
At 31st December 2014 R-Z—WWFE+—-_A=+—8H 31,435,399
At 1st January 2015 R-ZE—RF—A—H 31,435,399
Shares vested during the year AEEDHBIRD (9,558,024)
At 31st December 2015 R-ZE—FRF+_A=+—H 21,877,375

The following is a summary of the shares granted, vested and lapsed
during the year since the set up of the Share Award Scheme:

AT B REFTEIRZ 2 FAERL - B8
TR 2 B -

Number of shares
(in thousand unit)

BAEE (TR)
2015 2014
—EB-FRf —T—pmE
At 1st January WwW—H—H 32,750 36,056
Granted during the year KEEDEL = 3,000
Shares vested 55 B AR (9,558) (6,306)
Allocated but not vested ENEERERE 23,192 32,750

The Group has adopted the requirements under HKFRS 2 to account for
the equity compensation expenses of the shares granted at the date of
grant at fair value.

AEBERMEBUBRMELERFE 2R 2R
E o RRE AR ATERERE RG2S
HEEMARK -
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21 OTHER RESERVES 21 Hitbf#

MIEC

Convertible Share-based Share Available- ~ for share

Share bond Other Merger compensation ~redemption  Exchange for-sale reward
premium reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve reserve reserve scheme Total

TRRES IRfAER  RAEWE THIE  BARRHE
B B RERE  AKER  JRRER B ERGR B RS ait
RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBOOD  RVBOOO  RVBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO

ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETRH 4 \RETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETR

At 1st January 2014 WZF-IF-F-B 633269 - (17.493) 109817 60,797 4% (12:83) - (107.814) 666,39
Share based compensation ~~ MEARF 2B

- value of employee -EERBEE

Services - - - - 29912 - - - - 29912
Convertile Bond TARES

- equity component . e - 50,858 - - - - - - = 50,858
Exercise of share options TR RE 6,353 - - - - - - - - 6,353
Currency translation difference  S%EH & - = - - - - 235 - - 235
Shares purchased under RERAREHE

share award scheme EAR - - - - - - - N 1T €
Vesting of awarded shares ~ SEZEIR 1,198 - - - (8,908) - - - 1710 -
Fair value gain on TREESREE

avalable-for-sale LTEYE 1k

finandial assets,net of ERER(M3E15R29)

deferred tax (Notes 15 & 29) - - - - - - - 16,067 - 16,067

Changes in ownership M{%iﬁ%\lféz
inteest in subsidiaries HHBLTEAE
without change of EnZE()
control (Note 22) - - 4 - - : - - - n

At 315t December 2014 R-E-pE

t25=1-H 640,820 50,858 (17.421) 109,817 81801 49 (10,478) 16,067 (130,952) 741,008

At 1st January 2015 RZZ-RF-A-B 640820 50,858 (17.421) 109817 81801 49 (10,478) 16,067 (130,952) 741,008
Share based compensation ~ MER% T2 EE

- value of employee -RERKEE

services - - - - 29231 - - - - 2931
Erercie of share options iRk 1,951 - - - - - - - - 1951
Issuance of new shares Brah 1,063,819 - - - - - - - - 1063819
Currency trandlation difference  S%EH 28 - - - - - - (17.808) - - (17.808)
Vesting of awarded shares ~ BEZER [ 2780 - - - (17.124) - - - 14344 -
Fairvalue gain on ke HEE

avallable-for-sale ATElE

financial asets, net of MREIEH

deferred tax (Notes 158&29)  (Mf5F15529) - - - - - - - 158,283 - 158,283

At 315t December 2015 RZE-1F
tzh=1-A 1,709,370 50,858 (17.421) 109817 93,908 496 (28,286 174350 (116,608 1,976,484
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21

22

OTHER RESERVES (continued)

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly
foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are required to
appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less than 10% of the
profit after income tax, calculated based on the PRC accounting
standards. Should the accumulated total of this reserve fund reach 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not
be required to make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can
only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31st December 2015, retained earnings
amounted approximately RMB17,473,000 (2014: RMB 22,716,000)
had been transferred to the statutory reserves. As at 31st December
2015, retained earnings comprise statutory reserve fund amounting to
RMB63,916,000 (2014: RMB46,443,000).

CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL
On 24th February 2014, a new shareholder injected capital amounting
to RMB170,000 into ML 2 [EE FRE AR AE], a non-wholly-
owned controlling subsidiary of the Group. The new shareholder
subscribes 10% of the equity interest. After this transaction, the equity
interest in BB ENIEES Fmm%5 AR A A was diluted from 59% to
53.1%.

The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest disposed and
consideration paid in excess of carrying value recognised within equity as
a result of the transaction with non-controlling interest were as follows:

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests disposed

21

22

HifAE )
RIEEARINE B L2 BT AR - &
B B 2 /B R R B @ s A A B R
R FTEBERFI0%EEES - MiLiEEe
Rt s B AT SEMEAR50% -
RPN B 2 T4 BB (A — A -
BIRE A S RN R B 1E - RE
SEAAEEE R AR RS -

HE-_Z-—RAF+-_A=t—HL=EE Z=
WA ARE17,473,0007C( —Z —P04F -
AR¥E22,716,0007) B B E X FEHE - K=
T-AF+-_A=+—8B BHEUKSIEEET
EES AREE3,916,0000(ZZT—F : AR
#46,443,0007T) °

FEFKRELEFIEZH B DR
ErEkRE
RZZ—EF=ZAZ+ME - —BFHRERAR
EEFZERRNBARGLMEREETRH
BHERRAREEARY170,0007T © FAZRR
BE10% B AR - LR 5% - REBILTTEHRE
BIRBAERARZBRAEEE B59%EHE
53.1% °

B EIEER R RETTR S - P& FEE AR
B NRENREZREER B AR AR 2R
EEHFIAT -

2014
—Z—F

RMB'000
ARETTT

Pt & FEIE AR A 2 AR TEE 98

Consideration received from the non-controlling interests & Y FEFE AR HEZR (B (170)
Consideration received in excess of carrying value RiESEAERBLERAEZ
recognised within equity 2HRIE (72)
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23 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATION 23 BMEMHERE
2015 2014
—E-RF —T—EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFIT
Finance lease obligations REHESE
Non-current ERE 249 979
Current ED 734 1,175
Total finance lease obligation MEHEETETE 983 2,154
Gross finance lease obligations — minimum lease &A@ EHEAE - REHE
payments [NE:N
No later than 1 year TBR—F 833 1,432
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years BR—FETNERESF 263 1,096
Future finance charges on finance leases BEHEZ RKRMEZH (113) (374)
Present value of finance lease obligations MEHEaERE 983 2,154
The present value of finance lease obligations MELEEERE
is as follows: T
No later than 1 year TER—F 734 1,175
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years BA—FETERRSF 249 979
983 2,154

The fair values of the finance lease obligations equal their carrying
amounts. The carrying amounts of the finance lease obligation are
denominated in RMB. The effective interest rates for the finance lease
obligations ranging from 1.28% to 1.49% per month.
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BTSRRI

24 RECEIPT IN ADVANCE 24 FEWHIE

2015 2014
—Z-RF —ZE—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARBTT

Non-current FRE 53,237 519,532
Current D 1,088,866 -
1,142,103 519,532
The amount represents deposits received from independent third parties b AWM EBREPO20HEREFR LIE
on the presale of properties in the 020 business exhibition centre under EME2IRE -

development.

25 DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS 25 IRFEBATEEY

2015 2014
—Z2—-HF —ZT—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT

Non-Current JERED 195,048 206,300
Current mE 7,898 -
202,946 206,300
As at 31st December 2015, the deferred government grants represent BEBN#DER_TE—AF+=-A=+—H
government grants received. EUER 2 I T HE BN o
The grants are to subsidise the Group for the rental discount that the REEEREMIERE 2020 EREFR L2 4
Group will provide to the prospective tenants of the 020 business MPREBESITH - Mz AURZES
exhibition centre in Shunde of Guangzhou, and to subsidise the Group FERAEE IR AEEREETEEN
to purchase fixed assets for the Group’s expansion. B EB S THEL -
The conditions attached to these grants would be satisfied after 31st I EHPMHHE 2 EERR—_Z—RF+=A
December 2015. =t+—B%&EKX -
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26 TRADE PAYABLES, DEFERRED REVENUE AND 26 EfERF - EEWR AR EHE
ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES AR H At FEAS FRIE

2015 2014
—E—HF —E—JU4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT
Trade payables (Note a) FERTBR R (B 3Ea) 3,618 2,988
Deferred revenue FEIEWA 267,154 371,747
Accrued salaries and staff benefits e B TAgF 32,838 10,938
Accrued agency commission EETRERS 18,421 -
Accrued expenses fEETE A 28,070 17,287
Deposit from customers BEFR 45,430 23,169
Other payables H b EATRIE 24,176 21,388
419,707 447,517

(@)  The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:

@) ENRRZEREINET

2015 2014

—EB-FF —T—mE

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T AREETTT

Current to 90 days BIEEZE 90K 2,710 2,479
91 to 180 days 91£180K 593 247
181 to 365 days 181£2365K 159 152
Over 1 year BmiE—F 156 110
3,618 2,988

27 BORROWINGS

27 BE

2015
—Z2—-HF

RMB’'000

Non-current portion:

ARETT

Bank borrowings RITEE 20,000 32,766
Other borrowings HEmEE 26,597 8,373
46,597 41,139

Current portion: BN
Bank borrowings RITIEE 479,760 90,000
Other borrowings HifEE 952 8,525
480,712 98,525
527,309 139,664
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued) 27 8& )

Movements in borrowings is analysed as follows:

EEZEBHHT

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mE

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT

At 1st January n—H—H 139,664 113,671
Additions of borrowings FTIGEE 568,287 137,562
Repayments of borrowings BEEs (180,642) (111,569)
At 31st December R+-—A=+—H 527,309 139,664

Bank borrowings mature until 2017 and bear average interest rate of
5.54% per annum (2014: 7.66% per annum), part of which amounting
to RMB100,000,000 are secured by certain properties and land use right
amounting to RMB213,070,000 (2014: RMB718,831,000).

Other borrowings are provided by the non-controlling shareholders
of a subsidiary of the Group for the investment in an associate. The
borrowings are unsecured, mature until 2018 and bear average interest
rate of 6.4% per annum (2014: 6.5% per annum). The carrying amounts
of borrowings approximate their fair values and are denominated in
RMB.

The Group's borrowings were repayable as follows:

BITHEERN-Z—F2H  BFHFHNE
S54E(ZF—UF : FHETE6E)FE -
o E A R 100,000,000 7T A A R ¥
213,070,0007T 2 % F ¥ 3 I 4 40 455 A R VIR
(ZZ—mF : AR¥718,831,0007T) °

HAb & & AR B — B LR 2 FFERER
AR A RIRE MM - ZEEREEM
YR-—F-NFIH  ARFHFENE64E
(ZF—O%F - FHXR6.5E)FE - BREZERE
EREQAFEBE  TAAREIIE -

Bank borrowings Other borrowings
BITRE HiEE

2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RE —ZT—mMF —EB-HFE —IZ0OF
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR¥ETT AR¥BTR ARETT
Within 1 year —FR 479,760 90,000 952 8,525
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMFNR 20,000 32,766 8,320 -
Between 2 and 5 years MEERFNH - - 18,277 8,373
499,760 122,766 27,549 16,898

As at 31st December 2015, the Group has no undrawn banking facilities
(2014: RMB137,235,000).

RZE-—RAF+_A=+—0 XKEFENE
FEARRRRITHE(ZZT—NF : AR
137,235,0007T) °
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28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS 28 AEREX

The Company issued convertible bonds with a coupon rate of 5% per
annum at a total principal value of HK$780,000,000, approximate
RMB615,342,000 on 27th November 2014. The convertible bonds
will mature on 27th November 2019 at its principal amount or can be
converted into the Group's shares at the bondholder’s option at rate of
HK$11.63 per share.

The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:

ARARRZZE—NFEF+—A=Z+EHETAE
& #8%8 /780,000,000 7T @ HEROARKE
615,342,0007T * ZHE KT F5% 2 Al k&
%5 B ESAER - E—hE+—A=-++t
HiZE ARSI BNIREESF A AZEEN
B 638 T HRANEERD -

REFIBEARRRERZ HRRESIT -

2015 2014

—2-1F —F-mF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBETTT

Liability component as at 1st January R—A—HZzBEBY 553,956 -
Add: Initial recognition at m:R=—T—mFE+—A

27th November 2014 Z B HER = 549,890

Add: Effective interest expense (Note 35) o EERA SRS (HRE35) 42,805 3,960

Add: Exchange reserve o PR 34,821 106

Less: Interest paid B BB (31,357) -

Liability component as at 31st December R+ A=+—HZzE8&EHn 600,225 553,956

Note:

The fair value of the listed bond component of the convertible bonds as at 31st
December 2014 and 2015 is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate
based on the discount rate of 7.5%.

The convertible bonds — liability component are classified under non-current
liabilities. The carrying amounts of convertible bonds - liability component are
denominated in HK$.
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 ELEFREH
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a BB A AR HIITRT RIS E BB S E R
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax EHRIBEEEE - MBEEMETYRE—/
liabilities and when the deferred income tax relates to the same tax BRLERER - BT #REMEH A ERE R
jurisdiction. The offset amounts are as follows: i o HIHSFHWT ¢

2015 2014
—E-RfF —T—mF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Deferred income tax assets (to be recovered EEFTISHEE
after more than 12 months) (Brde+—EAEER) 17,271 4,452
Deferred income tax liabilities (to be settled BEFTSHaE
after more than 12 months) (BRrBe+—EAREBSEH) (148,131) (23,987)
(130,860) (19,535)
The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: RIEFTS TR B ) FEEMT ¢

2015 2014
—E-EfF —E—HF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

At 1st January n—A—H (19,535) (10,801)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 14) Ui — M B R EI(FIEE14) (99,750) (8,126)

Charged to the other comprehensive income RE M 2 S 2 8 (28,065) (3,175)

Credited to the consolidated statement of ReftirelimixERD

comprehensive income 16,490 2,567

At 31st December wnt+=—A=+—H (130,860) (19,535)
As at 31st December 2015, deferred income tax liabilities of R-ZZE—RF+-A=+—08 FEpTEHNE
RMB66,377,000 (2014: RMB45,651,000) have not been recognised for A A) 2z AR B R R S A B TR AN 1 AR BRI
the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings BT A EARY66,377,000L(=ZZF—M
of subsidiaries in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are to be used for F - AR¥EA45,651,0007T) © AEH2F 1A E
reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised where the timing FBIRE o WY R Z 581 0] 6Y RF ) B 7R SR B
of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group R R ZFE R TE R AR RERE - BIFTEH
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the BETTHER -

foreseeable future.

smmaras 20555 ) ()3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same taxation jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

29 EEMBH @)
EREEREEE RS B R R
BRGSO -

EEBIREE

Tax losses
HIEEE
2015 2014

—ZT—hFE —E—pUFE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT

At 1st January R—HA—H 4,980 3,736
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 14) U iE— R B A B (FizE14) - 180
Credited to the consolidated statement REHGERERER

of comprehensive income 12,291 1,064
At 31st December RAt+—A=+—8 17,271 4,980

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value gains
AFERE
2015 2014

“E-Rf ZTME
RMB'000 RMB'000

EERARE

Deferred expenses Total
ERERX #3t
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-nf  E-QmFE ZEB-EF —TMF
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000

ARETR ARETR

ARETR ARETT AR¥TR ARETR

At 1st January w—A—H 11,273 - 13,242 14,537 24,515 14,537
Acquisition of a subsidiary 4t —FME A7)

(Note 14) (Btzx14) 99,750 8,306 - - 99,750 8,306
Charged to the other REMZERAZH

comprehensive income 28,065 3,175 - - 28,065 3,175
Credited/(charged) tothe  RAB4RE

consolidated statement of W& ER

comprehensive income J(F8) (5,392) (208) 1,193 (1,295) (4,199) (1,503)
At 31st December RtZA=1+—H 133,69 11,273 14,435 13,242 148,131 24,515

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. The Group have no unrecognised tax
losses amounted as at 31st December 2015 (2014: Same).
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BTSRRI

30 INCOME TAX PAYABLE AND OTHER TAXES 30 FEMFTER R HipESFIE
PAYABLE

2015 2014
—EB-RF —TpmE

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT

Income tax payable: FEZFRSH -
Corporate income tax EEFTEH 23,421 26,521
Other taxes payable: HihfE#TiIE
Value added tax BEF 9,351 3,422
Cultural and development tax XA MERET 5,382 1,555
Other taxes EAnfiIE 8,538 10,380
23,271 15,357
31 OTHER INCOME 31 HfblgA

2015 2014
—Z-HF —ZE—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AEBTTT

Government grants T B 4,374 9,706
The Group received grants mainly from various local tax authorities in the REBUWER 2 758 = 2 8 B 2% E3ith 75 B IR
PRC for promoting electronic trading platform amongst the enterprises AR - BIERBETRESCXRAZEFRHT
in the PRC, the conditions specified in the government approval were B BUTHXARIBRZ GHERFRAREEX °

fully achieved during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

32 EXPENSES BY NATURE 32 EHESEZER

2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFIT
Direct expenses of trade catalogues and yellow — Tr¥E#HMmHBZ
page directories BEEREH 10,785 18,970
Direct expenses of online services HESHERG BB 7,220 3,094
Direct expenses of seminars and other services e REMRE 2 B EH 52,404 42,465
Direct expense of anti-counterfeiting products PhiaE R RIRE 2 %
and services &M 25,104 7,904
Agency cost RERER 106,607 166,262
Marketing expenses TGRS M 142,933 71,472
Network and telephone expenses wE B ER 18,057 15,731
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN S 3,052 2,886
— Audit services —EZIR% 2,490 2,123
- Non audit services — B ARTS 562 763
Employee benefits expenses (Note 33) EBEFFHZ(FIFE33) 300,399 224,020
Staff commission ET A& 71,147 86,326
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6) b {5 P4 2 i 8H (P RE6) 428 428
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 10) EREEZBHE(NE10) 24,189 1,498
Depreciation of property, plant M BERREBEZITE
and equipment (Note 9) (M7x9) 29,615 29,886
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value BATESABRZ SREE
through profit or loss AFERE 1,500 -
Provision for impairment and write off of trade  FEURRE SR 2 BB 8 K 4
receivables (Note 11) (fFzE11) 8,212 5,390
Bargain purchase from business combination Az ZERE - (38)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME  BENREZEER/
and equipment (Note 39) (Yez=) (MH3E39) 185 (86)
Operating lease payments in respect of land AR RIET 7 KLTRL
and buildings 5% 29,243 19,887
Impairment of prepayment of land use rights T b R AETE N RUER(E = 21,600
Professional fee EE 3 10,511 8,743
Travelling expenses PR ERE 15,424 11,030
Exchange loss M 5 8518 10,448 1,469
Other expenses HAhE A 25,150 43,470
Total cost of revenue, selling and marketing HEKK « SHERTISHE
expenses and administrative expenses B A RITIRE A 892,613 782,407
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

33 BERAMAX

2015 2014
—E-RfF —F-MmEF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® T AREET T

Wages and salaries TERYS 230,542 173,512
Retirement benefits costs (a) RIKIEFIBK AN (a) 40,626 20,596
Share based compensation ARG S A5 2 718
— share option scheme — BB E T 2 13,236 17,441
Share based compensation ARG S+ 2 # 18
- share award scheme R 15,995 12,471
300,399 224,020

The employee benefits expenses amounting to RMB1,766,000 (2014:
RMB2,523,000), RMB114,868,000 (2014: RMB94,024,000) and
RMB183,765,000 (2014: RMB127,473,000) are recognised in cost of
revenue, administrative expenses and selling and marketing expenses,
respectively in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(@) In accordance with the PRC regulations, the Group is required to
make annual contributions to the state retirement plans calculated
at 20% of the basic salaries of the employees, and employees are
required to contribute 8% of their basic salaries to the plans. The
Group has no obligations for further pension payments or any
post-retirement benefits beyond these annual contributions. The
retirement benefits are paid directly from the plan assets to the
retired employees and are calculated by reference to their monthly
basic salaries at the date of retirement and periods of service
rendered.

As at 31st December 2015, there were no forfeited contributions
available to offset future retirement benefit obligations of the
Group.

EEBRAMAZABH AR 1,766,000 (=
T —pF : AR#2523007T) « AR
#114,868000 L (=T — M F : AR
94,024,000t ) & A R #183,765,0007t (==
—PO4E © AR¥127,473,00070) 2 BT AL O
REWRERMEERAN - TTRERUREE R
MISHEER -

(Q) BETERY  FEMSEARESR
A& £20%MEREARBIHT - EE
AIEMZSHBEHERARH £8% 2
® o BREEEMRRIN - AEEBERE
HARR SRR INEEF o BIK
BRRZEHEEETEEYN FRIKE
B WREHNRKBHZEXAFRIE
RS 2 RS E o

RZZE-—RF+ZA=1+—8  HERK
WA AR EHEAEE B RRKREMNE
e
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 33 EEEAMX®
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) ENEEHFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the FAREE  AfumkaHFATEERSE
Group for the year include two (2014: three) directors whose (Z2—mF: =R)FF  EF M2
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented above. The R EXF25 2 AT RE - RERBR
emoluments paid and payable to the three (2014: two) individuals REMTZ=%(ZF—0OF : MEB)ALT
during the year are as follows: ZHemT

2015 2014
—ZT—hE —E—pUFE

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, share EXEe  BFEERY -
options, other allowances and benefits BEARRE  Eofih)2BA K
in kind EMFz= 3,572 1,793
Retirement plan contributions RRET IR 90 45
3,662 1,838
The emoluments for these three individuals (2014: two) fell within Z=R(ZZT—NF : MB)AL e
the following bands: BT

Number of individuals

AE
2015
—EBE-RfF
Nil to HKD1,000,000 Z%1,000,000% 70 1 -
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7L Z2,000,000/ 7T = -
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001/87C£2,500,0007% 7T 1 -
(c) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group () R FAEEVERESES MR AL
to the directors or the five highest paid individuals mentioned RERHFATENERMBMS - ERIMAK
above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as RINAREE R 2 BB EEBwEE (=T
compensation for loss of office (2014: Nil). —PO4F : &) -

2 08 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Congolidated Financial Statements
SHIFRERMITE

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK
LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2014: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2014: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31st December 2015, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2014: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors
During the year ended 31st December 2015, there is no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the
directors, or controlled body corporates and connected entities of
such directors (2014: Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2014: Nil).

N,

3 EETFARER(REFTELQT
%5 (56622 ) £3831% & A A
(BHEBEEENZER)RH (5
622GE)REBLTRAREE
HZBE) @)

(b) EZRMKER
FR - BB EE RIS IR AR
BA(—F—mF ) -

() EBRLERER
FR BEEE IR IR A AR L
ERAERI( =T —P0F : @) -

(d) REELESHREAE=FRHH
RE
BE_F-RF+-A=t—ALEE
AR R BRI EE RIS EEATE=S
FRARE(ZE—mE &) -

(e) FREANESE  FEENEABERR
ZEESNHEBERRZEAN
BEX - BEERRHMRZNWER
BE-—T-AE+=A=+—RALEE
BEEMNEEAT R EABRRLS
EFNEHERATHANER  EEK
REMRXFRH(—T—WF : &) -

() EERRG RERENHTNE
K
AR R B EER TSI AR R AR T
WA RARTEEERRMEESEXE
BT 8 S RS R A 7 A0 B
AR5 ZHFAN(ZZ—0F &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

35 FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET 35 BiFE(EAR), WA FEE

2015 2014
—E—FF —F—mF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Interest expense: FEZH
- Bank borrowings —RITEE (16,400) (5,626)
— Other borrowings —HiEE (1,530) (5,690)
— Issued convertible bonds (Note 28) — BTk ES(F5E28) (42,805) (3,960)
— Finance lease liabilities —REHEAE (253) (341)
Finance cost B & AR A (60,988) (15,617)
Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying assets W ABREBEZERN R 13,186 10,666
Total finance cost B TP AN 4R 5E (47,802) (4,951)
Finance income BHUWA
Interest income: FIBWA -
— Short-term bank deposits — R HRITIER 25,748 30,095
— Other loan receivables from an associate —RkEBEALY
HAib(EE EIRGRIE 2,586 -
— Other loan receivables from a joint venture —REEEREZ
Hih B ErIE 3,880 156
— Others —HAth 11,162 1,528
Finance income B A 43,376 31,779
Net finance (cost)/income B (RAR), WA R4 (4,426) 26,828

RERNO20MEXRERLDERIBR ZERZ
MIBRACRERIRERNCERT 46%(=F—M
F759% ) RERTYERBENEPERE

Finance costs of the loans used to finance the 020 business exhibition
centre development projects have been capitalised in properties under
development and investment properties, at a capitalisation rate of 7.46%

during the year (2014: 7.59%). PN

36 FriSBiBIx

36 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2015 2014
—E-RF —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT
Current income tax expense & EIFTS
— Hong Kong profits tax (Note a) — BB (HzEa) = -
— The PRC Corporate income tax (“CIT") (Note b) — (> FT5H
(TEZPER D (MisEh) 26,758 40,394
Deferred income tax credit (Note 29) RIEFTSTIE R
(P¥5E29) (16,490) (2,567)
10,268 37,827

2 1 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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B TS ERR MR

36 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(@ No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there is no
assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the year (2014: Nil).

(b) The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged on
assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in
the cities in the PRC in which the Group operates.

The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%,
except for certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC that were
approved as High and New Technology Enterprise, and accordingly,
they were subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% for a
3-year period from 2015 to 2018 according to the applicable CIT
Law.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation
rate of the home country of the Group companies as follows:

36 FriSBiBx)
(@ ERE P ERESE S ERBORF -
AR B BB FER LB E (=2
) -

(b) FEICEMSERENANFZRASERS
BT PR S T ER 1T A R BE B SR
M2 BA

RHBEZ B ARERRER25% @ 1
BHEERSFTRMERZETAKE
ZH BB RR ARSI - BRBERS
BE - BEiR15% 2 RIRBEELESH
MEHHHABE A_T-—AFE_F
—N\FHREF=F -

AR BB B R AR A TS BRI AT ) 2 A B
RAAEERBMERR 2 HEAEREIER
BERERNT

2015 2014
—E-RE —T—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Profit before income tax K B8 % /il 7 33,326 221,088
Tax calculated at 25% (2014: 25%) 25% K E 2 FiIA
(ZZF—PF : 25%) 8,332 55,272
Effect of different taxation rates in other cities/ EMmE AT mHRE
under preferential tax treatment RIEEBBHREZZE (18,125) (22,369)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A% 2 B A 20,061 4,924
Income tax expense FiiSfif > 10,268 37,827

37 EARNINGS PER SHARE

37 BREF

2015 2014
—E2-HF —ZE—OF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AEBTT

Profit attributable to equity holders RARE=TB ARG
of the Company

)
52,552 187,633

sm@aRaa - 05555 )13
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38

AR RaR It

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

37

BREF @)

2015 2014

—E—FF —HE

No. of shares No. of shares

BB E &1 EE

(‘000) (*000)

(FB) (F%)

Weighted average number of shares in issue BBITIRG 2 ETFEEE 755,356 662,209
Incremental shares from assumed exercise of BRERATEE R LB E M

share options granted b1 ) 18,583 25,376

Diluted weighted average number of shares EEE IR 2R 773,939 687,585

Basic earnings per share (in RMB) FIREREBFI(ARE) 0.0696 0.2833

Diluted earnings per share (in RMB) FREEAN(ARE) 0.0679 0.2729

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The company has two categories
of dilutive potential ordinary shares: convertible debt and share options.
The convertible debt is assumed to have been converted into ordinary
shares, and the net profit is adjusted to eliminate the interest expense
less the tax effect. For the share options, the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options
less the number of shares that could have been issued at fair value
(determined as the average market price per share for the year) for the
same total proceeds is the number of shares issued for no consideration.
Since diluted earnings per share is increased when taking into account
the convertible bond, the convertible bond is anti-dilutive and is ignored
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during the year (2014:
Nil).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there was no arrangement
under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends
during the years ended 31st December 2015 and 31st December 2014,
respectively.

2 1 4 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

39 REEKELE 2RSS

() REABRRELEBELEZR
TFEYR

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash
generated from operating activities

2015 2014
—E-hF —T—mE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Profit before income tax R PRS A R A 33,326 221,088
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1%¥  BEMREZITE
(Note 9) (BF7£9) 29,615 29,886
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 10) R R ERE (I EE10) 24,189 1,498
Provision for impairment of trade receivables FEURBR TR 2 R B
(Note 11) (B=E11) 8,212 5,390
Provision for impairment of prepayment of THF AR IR
land use right BB = 21,600
Amortisation of land use rights b PR §A 428 428
Share based compensation — value of ARt Sz HE—EE
employee services (Note 33) B (B & (PHEE33) 29,231 29,912
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BENMEREZ
and equipment (Note b) 518, (Uezs) (FisEb) 185 (86)
Finance income (Note 35) B FEU A (FF3E35) (43,376) (31,779
Finance expense (Note 35) B2 H (B 7E35) 47,802 4,951
Share of profit from investments accounted Db EARZIEE
for using equity method (Notes 13) e (FEE13) (9,853) (324)
Operating profit before working BEECEPH o LE
capital changes gl 119,759 282,564
Changes in working capital: EiEEeY
Additions of properties under development INBERERYE (311,268) (151,147)
Changes in trade receivables FEU AR A &) (15,016) (13,739)
Changes in deposits, prepayments %o - BAFEREM
and other receivables PERIE & (37,349) (24,211)
Changes in amount due e — el A & RIRIA
from a related company b= = 1,622
Changes in financial assets at fair value RATEFABRZ
through profit or loss TREEZD 1,500 -
Changes in finance lease receivables e E W R AR E) (92,846) -
Changes in inventories FE# (2,553) 674
Changes in direct selling costs HEHEXAES) 8,430 22,607
Changes in trade payables JERTRR N B (821) (3,386)
Changes in accrued expenses and other FEETE R E A T 508
payables i 43,800 2,456
Changes in deferred revenue RIEY A (104,593) (130,987)
Changes in receipt in advance TEUGRIE S &) 622,571 519,532
Changes in other tax payable Hihpestiag 3,993 (2,454)
Net cash generated from operations KR EBEE 2R TR 235,607 503,531

gmasmam-0isrEn )15
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39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment comprise:

9 REXBELEZRE (2

(b) HEMX  BERREZHE
MR
EAHASRERA  HEWE  BER
B2 TSR

2015 2014
—E-HF

—T—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT

Net book amount: BRTEDFE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9)

mE - BB KRB HE9) 2,380 734
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plantand & - HE &%

equipment (Note 32) (E518),Was( (185) 86
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BE KR
plant and equipment FriS 5038 2,195 820
40 COMMITMENTS 40 I
(a) Capital commitments (a) EXREIE

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not
yet incurred is as follows:

R KD AT B MR 2 & AESE
T

2015 2014

ot —E—E

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETTT

Property, plant and equipment W - BERERE 1,500 594
Investment properties and properties under B MERFAEPYE

development 47,292 88,291

48,792 88,885

(b) Financial commitments
Financial commitments at the end of the year are analysed as

(b) MHEAEIRE

MAREERZBEAEDITAT

follows:

2015 2014
—2-1F —F-OmF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note i) o B — R 7 & (B D) 58,711 -

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial asset U8 a] fit H & 4 &t & & (i)
(Note ii) 325,985 -

Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures REMRBA BERAIR

and associates i Tl/N 7 156,028 154,000
540,724 154,000

2 1 6 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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BT HRRAE

40 COMMITMENTS (c

ontinued)

(b) Financial commitments (Continued)

(i)

Acquisition of a subsidiary — Zhongfu Holdings Limited

On 3rd July 2015, the Group has entered into a letter of
intent, in which the Group has intended to enter into a share
purchase agreement with FT/NBEEL AR AR (Hang
Zhou Sai Dian Technology Company Limited*), /Tﬁ/I/:.LEU
KA BR /AT (Zhejiang Hao Yuan Chuang Ye Investment
Company Limited*), Mr. Chen Xue Jun, Mr. He Shun Sheng
and Mr. Cao Guo Xiong, to acquire approximately 80.38% of
the equity interest of #TH ARALEEI AR AR (Zhe Jiang
Zhong Fu Interest Technology Company Limited*), a company
incorporated in the PRC.

On 18th December 2015, Daxiong Holdings Limited, Hanson
He Holdings Limited, Richard Chen Holdings Limited, Grand
Novel Developments Limited (&#13E G R A7) and Mr
Moustache Holdings Limited (collectively, the "Sellers”),
the Company, and Mr. Cao Guoxiong (& EgE), Mr. He
Shunsheng (fa]IEAE), Mr. Chen Xuejun (BREE), Mr. Guan
Jianzhong (B #4), and Mr. Liao Bin () (collectively,
the “Seller Guarantors”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Sellers has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Company has conditionally agreed to
acquire the entire issued share capital of ZhongFu Holdings
Limited, which in turn held 80.38% of the equity interest of
Zhe Jiang Zhong Fu Interest Technology Company Limited, for
an aggregate consideration of HK$170,807,500. Pursuant to
the sale and purchase agreement, part of the consideration
shall be settled in cash amounting HK$70,095,000 and
the remaining shall be paid by issuance and allotment of
the convertible bonds which are subject to downward
adjustments stipulated in the sale and purchase agreement to
each of the Sellers.

The completion of the transactions contemplated under the
sale & purchase agreement took place on 8th January 2016 in
accordance with the terms of the sale & purchase agreement.

The acquiree is principally engaged in the provision of
vertical websites in the garment industry in the PRC. It
holds certain assets related to the operation of the websites
under the key domain names: www.efu.com.cn (4 B A2
), www.yifu.net (ZR), www.51fashion.com.cn (FF 14 &
), www.5143.cn (BREEINER48), www.nynet.com.cn (H
EAK4) and www.kidsnet.cn (EE NEH), which are
internet portals mainly providing information on fashion
brands, finished garment products (such as men’s wear,
women’s wear, children’s wear, underwear, shoes, leather
goods, down jackets and others), fabrics, ancillary materials
(such as buttons, zippers), textile equipment (such as sewing
machines, cutting machines, stitching machines, printing
machines, automated systems) to business users (such as
manufacturers, wholesalers, traders, department stores,
shopping malls) in the garment industry.

* English name are translated for identification purpose only

40 EiE@)

(b) BRI (@)

()

Y B It} /8 2 7] — Zhongfu Holdings

Limited

RZZE—AF+tHA=0 ' A5EE
FIMERE - Flﬂ: Zli‘ﬁl%iiﬁif
)H%Eﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ AR A
XEBEBRA Eﬁmﬁ%i fa]
J\Iﬁif‘ﬁi&ﬁ BESEART RN
B - DMSZE%J)T/IQJHWH%M%Z
BRA R (AR BRFEMAZ AR
#780.38% 5 HE ©

RZZTE—H"AE+=-_A+NAHBH"
Daxiong Holdings Limited - Hanson
He Holdings Limited * Richard Chen
Holdings Limited * & ¥ BB R A
A &Mr Moustache Holdings Limited
(%fﬁ%&if%ﬁj)éﬁiﬁi’&ﬂﬁgﬁﬁ
A B AE - BREF LA
@,T\%E&}iﬁf‘ﬁi(,ﬁmf/\ﬁﬁ
WRADILEEWZ - &t
FEA Iﬂ#ﬂ,uﬁj%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁaﬁa
A {51 A = W B ZhongFu Holdings
Limited 2 B0 2 81T A - B (E
4 170,807,500 & JT - ZhongFu
Holdings Limited £ 5 # Ak 80.38%
ZHiE - RBEEERZE  BER
70,095,000 7T 2 #8 5 (B AR
TEN  BRTREEBEETRE
BARRE S 2 FNER - AR
BEAFNBRH AR EET AT ©

B E il E THE (T 2% SR =T
—<E—AN\BREEE 32 G
HEER -

WREFETERPRERKEREH
EEMAM  HEBEEHKETE
I8 2 vk www.efu.com.cn (1 [
£8/) - wwwyifunet(ZR) -
www.51fashion.com.cn ( B & £
A~ www.5143.cn ( AR 2 0 82
#44) - www.nynet.com.cn (B AT
#9) Bwww kidsnet.cn (B N 8348)
ZHETEE ZEMBATERE
KEZEFBR(INEER - #E3
BmoAX BEAE - BmiE)RH
BRERERE - &INKKER (M
BLREN - ZLARED - TERE -
NIKHE - 8 - FERG - PHRE

i) ~ #hfkan - BCOFATRL(AnAF0
TISR) ~ MRS (AR AN - 2T

# - SEH - EIRIE - BEMERER)
BFtz BRHEPI P8 -
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40 COMMITMENTS (continued)

40 A

(b) PAEEAMEE)
(ii) WAB T B2 BB — AR

(b) Financial commitments (Continued)
(ii) Acquisition of available-for-sale financial asset -

Hohhot Jingu

On 7th December 2015, HC Internet Information Technology
Company Limited (“HC Internet”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group (“the Subscriber”), entered into the
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
with A HFAER & ARNEERITRMBR AT (nner
Mongolia Hohhot Jingu Rural Commercial Bank Limited
Company*) (“Hohhot Jingu”), pursuant to which HC Internet
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 108,661,533 of
Hohhot Jingu (subject to adjustment under the terms of
the Subscription Agreement) (the “Subscription Share(s)”)
of Hohhot Jingu (subject to adjustment under the terms of
the Subscription Agreement) (the “Subscription Share”) at
the subscription price of RMB3 per Subscription Share. The
consideration for the said subscription is RMB325,984,599
(subject to adjustment under the terms of the Subscription
Agreement), which shall be settled by HC Internet in cash.

Assuming there is no adjustment of the subscription plan,
the Subscription Shares represent approximately 13.94%
of the existing issued share capital of Hohhot Jingu and
approximately 8.49% of Hohhot Jingu’s entire issued share
capital as enlarged by the capital increase. Assuming there
is no Adjustment, upon completion of the Subscription,
the Subscriber will, together with the 19,300,000 shares
of Hohhot Jingu acquired by it through the Acquisition,
own 127,961,533 shares of Hohhot Jingu, representing
approximately 10.00% of Hohhot Jingu’s entire issued share
capital as enlarged by the Capital Increase.

Upon completion of the further acquisition, the investment
will be recorded as available-for-sale asset measured at fair

value under non-current assets.

As at the date of this report, the subscription has not yet
been completed.

* English name are translated for identification purpose only

2 1 8 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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40 COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Commitments under operating leases
At 31st December 2015, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of buildings which expire as follows:

40 AEw)

() REBNEAE
R-E—RF+-_A=+—08  K&£EHH
BF 2 BRI BT A REE S AL AR R
Z &R EFRBREELNT

2015 2014
—E-RE —T—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Within one year —FR 25,624 13,132
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEENF(BREEEME) 35,849 14,991
Over the fifth year FRFUE 5,326 =

66,799 28,123

41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st December 2015, there were no material contingent liabilities
to the Group (2014: Nil).

42 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of the
Group's property units and provided guarantees to secure obligations of
such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon the
earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will
generally be available within an average period of two to three years
upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii) the satisfaction of
mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest and
penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group
is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the related
properties. The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the mortgages. As at 31 December 2015, the amount of outstanding
guarantees for mortgages were approximately RMB461,066,000 (2014:
RMB323,209,000).

The directors consider that the likelihood of default in payments by
purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial guarantees measured
at fair value is immaterial.

41 &I\\\ﬁ%
R-F-BF+-A=+—0 AEEHEE
KA BE( T : 1) -

42 BEERE
AEERETAKREMEEME TERLHR
TRE  YHRHERMERZZERES
IR o ZEERPVUTREEBFHERLL ()
RERBEREBLHEL -RENFH _E=F
HHRSZFER @ K)MEERENRIBE

5
N

IBBERIES - MEZEEEIRBER - K
EHABRERIER ZRBEFARESFE
MENBRERBITZE N MAEEHEE
ENBEBRBYE A EERE - NEBZER
FHEHZEERERRES R_ZT—HF
+ZA=+—H " BEBZAEEERSBEOAR
AR 461,066,000 (=T —F : AR
323,209,0007T) °

ARBEERREFTERITRZATEERIE - &R
MBERZ AFELTEK -
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43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 43 ZAAQTZHBR AR R EEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

LN Pd b 20 9k

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2015 2014
—E-RE —T—mEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREF T
ASSETS &
Non-current asset FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBRRIZIRE 1,308,553 1,956
1,308,553 1,956
Current assets RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary ERT—HEHBAR 885,660 1,151,769
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEY = 5
885,660 1,151,774
Total assets WmEE 2,194,213 1,153,730
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves ERK #E
Share capital A 85,090 66,465
Other reserves Hib#E (@) 1,688,035 639,232
Accumulated losses ZiTEE @) (179,610) (106,516)
Total equity oY 1,593,515 599,181
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liability FREBEE
Issued convertible bond - liability component BETARRES - 8EHS 600,225 553,956
600,225 553,956

2 2 O HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 43 AATZHBRREREEST

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (1)

(Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company RN R Z B HARR T ()
(Continued)

As at 31 December

W+=A=+—-A8
2015 2014
—E-5F it
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFR ARET T
Current liability REEE
Accrued expenses and other payables e B R R E A ER A 473 593
Total liabilities BafE 600,698 554,549
Total equity and liabilities HERRER 2,194,213 1,153,730
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 MBHRRN T R"E-A=THEEEGH
March 2016 and were signed on its behalf. HIWHATHEERREEGEE -
GUO lJiang LEE Wee Ong
Director Director
2T LEE Wee Ong
E EF
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43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 43 AATZHBRRERBEST
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)

(Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

(a) RATRZHEED

Accumulated

losses  Other reserves
-y i Hitf#E
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT ARBTFT

At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—WF—A—H (75,133) 582,910

Loss for the year REFEE (31,383) -
Share based compensation R S 2 HE

— value of employee services —(EERRBEE - 29,912

Convertible bond — equity component AMRES —EmH D - 50,858

Exercise of share options 1T AR I = 6,353

Currency translation differences EHEN R - 47

Shares purchased for share award scheme fi& 17 S2ENEHEI B ARk 1D - (30,848)
At 31 December 2014 H-=E—mE+=-A=+—H (106,516) 639,232

Loss for the year RNEEEE (73,094) -
Issuance of new shares BATHAR D - 1,063,819
Share based compensation VAR 245 2 18

— value of employee services —(EERBERE - 29,231

Exercise of share options TR B AR - 1,951

Currency translation differences ERERER - (46,198)
At 31 December 2015 HN-E—FH&E+=-HA=+—H (179,610) 1,688,035

2 2 2 HC International, Inc - Annual Report 2015
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44 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Apart from the transactions already disclosed in other notes in these
financial statements, the Group has the following significant transactions
that were carried out with related parties:

(a) Sales of services

Sales of services
- R EHERERFZRNERAR

-t REBRERESHERNERAT

SHE RS
(technology services) (i)

(be granted the right to use the domain
names and trademark) (ii)

Ko 713 ) i)

— It REBEERES
BRA R (BT AR ) () - 158
— b REBEEREEER

BRAR (EREERS

44 BEEALIRS
BREZERBERE MM EDREY XS
b+ AEEBEBEEA ET Y EAR ST

(a) SHEMRH

2015
—E-RE

2014
—Z—F
RMB’'000
AREETIT

RMB’000
ARET T

o

= 180

- 338

U]

IRERERELSFEMARLQF ("HC Construction”),
a company owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng, the
Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director of the
Company and as to 50% by Mr. Guo Jiang, an Executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company,
entered into a three-year Technology Services Agreement
with the Group in 2002, and on 31st December 2004,
the parties entered into a supplemental agreement which
extended the term of the Technology Services Agreement to
31st December 2007 and on 30th December 2007, 2009,
2011, and 15th September 2014, the parties entered into
another supplemental agreement which extended the term of
the Technology Services Agreement to 31st December 2009,
2011, 2014 and 15th September 2017 respectively.

Pursuant to the Technology Service Agreement (as
supplement), the Group received technical service income
from HC Construction based on the working hours devoted
to the service and support.

(i) EREREREELERNEGRAA
([BHEEZDBARAEZEESER
FRITERI A AEREREDEH
TESRITRAHIDTEED BIE
B50%EZH - R-_TT_F - &%
ARMAEERT LM =FHR
T RIS e - R_ZTTWF+ = A
=+—8 - €Hi xR S
RITREHECHE_ZZ+F
+ZA=+—8B mMRZ=ZZTZTt
FCZETNEFR_T——F T
A=+HUR=Z—NMFAA+H
B EHBIYS O
BRMRE R ES IEHE_ZF
NF - ZT——FR-ZFT—NF
+—B=+—BUR=_ZT—t&EAh
A+EA-

RIS AR 2 (R HH7E) - A%

BRI HR GRS IEZ THAZ
PR ER MR B AT RIS A
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44 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Sales of services (Continued)

(i)  HC Construction entered into a three-year Domain Names
and Trademark Licence Agreement with the Group in 2002,
and on 31st December 2004, the parties entered into a
supplemental agreement which extended the term of the
Domain Names and trademark Licence Agreement to 31st
December 2007 and on 30th December 2007, 2009, 2011,
and 15th September 2014, the parties entered into another
supplemental agreement which extended the term of the
Domain Names and Trademark Licence to 31st December
2009, 2011, 2014 and 15th September 2017 respectively.

Pursuant to the Domain Names and Trademark Licence
Agreement (as supplemented), HC Construction was granted
the right to use the domain names and trademark owned
or attained by the Group during the agreement period for a
fixed fee.

Since 15th September 2014, the financial condition and
results of operation of HC Construction are consolidated into
the Group, the transactions with HC Construction are no
longer related party transactions of the Group.

(b) Purchases of services

Purchases of services: BB AR -
- kR ERERERFERNERAR

(online information distribution services) (i)

—IEREBRERES

BRDA (4R LEMEM

44 BEEA LR B @)

(a) SHER®®)

iy NZTE-F BRESEAEE
RIS — 1 = FHAIE B K PAE E Al 17
FoRZEEMEL=—A=+—
A E€rilymnhz  BEERk
BZFAECHE—_TT+F
+=ZA=+—H8 MR=ZZTZT+t
F ZETNFRZT——F =
A=tRANME-_ZE—mMELA+EH
A EHBIs i
15 E kB A HES BIEBRE
ZEENEF  ZE——FRZT
—AF+ZA=+—HBUKZ=F
—+tFhA+HAB -

R I 2 R R A A (A
7)) BIEERIZETEREREL
195 = H P 50 P S 5 B T 8 S
2B KR

B-E-MmFEAATHA  BRZ
RN MG ERBAZEFTA
AEE MAZBERZZXH5TH
BAREEBEBALRS -

(b) BERHK

2015
—g-mF

2014
—T—mF

RMB’000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBT R

=

ARTE)() - 180
-t REREREBEAERAR — b REBER(E BT
(online advertisement publication BRAR(FLEESTE
services) (ii) R4 ) i) - 75
- 255
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44 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Purchases of services (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

HC Construction entered into a three-year Online Information
Distribution Agreement with the Group in 2002, and on 31st
December 2004, 2007, 2009, 2011, and 15th September
2014, the parties entered into a supplemental agreement
which extended the term of the Online Information
Distribution Agreement to 31st December 2007, 2009, 2011,
2014 and 15th September 2017 respectively.

Pursuant to the Online Information Distribution Agreement (as
supplement), HC Construction received distribution income
from the Group at a fixed rate per annum. It disseminated
the Group’s business information and research reports on its
web-site and on those as stipulated by the Group.

HC Construction entered into a three-year Online
Advertisement Publication Agreement with the Group in
2002, and on 31st December 2004, 2007, 2009, 2011, and
15th September 2014, the parties entered into supplemental
agreements which extended the term of Online Advertisement
Publication Agreement to 31st December 2007, 2009, 2011,
2014 and 15th September 2017 respectively.

Pursuant to the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement
(as supplement), HC Construction received publication income
from the Group at a fixed fee. It published the Group's
advertisements on its website and on those as stipulated by
the Group.

Since 15th September 2014, the financial condition and
results of operation of HC Construction are consolidated in to
that of the Group, the transactions with HC Construction are
no longer related party transactions of the Group.
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44 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Key management compensation

44 BEEA LR B @)
() TEEEAEHBEN

2015 2014
—E-hF T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® T AR¥ET T

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits %4 & E 145 2l 487 5,960 5,262
Share-based payments VARG (7 BT 2 3R 7,277 9,667
13,237 14,929

45 EVENT AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Issuance of zero coupon convertible bond

On 9th December 2015, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement with agreement with Mr. Guo Jiang (the
chief executive officer of the Company and an executive Director),
Mr. Lee Wee Ong (an executive Director and chief financial officer
of the Company), Mr. Liu Jun (a director of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Mr. Liu Xiaodong (a shareholder of
the Company (“Shareholder”) and a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company) (collectively, the “Subscribers”), pursuant to
which the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for
and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue the convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of HK$500,000,000
to be issued by the Company under the specific mandate of the
Company.

The specific mandate was duly passed by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 1st
February 2016.

As at the date of this report, the transaction has not yet been
completed.
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45 EVENT AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT OF 45 iRk BE&ZEH )
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) WEUHHESHMEE - LigH

(b) Acquisition of available for sales financial asset -

Shanghai Ganyin

On 15th January 2016, dt REIRF AR AR A a (Beijing
Huicong Zaichuang Technology Co., Ltd*) (“Zaichuang
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Subscriber”), entered into the Subscription
Agreement with FEHIREFEFRM AR A A (Shanghai
Gangyin E-Commerce Co., Ltd*) (“Shanghai Gangyin”), pursuant
to which the Zaichuang Technology has agreed to subscribe for
22,000,000 shares of RMB1 each in the share capital of Shanghai
Gangyin at the subscription price of RMB4.5 per subscription share
at a consideration of RMB99,000,000 to be settled in cash. The
investment from the Group represents 2.85% of the issued shares
of Jingu at the acquisition date.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the financial result will be
recorded as available-for-sale asset measured as fair value under
non-current assets.

Shanghai Gangyin is principally engaged in the provision of
e-commerce services for the trade of iron and steel commodities.
Through operating a third party platform, $§$2 ¥ & (Gangyin
Platform*) (www.banksteel.com), Shanghai Gangyin provides
upstream and downstream enterprises in the iron and steel industry
with a package solution to e-commerce.
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45 EVENT AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(c) Possible transaction with Shanghai Ganglian

E-Commerce Holdings Co., Ltd

The Company is in preliminary discussion with /550 E 75
RZ D B PR 28] (Shanghai Ganglian E-Commerce Holdings Co.,
Ltd *) (“Shanghai Ganglian”) in relation to a possible transaction
which may involve disposal of the entire equity interest in 1t %1
TSR E R AR (Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology Company
Limited*), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to achieve
the purpose of disposing certain assets of the Group which own
and operate the domain names www.zol.com.cn (FF B 7ZE4R) and
www.zol.com (FF BT E3,) by the Group to Shanghai Ganglian,
in exchange for cash and/or certain equity interest in Shanghai
Ganglian (the “Possible Transaction”). Shanghai Ganglian is a
company established under the laws of the People’s Republic
of China, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300226).

As at the date of this report, no binding material term concerning
the Possible Transaction has been agreed and the Company has
not entered into any definitive agreement in relation to the Possible
Transaction.

* English name are translated for identification purpose only
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